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For 155 years, the Siemens name has been synonymous with cutting-

edge technologies and continuous growth in profitability. With our wide array

of products, systems and services, we are world leaders in information and

communications, automation and control, power, medical solutions, trans-

portation and lighting. Sustainable success is our number one priority. Our

activities focus on meeting the needs of our customers and creating value for

our shareholders and employees. Our innovations – generated in our own lab-

oratories and in cooperation with customers, business partners and universi-

ties – are our greatest strength. Siemens’ global network of innovation is

developing new products and services for a world that – while limited in

resources – is boundless in possibilities.
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financial highlights

(in millions of euros) 2002(1) 2001(1) 2000(1)

New orders 86,214 92,528 83,426

Net sales 84,016 87,000 77,484

Net income 2,597 2,088 8,860

Net cash provided by operating activities 5,564 7,016 6,154

Net cash used in investing activities (810) (5,886) (435)

Research and development expenses 5,819 6,782 5,848

Shareholders’ equity (September 30) 23,521 23,812 28,480

Employees (September 30, in thousands) 426 484 448

CORPORATE

RESPONSIBILITY

FINANCIAL

INTEGRITY

(1) Fiscal year (October 1 – September 30)



   

At Siemens, we view innovation as

the key to entrepreneurial success. That‘s

why rigorous innovation management is

a top priority for us. Every year, we invest

approximately €5.8 billion in research and

development. We generate more than 30

inventions a day and – in close cooperation

with our customers – transform them into

new products, systems and solutions.

To sustain this level of achievement,

we’re continually optimizing our business

processes. That’s where our top+ Business

Excellence Program comes in. Benchmark-

ing, asset management, quality manage-

ment and professional project management

are the Program’s key tools.

To ensure that our businesses are world

market leaders, we reevaluate our portfolio

at regular intervals. The breadth of our

portfolio will continue to safeguard the

Company’s stability in the future.

You can’t be a star performer without

world-class employees. At Siemens, we

invest roughly €500 million each year in

expanding the competencies of our work-

force – to the benefit of our customers and

our shareholders.

Business excellence
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Global presence
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We provide innovative products and

services in 190 countries around the world.

More than 400,000 Siemens employees –

two-thirds of them outside Germany –

are linked in a global knowledge network.

These individuals cooperate in an atmos-

phere of openness, tolerance and mutual

respect, exchanging know-how and sharing

experience to the benefit of our customers

around the globe. In many countries we’ve

been active for more than a century, main-

taining development labs, production facili-

ties and engineering offices. Purchasing

goods and services locally, we’re an integral

part of those countries’ economies. Nearly

one-fifth of our employees work in emerg-

ing countries where their efforts are help-

ing improve local infrastructures. The

diversity of our workforce is an advantage

for our customers as well as for ourselves.
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Financial integrity

We have a reputation for conservative

accounting practices and sound financial

management. This approach – combined

with our highly transparent financial

reporting – has enabled us to earn and

maintain the trust of the financial markets,

our business partners and the general

public. We at Siemens are fully committed

to implementing the highest standards

of corporate governance.
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Corporate responsibility
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Our aim is to be a good corporate citi-

zen – an enterprise whose actions are

guided by a keen awareness of corporate

responsibility and environmental considera-

tions. We play an active role in the social

and cultural arenas, supporting initiatives

and organizations that share our values.

We contribute to the development of

emerging countries by training young peo-

ple at all our major locations worldwide.

Technology transfer is a part of our rich

tradition of good corporate citizenship. 
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Dear shareholder
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We are living in a time of extraordinary uncertainty. Confidence in

the capabilities and integrity of once-respected institutions has crumbled.

Restoring trust is now at the top of the agenda. We at Siemens feel that

recent events have validated our traditional approach. Refusing to be

drawn into the excesses of the New Economy, we have kept an unwavering

focus on substance. And we have remained true to our principles of con-

servative accounting and sound financial management. These principles

aim to provide the greatest transparency possible and to ensure our long-

term business success. 

We welcome the current discussion in the media and in public policy

arenas on strenghtening corporate management and oversight systems.

Corporate governance is a vital concern for us. We have given careful con-

sideration to the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance

Code and the corresponding regulations in the U.S. and Europe. Siemens’

corporate governance system is described in detail on pages 32 to 37 of

this Report.

Despite dramatic structural crises in key sectors and a difficult and

unstable macroeconomic environment, Siemens’ overall results in fiscal

2002 were generally satisfactory. Net income totaled €2.6 billion. EBIT

from operations amounted to €2.5 billion. And – what is particularly

important for us – total net cash provided by operating activities, less net

cash used in investing activities, was €4.8 billion. These figures show a

considerable improvement over last year. And, although a difficult year

for equity markets has not left the Siemens share unscathed, we have been

less affected than many other companies. For fiscal 2002, we will again

propose a dividend of €1.00 per share.
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There are several reasons why we are mastering today’s challenges

better than many of our competitors. We boast an extensive and generally

robust business portfolio. We do not permit our operating units to neglect

innovation management, even when the going gets tough. As a global

network of innovation active in 190 countries, we are profiting from

favorable developments in growth regions all around the world. Positive

ratings by the financial markets underscore the soundness of our balance

sheet. And as part of our top+ initiative, we have introduced management

systems that give our people the tools they need to further optimize busi-

ness excellence.

We benefit from the fact that many of our activities are subject to long-

term market cycles. This applies, for example, to power plant systems,

power transmission and distribution, medical solutions and rail systems.

In all these sectors, we have captured strong positions in recent years and,

thanks to innovative products and efficient processes, increased our earn-

ings margins. We anticipated that conditions in the power plant sector

would normalize at the end of the gas turbine boom in the U.S. and took

the necessary measures to ensure continued high earnings.  

Other Company activities depend on regular industry-specific busi-

ness cycles. Two good examples are our automation and drives business

and Osram’s lighting business. Both have developed reliable early-warn-

ing systems and, thanks to flexible production structures, are well-

equipped to weather dry spells.

One exception in the Automation and Control area is our Industrial

Solutions and Services Group. This Group faces difficulties resulting not

only from the general economic downturn but also from structural prob-

lems in Germany and several other regions. Small-to-midsized technical

service companies increasingly dominate the market for low-tech indus-

trial solutions. With our current setup, we cannot compete with these 

low-cost operations over the long term. However, we are taking the steps

required to provide Industrial Solutions and Services with a solid basis

for future success.

“There are several reasons
why we are mastering
today’s challenges better
than many of our com-
petitors.”
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The challenges now confronting our Information and Communica-

tions businesses and the activities that are indirectly dependent on them

are even greater. Following a period of overheating, our largest customer

group in this sector – telecom operators – is now struggling. Major invest-

ments in new technologies, UMTS licenses and the globalization of their

activities have put enormous strains on these companies. Consequently,

they have now reduced their investment budgets dramatically. As a suppli-

er, we have borne the full brunt of this reduction in capital spending.

Our telecom customers are experiencing a paradigm shift. In past

years, investments were technology-driven. Today, the question is: Which

products and systems will provide businesses with the fastest return on

investment? We have to adapt to this change. More than ever before, we

have to transform ourselves from a technology provider with a broad

product spectrum into a partner who makes a concrete contribution to

solving customers’ business problems. Our solutions for migrating voice

networks into data transmission systems quickly and economically give

us a competitive advantage. However, the high business volumes of the

1990s are not likely to recur in the foreseeable future.

As a result, we have to adjust our operations, even when this is very

painful for the individuals and locations affected. It is not always easy for

employees and their representatives to understand that, even within a

large organization like Siemens, each individual Group is responsible for

its own profitability. In accordance with the principles defined in our Ten-

Point Program of 1998, we cannot and will not permit cross-Group subsi-

dies, even for an activity that – like our wireline networks business with

telecom operators – accounts for only five percent of our total sales.

In December 2000, we negotiated medium-term margin targets with

our Groups. In defining these targets for fiscal 2003, we took into account

each Group’s market position, competitive situation and growth potential.

Due to dramatic changes in the information and communications market,

we decided at the end of 2001 to give the IC Networks Group, the IC Mobile

“We cannot and will 
not permit cross-Group
subsidies.”
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Group and Siemens Business Services an additional year – that is, until

fiscal 2004 – to achieve their targets. Our Industrial Solutions and Services

Group will also have an extra year, as will Siemens Dematic, which has

been affected by weaknesses in the IT market.

We have bundled the key action areas requiring special attention in

our Operation 2003, which I described in detail in last year’s letter.

n The first action area centers on our Groups. In addition to the above-

mentioned reorganization of Industrial Solutions and Services, we

aim to increase the profitability of our operating units in the Informa-

tion and Communications area. We are also pushing integration and

restructuring measures at Siemens Dematic and Siemens VDO, the

two Groups established following the Atecs Mannesmann takeover.

Progress at both Groups has been gratifying.

n The second action area is improving our profitability in the United

States. With sales of €21 billion and more than 75,000 employees, our

U.S. activities now comprise our largest regional business – ahead of

Germany and China. Launched two years ago, our top+ U.S. Business

Initiative has begun to show results. Earnings at our American compa-

nies have increased significantly. 

n We consider asset management, which focuses on careful use of

employed capital, to be a high priority for all Company units. The posi-

tive development in our cash flow figures over the last few quarters

shows that our measures here are taking effect.

n Finally, steps to cut costs at our corporate headquarters are well under-

way. Similar measures are being carried out at the headquarters of our

operating units and regional companies.

We remain committed to continuously improving our profitability –

even beyond the margin targets we have defined. Where we cannot

achieve this with our top+ business excellence tools alone, we will further

adjust our portfolio. The deconsolidation of Infineon Technologies AG in

December 2001 marked the successful completion of the key portfolio

measures set out in our Ten-Point Program. Our priority now is to make

adjustments within existing Group structures to eliminate weaknesses

and expand our strengths through selective acquisitions.

“We remain committed
to continuously improving
our profitability – even
beyond the margin targets
we have defined.”



l e t t e r  t o  o u r  s h a r e h o l d e r s   17

All in all, I can affirm that – despite the major challenges before us –

we are on the right track. Fiscal 2002 was a difficult but successful year for

us. Due to continued uncertainty in the business environment, fiscal 2003

will not be easy either. As we plan ahead, we are not counting on a signifi-

cant upturn in the world economy. But with our global presence, we will

continue to reap the benefits of doing business in different regions which

are subject to different economic and political conditions.

Today, we are more convinced than ever that our strategy is the right

one. We have a strong business portfolio and a strong bottom line. We

offer our customers the advantages of a long-term partnership based on

integrity and reliability. Our innovations are safeguarding our future in

key fields. And our global organization is enabling us to seize opportuni-

ties arising from our proximity to customers around the world and to win

acceptance as a respected member of the communities where we do busi-

ness. Customer-oriented innovations, sound financial management and

true global presence – these are three pillars of our enterprise.

A fourth is our keen sense of corporate responsibility. The more than

$6 million we raised through our Caring Hands Foundation for the victims

of the horrifying terrorist attacks on New York and Washington in Septem-

ber 2001 are only one testimony to our commitment to society. We also

provided funds on a comparable scale for the victims of the disastrous

floods that ravaged parts of Germany and Central Europe in August 2002.

By promoting technology transfers, educational initiatives, university

partnerships and local projects at our locations around the world, we con-

tinue to demonstrate that Siemens is a reliable, responsible citizen in all

the countries where we operate. This commitment will never change.

Dr. Heinrich v. Pierer 

President and Chief Executive Officer

Siemens AG

“All in all, I can affirm 
that – despite the major
challenges before us – 
we are on the right track.”
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At a glance

Employees and training

Siemens had 426,000 employees at the

end of fiscal 2002 – 58,000 fewer than a

year earlier. 

While women make up 28% of our glob-

al workforce, they currently occupy just

8.5% of our more than 56,000 managerial

positions. However, this figure will increase

steadily over the coming years, since

women now account for 25% of our new

university-trained employees.

Our commitment to vocational training

and continuing education is unwavering.

About 40% of the roughly €500 million we

invested in this area in fiscal 2002 flowed

into vocational training and 60% into con-

tinuing education. Our vocational training

programs span 35 professions and courses

of study. Some 12,000 young people are

currently enrolled in apprenticeship and

work-study programs.

Siemens Leadership Framework 

Managers who motivate people to do

their best are vital for our Company’s success.

That’s one reason why we’ve introduced the

Siemens Leadership Framework, a binding

Company-wide yardstick for evaluating mana-

gerial achievement in four areas: financial

results, employee motivation, customer satis-

faction and process quality. Results in these

areas, together with an assessment of an

individual’s capabilities, are the key factors

in determining a manager’s income and

opportunities for advancement.

Managerial behavior accounts for roughly

70% of employee motivation, so we take bot-

tom-up evaluations just as seriously as other

measures of leadership ability. Integrated into

all our personnel and management systems,

the Siemens Leadership Framework ensures

that our Company will continue to achieve its

leadership goals, since excellent leaders pro-

duce excellent business results. Some 5,000

Siemens managers around the world have

joined the SLF program since its inception in

October 2001. 

www.siemens.com/leadership_excellence 

Stock market information

Cash flow development

Net cash from operating and investing activities in fiscal 2002 totaled €4.754 billion,

well above the €1.130 billion level a year earlier. Within this total, net cash provided

from operating activities was €5.564 billion. Excluding the €1.782 billion in cash con-

tributed to pension trusts, net cash from operating activities was €7.346 billion com-

pared to €7.016 billion a year earlier.

Net cash used in investing activities, €810 million, was reduced sharply from €5.886

billion in the prior year, which included significant acquisitions and capital expendi-

tures. In contrast, portfolio activities in fiscal 2002 resulted in a net contribution of

€2.8 billion from transactions related to Atecs Mannesmann, sales of businesses, and

the Infineon share sales.

(in euros) 2002(1) 2001(1) 2000(1)

Stock price range (xetra closing prices, Frankfurt)

High 78.52 105.77 127.67

Low 34.00 37.50 50.65

Year-end 34.00 41.89 97.33

Number of shares (year-end, in millions) 890 888 883

Market capitalization (year-end, in millions of euros) 30,273 37,208 85,939

Per-share data

Earnings per share 2.92 2.36 9.97

Earnings per share (fully diluted) 2.92 2.36 9.96

Dividend (comparable) 1.00(2) 1.00 1.60(3)

Figures reflect the stock split of April 30, 2001 
(one additional share for every two shares held).
(1) Fiscal year: October 1 to September 30
(2) To be proposed at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting
(3) Dividend of €0.93 plus extra dividend of €0.67
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In fiscal 2002, sales decreased 3%

year-over-year to €84.0 billion. This

slight decline is attributable to currency

effects, acquisitions and dispositions.

Sales totaled €18.1 billion in Germany

and €20.3 billion in the United States.

Business was stable in Asia-Pacific. Chi-

na continued to account for the largest

share of sales in the region, contribut-

ing €3.2 billion. International business

accounted for approximately 80% of

Siemens’ total sales volume. 

Investments in research and development

Siemens’ R&D activities drive innovation to increase company value. As a technology leader,

we’re shaping the technologies of the future. Using our Pictures of the Future modeling process,

we generate comprehensive visions of tomorrow’s high-tech developments. To enhance efficiency,

we’re optimizing processes and leveraging synergies all across our global network of innovation.

Our strategically focused patent portfolio reflects our wide-ranging achievements.

The bulk of our R&D outlays, which totaled some €5.8 billion, again flowed into information and

communications technologies, with a special emphasis on embedded systems – computer solutions

which are unseen by users. More than half of our 53,100 researchers and developers are working on

software projects in our various business areas, making Siemens one of the world’s largest software

houses.

Patents

With worldwide competition intensifying

due to ever greater globalization, the impor-

tance of patents has increased dramatically.

Today, patents are one of a company’s major

assets. Siemens has intellectual property

departments in nine countries to ensure uni-

form Company-wide processes for coordinat-

ing patent activities and to cultivate an effec-

tive, strategically focused patent portfolio.

We also maintain a licensing center to handle

the sale and exchange of licenses, another

area which – like the protection of our prod-

ucts and markets – is more vital than ever

before.

In fiscal 2002, our researchers and devel-

opers turned out 7,092 inventions, and we

filed 4,566 patent applications. According to

the official statistics for 2001, Siemens AG was

again the largest patent applicant at the Ger-

man Patent and Trade Mark Office (GPTO), and

vied with Philips for the No. 1 spot at the Euro-

pean Patent Office (EPO). Siemens and its sub-

sidiaries ranked among the top ten patent

holders at the United States Patent and Trade-

mark Office (USPTO).

www.siemens.com/intellectual_property
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Our portfolio

Siemens’ portfolio comprises the following business areas: 

n Information and Communications 

n Automation and Control 

n Power 

n Transportation 

n Medical 

n Lighting 

The individual Groups within these areas are responsible for

their own worldwide operations, with regional units around

the globe supporting their activities.

This decentralized structure gives the Groups the greatest

possible degree of entrepreneurial responsibility and the

ability to nurture close ties to their customers. Cross-Group

and cross-regional cooperation is crucial for the success of our

global network of innovation. At the same time, it enables

Siemens to provide a broad range of customer-focused prod-

ucts, solutions and services for the global market.

20 b u s i n e s s a r e a s
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Our Group is a leading supplier of network technology

for enterprises and carriers. Our portfolio comprises

Internet Protocol (IP) convergence solutions for voice

and data, a comprehensive range of products and sys-

tems for broadband access, and optical transport net-

works. We offer complete infrastructure solutions for

next-generation networks – optimized to ensure a

fast return on investment and to create new business

opportunities for our customers. 

With an installed base of well over 265 million tele-

phone lines in the carrier sector (surpass network solu-

tions) and more than 80 million in the enterprise sector

(HiPath product family), we are the world leader in IP

convergence. We are also one of the world’s leading

providers of broadband access technologies and optical

networks. 

Due to the current turmoil on the information and

communications market, we have reoriented our strat-

egy. We have sold the IP routing business of our sub-

sidiary Unisphere Technologies to Juniper Networks in

the United States. The combination of technologies

resulting from our partnership with Juniper will enable

us to offer our customers complete IP solutions that are

among the best in the industry. Owing to dramatic

We are the only provider to cover the entire spectrum

of mobile telecommunications: infrastructure technolo-

gies, mobile end-user devices (such as cell phones and

cordless phones), wireless modules and mobile applica-

tions. We are a leading supplier to GSM and GPRS net-

work operators – boasting 180 customers in more than

90 countries. We are also a major global player on the

third-generation mobile market. The ranks of our cus-

tomers include at least one leading mobile provider in

every major UMTS market in Western Europe. Together

with our partner NEC, we have set up Europe’s first two

UMTS networks.

declines in demand in the carrier segment, we have

considerably reduced the number of production facili-

ties we maintain worldwide. However, we will continue

to operate highly automated production plants and to

develop basic technologies for next-generation net-

works at our research and development facilities. We

will focus our R&D resources on pushing innovation in

IP convergence, broadband access and optical networks.

Information and Communications

sales (in billions of euros) 11.0
ebit (in millions of euros) 96

Rudi Lamprecht,
Group President

Siemens’ Information and Commu-
nications area comprises three
Groups: Information and Commu-
nication Networks, Information
and Communication Mobile, and

Siemens Business Services. With
our extensive range of complex
solutions, we are a world leader in
our industry and a single-source
provider of all key information and

communications technologies,
applications and services: next-
generation networks, mobile com-
munications, e-business solutions
and a wide array of IT services.

Information and 
Communication Mobile 
(ICM)

sales (in billions of euros) 9.6
ebit (in millions of euros) (691)

Thomas Ganswindt,
Group President

Information and 
Communication Networks 
(ICN)
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We are now a world-class manufacturer of mobile

phones and occupy an excellent position in growth

markets such as Asia and Latin America. As a full-line

supplier, we offer mobile phones for all market seg-

ments. We are the world market leader in phones based

on digital enhanced cordless telecommunications tech-

nology.

We are focused on growth through innovation.

Our state-of-the-art products make life easier for peo-

ple on the move, facilitating virtually all forms of mobile

communications. We are optimizing the use of our

resources to safeguard our profitability on the highly

competitive mobile telecommunications market. We

aim to further strengthen our global competitive posi-

tion.

knowledge based on standard applications, we create

e-business solutions to optimize customers’ business

processes, including management of supply chains and

customer relationships. Manufacturers, financial service

providers and public-sector authorities benefit from our

wide-ranging project experience.

In our outsourcing business, we manage our cus-

tomers’ complete information and telecommunications

infrastructures, enabling them to concentrate on their

core businesses and cut IT costs. We are No. 1 world-

wide in multi-vendor hardware maintenance, providing

customers with 7/24 worldwide access to the informa-

tion technology they need. By supporting their compa-

ny-wide IT landscapes, we also help customers improve

their efficiency.

We reorganized our operations in fiscal 2002 to

improve services for international customers. Global

business units now support our local operations, fur-

ther expanding the array of solutions and services we

offer worldwide. We are intensifying our strategic focus

on Europe and North America, markets in which we

already have a strong foothold.

As a leading IT service company, we offer our cus-

tomers a complete range of IT solutions and services –

everything from IT consulting and systems integration

to the operation and maintenance of IT infrastructures.

We combine expertise in the conception and design of

new solutions with extensive know-how in systems and

applications. We consolidate and upgrade existing IT

environments to meet the demand for increasingly

global enterprise networks.

Using advanced technologies and methods, we

help our customers unleash the full productivity poten-

tial of their business processes and company-wide IT

infrastructures. With comprehensive sector and systems

sales (in billions of euros) 5.8
ebit (in millions of euros) 101

Paul A. Stodden,
Group President

Siemens Business Services 
(SBS)
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Our innovative products, systems and solutions help

build customer value in the industry sector. We create

transparent and intelligent production facilities that

enable customers to manufacture high-quality prod-

ucts more quickly, flexibly and economically. Our aim

is to strengthen our position as world market leader

and expand our profitable business in automation,

drives, and switchgear and installation technology.

In the field of automation technology, we see fur-

ther potential in standardized, industry-specific offer-

ings – everything from sensors to plant management

software based on our Totally Integrated Automation

platform. In machine construction, our new Simotion

motion control system now boasts a product spectrum

of unparalleled breadth. In switchgear and installation

technology, our Totally Integrated Power system,

which cuts energy costs by up to 25%, is increasingly

successful.

We are expanding our presence in the world’s key

markets. We are a leading supplier in China and have

a foothold in Japan. We have optimized our activities

in the U.S. To tap new sectors, we are cooperating with

external solutions providers and internal partners –

especially with the other Automation and Control

Groups and with the Groups in the Power area.

We are continuously improving our quality and

processes with the help of the asset management,

quality and cost reduction tools provided by Siemens’

top+ Business Excellence Program. E-business appli-

cations in particular are helping us streamline all our

internal processes – from purchasing to logistics.

Automation and Control

Siemens’ Automation and Control area
is the world’s largest supplier of prod-
ucts, systems, solutions and services
for industrial automation and building
technology. We help our customers

optimize their business and produc-
tion processes, enabling them to
improve their efficiency and profitabil-
ity. Using the latest information tech-
nology, our Automation and Control

Groups cooperate closely to exploit
development synergies in the four
main fields of automation: manufac-
turing, process, building and logistics.

In the industry sector, we build and operate process

and manufacturing systems to increase our cus-

tomers’ competitiveness. We harness the synergies

from our three core competencies – systems construc-

tion and upgrading, technical services, and IT solu-

tions for systems management – to develop intelligent

production systems for our customers, enabling them

to produce more quickly, flexibly and economically.

Transparent processes generate sustainable improve-

ments in value added all along the production chain,

cut costs, enhance quality and make it easier to adapt

sales (in billions of euros) 8.6
ebit (in millions of euros) 723

Helmut Gierse,
Group President

Automation and Drives 
(A&D)

sales (in billions of euros) 4.5
ebit (in millions of euros) (198)

Joergen Ole Haslestad,
Group President

Industrial Solutions and
Services 
(I&S)
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to changing market requirements. Our high-quality

systems are extremely reliable and designed to allow

the integration of future technological developments

and innovative solutions.

In the process and manufacturing industries, we

expect additional growth from our expanded use of

IT solutions that link islands of automation to form

transparent networks. Our IT solutions – combined

with our expertise in industrial applications and infra-

structure projects – give us a unique competitive posi-

tion. Customers have direct access to our services at

some 300 locations worldwide. 

Our systems construction activities are focused

on the mining and metals, pulp and paper, oil and gas,

and potable and waste water sectors. For industrial

and infrastructure applications, we offer systems man-

agement tools and services to minimize maintenance

costs and downtime. In marine engineering, we are

a leading supplier of electrotechnical equipment and

energy-efficient drive systems. 

In the traffic control sector, we provide not only

conventional traffic guidance systems but also traffic

telematics and mobility management systems for both

individual road users and public transportation.

We are the world’s leading supplier of logistics and

production automation systems. All of our divisions

are currently either No. 1 or No. 2 worldwide. We are

especially strong in the North American and European

markets, generating 53% of our sales in the Americas

and 36% in Europe.

We have expanded our presence in Asia. Our local

company in Southeast Asia has completely taken over

the logistics automation activities of a former joint

venture. In the Japanese market, we are now cooperat-

ing with the local supplier TKK.

In distribution and industrial logistics, we focus

on the chemicals and pharmaceuticals, food and bev-

erages, and electronics manufacturing sectors. We

offer tailor-made solutions for the car industry, for

postal automation and for parcel and freight logistics.

We also provide airport solutions such as baggage and

cargo handling systems.

Our 2,500 patents attest to our extensive know-how

in logistics automation. Our installed base, currently

valued at some €17 billion, includes 1,250 solutions for

the car industry, 10,000 pick-and-place machines for

electronics production, 380 airport logistics solutions,

800 warehouse and distribution logistics systems, and

14,600 letter sorting systems.

sales (in billions of euros) 3.0
ebit (in millions of euros) 45

Dr. Dietmar Straub,
Group President

Siemens Dematic AG 
(SD)
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these applications. We are implementing productivity

programs, integrating technologies across our appli-

cation areas and intensifying cross-selling between

our divisions and other Siemens Groups. Increased

leveraging of synergies is broadening our spectrum of

solutions, reducing sales costs and further expanding

our market share.

Our top+ productivity measures are starting to

bear fruit. Shared services for administration, logis-

tics and production have resulted in closer coopera-

tion between our divisional units and our sales

regions. We have also begun integrating our local

sales activities into Siemens’ regional organization. 

We are the world leader in building automation – com-

bining systems and services for building security, fire

protection, air conditioning and other comfort fea-

tures. We have rigorously expanded our offerings to

provide a comprehensive range of products for each of

Fiscal 2002 was the most successful year in our history.

We set new records in sales and earnings, due in large

part to the recent boom in power plant construction in

the U.S. Looking to the future, we have optimized pro-

duction facilities and initiated steps to bring capacities

into line with post-boom conditions.

We are already a strong No. 2 in our market, and

our global presence and worldwide service activities are

positioning us to further increase our overall market

share. By leveraging synergies and improving our busi-

ness processes, we are closing the cost gap between

ourselves and our main competitors.

The current slump in the industry will not alter our

strategy – to expand our service business and profes-

sionally execute selected orders for turnkey systems.

Our service business is profiting from an installed

base of over 600,000 megawatts, a large number of

long-term service contracts for new gas turbines and

Power

Siemens’ Power area comprises
Power Generation (PG) and Power
Transmission and Distribution
(PTD). PG offers efficient, environ-
mentally compatible power genera-

tion systems as well as solutions
for industrial applications, includ-
ing services for power plants and
power generation systems. PTD –
as product supplier, systems inte-

grator, turnkey systems supplier
and service provider – enables
customers to transport electrical
energy safely and efficiently from
power plant to consumer.

sales (in billions of euros) 5.6
ebit (in millions of euros) 195

Oskar K. Ronner,
Group President

Siemens Building 
Technologies AG 
(SBT)

sales (in billions of euros) 9.4
ebit (in millions of euros) 1,582

Klaus Voges,
Group President

Power Generation 
(PG)



26 b u s i n e s s a r e a s

We have again expanded our market share in the

world’s most important markets. We generate 86% of

our sales outside Germany and some 43% outside

Europe. The expansion of our service business, which

generates high local value added, is a key contributor

to our international success.

Our service offerings include the maintenance of

complete national power grids such as those in Estonia

and New Zealand. In the UK, we are No. 1 in metering

services. In the area of high voltage direct current trans-

mission, we have booked another major order in China,

further strengthening our position as a leading supplier

on the world market. 

Customers around the globe can access our prod-

ucts and solutions anytime via our e-business portal. 

E-business is helping our partners and our Group

enhance process efficiency.

By keeping our strategy sharply focused on our cus-

tomers’ needs, we expanded our position as a market

leader and preferred partner in power transmission and

distribution and again boosted our earnings and orders

year-over-year despite the difficult economic environ-

ment. In a drive to optimize our product portfolio, we

are innovating continuously to develop products and

systems increasingly based on integrated communica-

tions technologies and advanced software solutions.

When necessary, we also streamline our business port-

folio by shedding low-earning activities. In fiscal 2002,

for example, we divested the product and systems busi-

ness of our metering division.

a growing demand for steam turbine upgrades. We aim

to substantially increase the share of sales attributable

to services.

Our newly established Industrial Applications Divi-

sion, which includes the former activities of Demag

Delaval, is now a world-leading supplier of solutions for

industrial energy conversion, particularly in the oil and

gas sector.

In the field of power plant controls and moderniza-

tion, our complete electrical systems, instrumentation

and control systems, and intelligent IT solutions are

industry benchmarks, and our centralized, Web-based

monitoring and control systems reduce plant operation

costs.

sales (in billions of euros) 4.2
ebit (in millions of euros) 109

Dr. Heinrich Hiesinger, 
Group President

Power Transmission and 
Distribution 
(PTD)
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We have successfully mastered the greatest challenges

of fiscal 2002 – turning our business around after last

year’s slump and integrating all of our organization’s

units. Only a year since our formation through the

merger of Siemens Automotive and Mannesmann

VDO, we are making solid progress with our strategy

for profitable growth. The rapid implementation of

our top+ World Class Improvement Program has been

decisive for our success. This initiative has helped us

more closely align our development, production and

administrative processes to customer needs. We have

also increased our efficiency by reorganizing our pro-

Key strategic orders have further boosted our position

on the world market. We have expanded our share

of China’s promising mass-transit market. In France,

we have received our first order from the French state

railway, SNCF.

Major projects such as Kuala Lumpur’s Express Rail

Link, which began operation in April, showcase our

strengths: engineering, project management, vehicle

construction, signaling and safety systems, electrifica-

tion, servicing and maintenance – all from a single

source. In a market where customers are focusing

more and more on their core competency – rail opera-

tion – our systems know-how gives us a competitive

edge. 

Quality is a top priority for us. At our technical

center in Wegberg-Wildenrath, Germany, we test trains

under customer-specific conditions. At our Braun-

schweig and Berlin centers, we test both our own sys-

tems and those of suppliers to ensure conformance to

our tough quality standards.

We have strengthened our position in Eastern

Europe by establishing our own subsidiary in Prague,

Siemens Kolejová Vozidla, to manage activities

acquired from the Czech rail vehicle manufacturer

CKD Dopravni Systemy. In the service sector, we have

set up joint ventures with the Spanish rail company

Renfe and with the mass-transit authority in Leipzig,

Germany. Siemens Duewag Schienenfahrzeuge GmbH

and Siemens Krauss-Maffei Lokomotiven GmbH –

both Siemens subsidiaries – have been fully merged

into our Group. We have also completed the integra-

tion of Matra Transport International, which will now

operate under the name Siemens Transportation Sys-

tems France.

Transportation

Siemens’ Transportation area com-
prises two Groups: Transportation
Systems (TS) and Siemens VDO
Automotive AG (SV). Both Groups’
products and systems are designed

to satisfy society’s need for ever
greater mobility and to meet growing
demands for environmental compati-
bility and improved performance.
We are innovation drivers in this seg-

ment: TS is a world-leading systems
house in the rail industry, and SV is
one of the world’s largest suppliers
of automotive electronics.

sales (in billions of euros) 4.4
ebit (in millions of euros) 247

Hans M. Schabert,
Group President

Transportation Systems
(TS)

sales (in billions of euros) 8.5
ebit (in millions of euros) 65

Wolfgang Dehen,
Group President

Siemens VDO Automotive AG 
(SV)
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duction capacities worldwide. Despite substantial

declines in new car production and sales in some re-

gions, we have again boosted our revenues in Europe,

the NAFTA countries and Asia.

In an industry where electronics is becoming more

and more important, we have captured a strong posi-

tion with highly innovative products ranging from

engine management to multimedia systems. In diesel

technology, we have gained a decisive advantage over

our competitors by introducing piezo actuator technol-

ogy for high-pressure injection systems. Series pro-

duction of the first multimedia systems with integrat-

ed navigation and Internet access has made us a leader

in infotainment systems. Top Level Architecture, a

Java-based software platform for vehicle infotainment,

will enable us to equip cars with state-of-the-art driver

information and communications technologies more

quickly and economically than ever before. Solutions

like Tire Guard – our tire pressure monitoring system

– are trailblazers in vehicle safety. Demand for Tire

Guard is expected to surge in the United States, where

federal law will require tire pressure monitoring sys-

tems starting in 2004. We are continually improving

our competitive position with innovations in auto-

motive body electronics, infotainment, interiors and

powertrain technology.

Medical

Siemens’ Medical area is renowned
for its innovative products, services
and complete solutions for the
healthcare community. We supply

diagnostic and therapeutic systems
as well as IT solutions for optimiz-
ing clinical workflows. Our offer-
ings range from data management

for healthcare providers to process
management across the entire
healthcare continuum.

Our solutions focus on boosting healthcare efficiency.

We optimize clinical workflows and streamline process-

es to ensure high-quality, patient-centric treatment.

By seamlessly linking state-of-the-art medical systems

and IT applications, we cut customer costs and improve

healthcare quality.

The uniqueness of our products and solutions

gives us a decisive competitive edge. We are an innova-

tion leader and the largest IT provider in the healthcare

industry. We boast unrivaled process know-how and a

strong global presence. In the U.S., our major market,

sales have soared 169% over the last three years, and in

Asia 64%.

Outstanding innovations drive and safeguard

our profitable growth. Our large imaging systems –

computed and magnetic resonance tomography

systems and angiography systems – generated double-

digit growth. Since 1999, we have based our products

on our unique syngo software platform. Our revolution-

ary Soarian health information solution is workflow

sales (in billions of euros) 7.6
ebit (in millions of euros) 1,018

Prof. Dr. Erich R. Reinhardt,
Group President

Medical Solutions
(Med)
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engineered to synchronize processes across the

health enterprise.

Our computing center in Malvern, Pennsylvania,

processes over 137 million transactions daily for more

than 1,200 healthcare providers with connections to

over 500,000 customer workstations, making us the

We have transformed ourselves from a conventional

light bulb manufacturer into a cutting-edge high-tech

company. We provide high-quality systems solutions

incorporating the customized electronic control gear

required for today’s innovative light sources.

The opto-semiconductor business is strategically

vital for us. Light-emitting diodes are being used more

and more in automotive and general lighting applica-

tions – especially in fields where miniaturization, long

product life and color are key factors. In the area of

organic light-emitting diodes, we expect display light-

ing to generate additional growth.

With our lamps, electronic control gear and opto-

semiconductors, we are now consolidating our leading

position on the world lighting market. Our long-range

globalization strategy continues to pay off. We are

focusing on expanding our business in Asia-Pacific

and Eastern Europe, where we anticipate the largest

market growth.

In a difficult business environment, we are profit-

ing from our long-established culture of rigorous cost

management. Continuous benchmarking in all prod-

uct areas is helping us increase productivity and re-

structure our production processes. To improve our

cost structures, we are expanding production in East-

ern Europe, Mexico and China.

Our Web-based activities, concentrated on busi-

ness-to-business transactions, are optimizing our

processes, cutting costs and enabling us to better meet

customer needs. We currently transact over one-third

of our business electronically.

Lighting

Siemens’ Lighting area, comprising
Osram GmbH, specializes in lighting
sources and related electronic control

gear. We focus on general lighting
solutions, automotive lighting,
special photo-optic lamps and display

lighting. As a truly international
company, we now generate nearly
90% of our sales outside Germany.

largest application service provider in the industry.

The world healthcare market is at a turning point,

and the competition is tough. To fortify our position as

the No. 1 solutions provider, we will continue optimiz-

ing our cost position.

sales (in billions of euros) 4.4
ebit (in millions of euros) 365

Dr. Wolf-Dieter Bopst,
President

Osram GmbH 



30 b u s i n e s s a r e a s

We provide Siemens and other industrial enterprises

with financial services in the areas of sales and invest-

ment financing, equity investment in infrastructure

projects, risk and liquidity management, fund manage-

ment and insurance.

Our activities have a two-pronged focus. First, we

function as a risk manager, covering the financing

needs and managing the related market and credit risks

of global industrial companies. In this capacity, we aim

to achieve a high level of transparency and to ensure a

high diversification of risk. Second, we concentrate on

high-growth sectors: leasing, credit portfolio manage-

ment, pension management and risk transfer via insur-

ance solutions. We have proven proficiency both in

intra-Company business and in working together with

new enterprise customers.

Sustainable profitability is our No. 1 goal. Key suc-

cess factors are long-term customer relationships, glob-

al presence, innovative products, solutions and process-

es, and rigorous risk management. Our Siemens affilia-

tion provides an optimal springboard for success.

We intend to further expand our business outside

Siemens and sharpen our regional focus in Europe and

North America. We also want to achieve a balanced

portfolio of consulting and capital-intensive businesses.

Financing Real Estate

In fiscal 2002, we again focused on optimizing our

real estate portfolio. We are continuing to develop and

commercialize idle properties to generate additional

real estate earnings and improve Siemens’ capital

position. This is reducing tied-up capital and pro-

ducing a more balanced risk structure for real estate

retained for company use. Our efforts here are con-

centrated primarily on Germany, where Siemens has

traditionally maintained an extensive real estate

portfolio.

To further expand our position on the office and

commercial real estate market, we are implementing

urban development projects at locations in Munich,

Frankfurt and other cities.

In the area of leasing, we are concentrating on

extending our flexible space offerings. Our innovative

Flexible Office and Real Estate Center solutions enable

company units to cut real estate costs. 

In an increasingly difficult real estate market, we

have taken timely steps to ensure our future success.

sales (in billions of euros) 0.6
earnings before taxes
(in millions of euros) 216

Dr. Herbert Lohneiß, 
President

Siemens Financial Services
GmbH 
(SFS)

sales (in billions of euros) 1.6
earnings before taxes
(in millions of euros) 229

Prof. Peter Niehaus, 
Managing Director

Siemens Real Estate 
(SRE)
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With sales of €6.1 billion, 35,000 employees and 42

production facilities in 15 countries, we are one of the

world’s leading manufacturers of household appliances.

Our groundbreaking, high-quality products are enabling

us to tap new markets. We are focusing on selected

segments to increase profitability over the long term.

Rigorous cost management and a sustained high level

of investment have boosted the competitiveness of our

entire product portfolio. We aim to continue achieving

above-average growth.

Due to the current economic slowdown, the house-

hold appliance market is stagnating or declining in

many regions. The entire industry has been affected by

these developments, and we are no exception. Our

European home market has been hit particularly hard.

Nevertheless, we have consolidated our position

as clear market leader in Western Europe by expanding

our market share in Italy, France and the UK. Our goal

is to achieve market leadership across the whole of

Europe. In Central and Eastern Europe, we are augment-

ing our activities through targeted investments. At our

facility in Lodz, Poland, where we have been manufac-

turing washing machines since 1998, we began pro-

ducing dishwashers in fiscal 2002. Intensifying local

production not only bolsters our position in individual

regions; it also enhances our worldwide reputation as

an attractive employer.

In the extremely difficult Latin American market,

we have expanded our business in Brazil by launching

a completely revamped and market-oriented product

line. Due to sluggish conditions in Western Europe –

especially in Germany – we expect future growth to

come mainly from Eastern Europe, the U.S. and China.

To drive our business in the United States, we have

made a major investment in a plant for the production

of washing machines and stoves. In Thailand, we are

now manufacturing front-loading washing machines

for the Southeast Asian markets. In China, we have for-

tified our solid position through additional investments

in new products.

We are continuously increasing productivity and

improving cost structures along our entire value chain

with the help of permanent benchmarking across all

our product and sales activities.

Affiliates

Dr. Kurt-Ludwig Gutberlet, 
President

BSH Bosch und Siemens
Hausgeräte GmbH 



      

processes, as well as our cooperation with shareholders,

are based on the principles of good corporate governance.

As a global company headquartered in Germany,

Siemens must ensure that its internal management and

monitoring structures comply with German laws govern-

ing corporations, codetermination and the capital mar-

kets, with our Articles of Association and with our Com-

pany-specific implementation of the recently issued

German Corporate Governance Code.

When the German Corporate Governance Code went

into effect, we took the opportunity to review and – in a

very few cases – amend our internal regulations and pro-

cedures relating to our Supervisory Board, Managing

Board and Annual Shareholders’ Meeting as well as Com-

pany transparency and our financial reporting and audit-

ing.

We consider the Code to be a key step in the further

development of statutory provisions for, and the practical

implementation of, corporate governance in Germany.

The regulatory framework is a suitable tool for providing

foreign investors with a concise overview of the country’s

corporate governance model. We welcome the Code’s

introduction and the willingness to bring it further into

line with international standards.

As a result of our U.S. listing, we are also subject to the

licensing requirements of the New York Stock Exchange

law (examples are given below). We will further develop

our corporate governance principles as soon as the SEC

rules are available in their entirety.

Management and company structure

Because its registered offices are located in Berlin and

Munich, Siemens is subject to the German Corporation Act

(AktG). Consequently, the Company has a two-part man-

agement and oversight structure (two-tier model) com-

prising a Managing Board and a Supervisory Board.

The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, the assembly of

shareholders, is our third Company body. All three bodies

are obligated to serve the interests of both the sharehold-

ers and the Company.

All Siemens businesses are part of a matrix organi-

zation that combines a centralized strategic orientation

with decentralized business and regional responsibilities.

The Corporate Executive Committee of the Managing

Board is responsible for coordinating the matrix.

As global entrepreneurs, Siemens’ Groups are individ-

ually responsible for their worldwide businesses. Each

Group has its own Executive Management, which is

responsible for running Group business in accordance

with Company policies defined by the Managing Board of

Siemens AG. The Groups determine how their resources

will be used. They develop their own strategies, manage

and U.S. capital market legislation – above all, the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of July 2002 – as well as the rules and

regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission

(SEC). We cannot comply with all provisions of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act, since some conflict with German
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Responsible and transparent company management and

monitoring structures – focused on achieving sustainable

growth in company value – are indispensable for earning

and maintaining trust in Siemens and its business poli-

cies. That is why all our decision-making and monitoring



their own assets and generate earnings in their respective

market segments.

The Groups’ international activities are conducted via

regional units which are responsible for Group-related

business and earnings in a particular country or coun-

tries. The regional units, in their capacity as regional

entrepreneurs, implement target agreements which they

have concluded with the Groups.

The Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board has 20 members. As stipulated

by the German Codetermination Act, half of the members

represent Company shareholders, and half represent

Company employees. The shareholders’ representatives

are elected by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. The

employee representatives are elected by a conference of

employee delegates. The Chairman of the Supervisory

Board has the deciding vote when the Supervisory Board

is unable to reach a decision after two separate rounds of

voting. The Supervisory Board is elected for five years.

As a rule, members may not be older than 70.

The Supervisory Board oversees and advises the Man-

aging Board in its management of Company business.

The Supervisory Board meets at regular intervals to dis-

cuss financial results, planning, strategy and implementa-

tion. It reviews Siemens’ quarterly reports and approves

the annual financial statements of the parent company

Siemens AG as well as the consolidated financial state-

ments of Siemens worldwide in the light of the audit

reports prepared by the independent auditors. In addi-

tion, the Supervisory Board appoints the members of the

Managing Board and determines their responsibilities.

Key Managing Board decisions – such as major acquisi-

tions, divestments and financial measures – require

Supervisory Board approval.

There are four Supervisory Board committees. A list

of their respective members – together with the names

of all Supervisory Board members – is provided on pages

140-41 of this Report. The responsibilities of these com-

mittees are as follows:

The Executive Committee of the Supervisory Board,

comprising two shareholder representatives and one

employee representative, deals with fundamental issues

regarding business policy and management, and per-

forms the tasks of a compensation and nominating com-

mittee.
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In particular, the Executive Committee of the Super-

visory Board determines the conditions of employment

and the remuneration of Managing Board members and

decides – on an annual basis – which share of the Manag-

ing Board’s compensation will be variable and how much

of this variable portion will take the form of stock options.

In addition, the Executive Committee makes proposals

regarding the appointment of Managing Board members

and nominates shareholder representatives for the Super-

visory Board, who are elected by the Annual Shareholders’

Meeting. Finally, it reviews and ensures the further devel-

opment of Siemens’ corporate governance principles.

The Audit Committee, comprising three shareholder

representatives and two employee representatives, pre-

pares Supervisory Board reviews of the annual financial

statements of Siemens AG and of the consolidated finan-

cial statements of Siemens worldwide. The Committee

also reviews the quarterly reports, awards the audit con-

tract to the independent auditors elected by the Annual

Shareholders’ Meeting and determines the focal points of

the audit as well as the fee to be paid to the auditors. In

addition, the Audit Committee monitors the auditors’

independence and cooperates closely with the Company’s

internal Financial Audit department.

As required by the German Codetermination Act, two

Committee members are employee representatives. One

of these is currently on the Siemens payroll. This is an

area of conflict with the Sarbanes-Oxley legislation, under

which compensated employees of a company are not con-

sidered “independent.” 

The Mediation Committee comprises two share-

holder representatives and two employee representatives.

In the event that the Supervisory Board cannot reach the

two-thirds majority required to appoint a Managing

Board member, the Mediation Committee submits propos-

als for resolution to the Supervisory Board.

The Investment Committee, comprising three share-

holder representatives, is responsible for decisions

regarding the exercise of Siemens’ shareholder rights in

other companies.

The Managing Board

The Managing Board of Siemens AG, which currently has

13 members, is the Company’s top management body. It

is obligated to promote the interests of the Company at all

times and to drive sustainable growth in company value.

The Managing Board’s executive committee, the Corporate

Executive Committee, currently has eight members. The

Chairman of the Managing Board defines the Company’s

strategic direction in cooperation with the Corporate Exec-

utive Committee. 

The Managing Board’s responsibilities include devel-

oping the Company’s strategic orientation, planning and

finalizing the annual budget, allocating resources and

monitoring the Executive Management of each Group.

Furthermore, the Managing Board is responsible for

preparing the Company’s quarterly reports, the annual

financial statements of Siemens AG and the consolidated

financial statements of Siemens worldwide, and selects

personnel to fill key Company positions.

The Managing Board cooperates closely with the

Supervisory Board. It informs the Supervisory Board regu-

larly, promptly and comprehensively concerning all Com-

pany-related issues regarding strategy and implementa-

tion, planning, financial results, financial condition,

results of operations and emerging risks. As noted above,

major decisions of the Managing Board require Supervi-

sory Board approval.

Further information regarding the members of the

Managing Board and the membership and responsibili-

ties of Managing Board committees is available on pages

142-43 of this Report.

The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting

The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting is the decision-making

body of our shareholders. It enables the Company’s own-

ers to participate in basic decisions affecting Siemens. 

An ordinary Annual Shareholders’ Meeting usually

takes place within the first four months of every fiscal

year. Each share carries one vote. All shareholders listed

in the stock register and from whom notification of atten-

dance has been received by a specified date are entitled to

participate. The Managing Board facilitates shareholder

participation in the meeting through the use of electronic

means of communication, and enables shareholders who

are unable to attend to vote by proxy. The meeting is

directed by the Chairman of the Supervisory Board.

The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting makes decisions

on all matters assigned to it by law. These decisions are

binding on all shareholders and on the Company. They

include voting on appropriation of net income, ratifica-

tion of the acts of the Managing and Supervisory Boards,

and the appointment of the independent auditors. Amend-

ments to the Articles of Association and measures which

change the Company’s capital stock are approved exclu-

sively by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting and imple-

mented by the Managing Board with the approval of the

Supervisory Board. Shareholders may make counterpro-
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posals to the proposals of the Managing and Supervisory

Boards and contest decisions of the Annual Shareholders’

Meeting. Shareholders owning Siemens stock with a mar-

ket value of €1 million or more may also demand a special

judicial review of a particular decision.

Financial accounting and auditing

The consolidated financial statements of Siemens world-

wide are prepared in accordance with United States Gen-

erally Accepted Accounting Principles (U.S. GAAP). The

annual financial statements of the parent company

Siemens AG are prepared in accordance with the German

Commercial Code (HGB). 

The consolidated financial statements of Siemens

worldwide are audited by independent auditors in accor-

dance with United States Generally Accepted Auditing

Standards (U.S. GAAS). Quarterly financial statements are

reviewed. As required by the German Corporation Act, the

independent auditors are appointed by the Annual Share-

holders’ Meeting. This is another area of conflict with the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which requires that independent

auditors be appointed by a Supervisory Board’s Audit

Committee. Subsequent to the auditors’ appointment by

the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, the Audit Committee

of Siemens’ Supervisory Board awards the audit contract,

determines the focal points of the audit and the fee to be

paid to the auditors, and monitors the auditors’ independ-

ence.

For further information on the most important regula-

tions governing financial reporting see pages 48 and 96

of this Report.

Internal control and risk management

The Corporate Executive Committee is responsible for the

worldwide internal control and risk management system

at Siemens and for assessing the system’s effectiveness.

The risk management principles, guidelines, processes

and responsibilities we have defined are intended to

ensure accurate and prompt accounting for all business

transactions, to ensure early risk identification, to contin-

uously provide reliable information about the Company’s

financial situation for internal and external use, and to

enable us to achieve our business goals. However, these

mechanisms do not eliminate risk entirely, and thus can-

not prevent loss or fraud in all cases. We rapidly adjust the

monitoring procedures of all acquired entities to conform

to Siemens’ standards.

Our internal control and risk management system

comprises the following elements: 
n bylaws for the Managing Board and the Corporate

Executive Committee, which are issued by the Super-

visory Board and allocate specific responsibilities to

Managing Board members;
n bylaws for the Executive Management of each Group,

which are issued by the Managing Board and define

the Groups’ entrepreneurial responsibilities; 
n internal principles, rules and standards pertaining to

finance, accounting, taxes, monitoring, legal matters,

corporate audit, financial audit, personnel and real

estate, which are defined and monitored by Siemens’

corporate departments; 
n the annual budget approved by the Supervisory Board,

which is based on the Groups’ annual budgets and sup-

plemented by strategic plans approved by the Corpo-

rate Executive Committee;
n monthly reporting to the Corporate Executive Commit-

tee regarding the financial condition and results of

operations of Siemens’ businesses, and joint quarterly

reviews by the Corporate Executive Committee and the

Group Presidents; 
n mandatory detailed internal reporting and disclosure

processes to ensure the early identification and effi-

cient monitoring and control of major risks. These

risks are reported to the Corporate Executive Commit-

tee, the Supervisory Board and the Audit Committee,

and explained as part of the external accounting

process; 
n principles and rules for conducting business, issued

by the Managing Board in the form of “Business Con-

duct Guidelines” and applied Company-wide. These

rules cover business transactions as well as socially,

ethically and environmentally responsible behavior.

They also specify appropriate monitoring procedures; 
n an internal audit function, which is divided between

two corporate departments: Corporate Audit and

Financial Audit. These two departments supervise and

monitor internal compliance with the Company’s prin-

ciples and regulatory frameworks. The Corporate Audit

department focuses on strategic, structural and opera-

tional issues. The Financial Audit department reviews

the rules and processes regarding correct reporting

of all business transactions and the appropriateness

of the valuations in our financial statements. Financial

Audit reports to the Audit Committee of the Super-

visory Board and to the head of Corporate Finance.
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Corporate Audit reports to the Chairman of the Manag-

ing Board; 
n an assessment, conducted by the Corporate Executive

Committee and based on a Financial Audit review,

of the effectiveness of the internal control system. The

results of this assessment are reported to the Audit

Committee. Regular reports by the internal Financial

Audit department and the external independent audi-

tors are key monitoring tools. The Executive Manage-

ment of each Group and each Regional Company is

required to certify annually that its reports and finan-

cial statements are complete and provide a fair pres-

entation of the entity’s business situation, and that it

has effective internal control and risk management

systems in place.

Financial reporting

Transparency is of great importance for us. We communi-

cate with our shareholders, all participants in the capital

market, financial analysts, shareholder associations, the

media and the interested public through regular, open

and prompt reporting on the condition of the Company

and material changes in Company business. We adhere to

the fair disclosure principle to ensure that all Siemens’

stakeholders receive timely and comprehensive informa-

tion on an equal basis.

Reports on the Company’s status and results are issued

at regular intervals in the form of:
n quarterly reports, which are published as press

releases,
n the Siemens Annual Report, 
n an annual report (Form 20-F) and quarterly reports

(under Form 6-K), which are filed with the U.S. Securi-

ties and Exchange Commission,
n semiannual press and analyst conferences,
n scheduled telephone conferences with analysts on the

publication of quarterly and full-year results as well as

numerous meetings with financial analysts worldwide.

We also provide event-related information in the

form of: 
n ad hoc releases, when situations arise which could

materially affect Siemens’ share price, 
n press releases. 

All the information we provide through financial

reports and press releases is published simultaneously

on the Internet. 

A financial calendar, which includes reporting dates,

is available on page 146 of this Report and online at: 

www.siemens.com/investor_relations

Code of ethics

Our Business Conduct Guidelines provide a code of con-

duct for Managing Board and employee behavior in ethi-

cal and legal matters. The Guidelines are a key element

in our corporate governance system and apply to every

Siemens employee worldwide. They also specify monitor-

ing procedures.

Further information on Siemens’ Business Conduct

Guidelines is available on the Internet at: 

www.siemens.com/business_conduct_guidelines

Managing Board and Supervisory Board

remuneration

Managing Board and Supervisory Board remuneration for

fiscal 2002 contains both fixed and variable components. 

Managing Board remuneration comprises both cash

compensation and stock options. Forty percent of cash

compensation is fixed and paid in monthly installments,

with the remaining 60% dependent on Siemens’ meeting

specified financial goals. 

Supervisory Board members receive fixed and per-

formance-related cash compensation as well as stock

appreciation rights granted under the terms of Siemens’

stock option program. 

Further information on Managing Board and Super-

visory Board remuneration is provided on pages 131-32 of

this Report.
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Declaration of Conformity with regard to the

German Corporate Governance Code

At their meetings on November 12 and November 13,

2002, respectively, the Managing Board and the Super-

visory Board adopted the recommendations of the

Government Commission on the German Corporate

Governance Code, with the exceptions indicated below,

and approved the following Declaration of Conformity in

accordance with § 161 of the German Corporation Act

(AktG):

“Siemens AG complies with the recommendations of

the Government Commission on the German Corporate

Governance Code, with the following exceptions:
n Our directors and officers liability insurance policy

(Code Section 3.8, paragraph 2) includes no deductible

for board members. Our senior managers, both in and

outside Germany, are covered by a group insurance

policy. It is not considered appropriate to differentiate

between board members and other high-level person-

nel. Furthermore, such a deductible is not common

outside Germany. 
n All members of the Audit Committee currently receive

the same level of remuneration (Code Section 5.4.5,

paragraph 1, third sentence). The Supervisory Board

and the Managing Board will propose to the next

Annual Shareholders’ Meeting an amendment to the

Articles of Association of Siemens AG regarding remu-

neration for the Chairman of the Audit Committee.”

This declaration is available on the Internet at:

www.siemens.com/corporate_governance

Berlin and Munich, December 2002

Siemens AG

The Managing Board The Supervisory Board

c o r p o r at e  g ov e r n a n c e   37



     

38 i n f o r m at i o n  f o r  s h a r e h o l d e r s

Information for shareholders

40 Report of the Supervisory Board

46 Statement of the Managing Board

47 Independent auditors’ report

48 Management’s discussion and analysis

48 – Basis of presentation

49 – Economic environment and market trends   

50 – Highlights – Fiscal year 2002 compared to

fiscal year 2001

51 – Acquisitions and dispositions

52 – Segment information analysis

52 – Operations

52 – Information and Communications

54 – Automation and Control

56 – Power

57 – Transportation

58 – Medical

59 – Lighting

59 – Corporate, eliminations (Operations) and

reconciliation to financial statements

61 – Financing and Real Estate

62 – Component information – statements

of income

62 – Operations

64 – Financing and Real Estate

65 – Eliminations, reclassifications and

Corporate Treasury

65 – Siemens worldwide

67 – eva performance

68 – Dividend

68 – Liquidity and capital resources

68 – Cash flow

69 – Capital resources and capital requirements

ROAD MAP



i n f o r m at i o n  f o r  s h a r e h o l d e r s   39

77 – Customer financing

78 – Critical accounting policies

81 – Risk management 

84 – Outlook

86 Consolidated statements of income 

88 Consolidated balance sheets 

90 Consolidated statements of cash flow  

92 Consolidated statements of changes in

shareholders’ equity  

94 Segment information  

96 Notes

138 Five-year summary  

140 Positions held by Supervisory Board members 

142 Positions held by Managing Board members 

144 Glossary 



    

40 r e p o r t  o f  t h e  s u p e r v i s o r y  b o a r d

Dear shareholder



r e p o r t  o f  t h e  s u p e r v i s o r y  b o a r d   41

Throughout fiscal 2002, we focused intensively on the Company’s efforts

to deal with the difficult economic environment. We advised the Managing

Board, monitored Company management and were involved in major Compa-

ny decisions. The Managing Board provided us with regular, timely and com-

prehensive information on relevant topics. 

Advisory focal points

At five meetings during the course of the year, the Managing Board reported

to us on business and financial developments at the Company, key business

events and general strategies and planning. Between these meetings, the

Managing Board informed us in writing about important developments. As

Chairman of the Supervisory Board, I was also kept up-to-date on major

issues and upcoming management decisions. In its advisory role, the Super-

visory Board focused its attention on the significance for the Company of the

difficult economic and political environment, the far-reaching structural

changes in the Information and Communications (I&C) area, and the further

development of corporate governance at Siemens. 

The challenge at Information and Communications

In previous years, Siemens’ I&C Groups were major contributors to Company

earnings. Since early in fiscal 2001, however, the I&C market has been caught

up in a profound structural crisis. As a result, our I&C Groups have had to adapt

to new market realities, review their strategies and adjust their capacities. 

At our meeting in November 2001, the Managing Board presented us with

a summary of the market developments in the I&C area and the Company’s

strategic plans for dealing with them. In April 2002, the Presidents of IC Net-
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works and IC Mobile again reported on the status of the measures they have

adopted. We are well aware that the Company still has to master major chal-

lenges in this field and we will continue to keep a close eye on developments.

Spotlight on the U.S. and Asia

Our U.S. activities are vital for our success. In recent years, we have substan-

tially boosted our business volume in the United States – in part through

acquisitions. To strengthen the profitability of our activities in the region, the

Managing Board launched a comprehensive U.S. Business Initiative. In July

2002, we again focused our attention on our U.S. operations. Despite the con-

tinued economic slowdown and the uncertain mood on the capital markets

following September 11, the Company has made substantial progress. We will

continue to closely monitor developments in this key market.

Since the early 1990s, Siemens has intensified its activities in the high-

growth Asia-Pacific region. The Company has now solidly positioned all its

key businesses in the region. The most striking successes have been in China. 

At our request, the Managing Board regularly provides us with special

progress reports on the Company’s Asia-Pacific commitments. These reports,

the most recent of which was presented at our meeting in December 2001,

detail both the risks and the opportunities involved.

At our December 2001 meeting, we also received a special report on Power

Transmission and Distribution (PTD). This Group has further boosted its

innovative strength and solved its previous structural problems. Most impor-

tantly, PTD has succeeded in landing major contracts in Asia for its promising

high voltage direct current (HVDC) transmission technology, marking a

breakthrough in this important region.

Corporate governance further developed

At a number of its meetings, the Supervisory Board dealt with basic issues of

corporate governance. We welcome the introduction of the German Corporate

Governance Code as a key step in the development of management practices

and controls industry-wide. At our July 2002 meeting, we expressed our fun-

damental agreement with the Code’s recommendations. At our November

meeting, we decided to issue a declaration of conformity with regard to the

Code.

We took the Code’s introduction as an occasion to review the principles

and regulations governing the Supervisory Board, the Managing Board, and
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cooperation between the two. We also discussed shareholders’ rights, ques-

tions regarding the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, and general topics includ-

ing transparency, accounting methods and audits. Changes in our Company’s

practices were necessary in only a very few cases. At our July meeting, we

approved an amended version of the Bylaws for the Supervisory Board in

order to bring our current practices and regulations into line with the Code’s

recommendations. The Bylaws now incorporate topics such as the require-

ments for membership on the Supervisory Board of Siemens AG, regulations

for handling potential conflicts of interest, a more precise definition of the

Managing Board’s reporting obligations, a revised catalog of business deci-

sions that require Supervisory Board approval, and the formal establishment

of an Audit Committee. The amended Bylaws for the Managing Board were

also reviewed and approved. 

The Audit Committee took over a number of tasks previously performed

by the Presidency of the Supervisory Board. These include preparing Super-

visory Board reviews of the annual and the consolidated financial statements,

reviewing the quarterly reports, liaising with the Company’s independent

auditors (particularly with regard to awarding the audit contract), defining

the focal points of the audit, determining the fee to be paid to the auditors,

and monitoring the auditors’ independence. In addition, the Audit Committee

was given responsibility for reviewing the budget, which is to be approved by

the Supervisory Board. The Audit Committee also receives reports from the

Company’s internal Financial Audit department.

The Company’s position regarding corporate governance and the funda-

mental structures of the cooperation between the Company’s governing bod-

ies are explained in detail on pages 32 to 37 of this Report and on the Internet.

These structures will be monitored on a regular basis and further developed

as the need arises.

Committee meetings

Between the five regular Supervisory Board meetings held during fiscal 2002,

the Executive Committee of the Supervisory Board maintained close contact

with the Managing Board. As one of the four committees on our Board, the

Executive Committee met six times to address matters relating to corporate

governance, corporate strategy and planning, Managing Board and Group

personnel, Managing Board remuneration (including the issuance of stock

options), major business activities, the appointment of the independent audi-
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tors and the monitoring of their independence, and the definition of the

audit’s focal points.

In the first half of fiscal 2002, the Executive Committee also discussed the

quarterly reports in detail. The Audit Committee took over this function in

April of this year. Upon conclusion of the fiscal year, the Audit Committee also

dealt with the annual and the consolidated financial reports and the proposal

for the net income available for distribution, monitored the Company’s risk

management, and examined and discussed the audit reports with the audi-

tors. The Audit Committee met four times following its formation in April.

The Mediation Committee, formed pursuant to § 27 (3) of the German

Codetermination Act, had no occasion to meet during the year. The Invest-

ment Committee, defined in § 32 of the Act, voted on resolutions using a nota-

tional, or written, voting process and notified the Board of the outcome at

subsequent meetings.

Financial statements

Siemens’ accounting principles, the annual financial statements of Siemens

AG and the consolidated financial statements as of September 30, 2002, as

well as the management’s discussion and analysis of Siemens AG and of

Siemens worldwide consolidated, have been audited and approved without

qualification by KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft AG Wirtschaftsprü-

fungsgesellschaft, Berlin and Frankfurt/Main. The financial statements were

prepared according to U.S. GAAP. The independent auditors have confirmed

that the financial statements and the management’s discussion and analysis

fulfill the conditions for exemption from compliance with the rules of report-

ing stipulated by German law, and that the Managing Board has implemented

an efficient risk management system that meets legal requirements.

We received and examined the above-mentioned documents and the Man-

aging Board’s proposal for the appropriation of the net income available for

distribution. The KPMG audit reports were presented to all members of the

Supervisory Board, and we – together with the auditors, who reported on key

results of the audit – discussed them thoroughly at our balance sheet meet-

ing. At this meeting, the Managing Board explained the annual and the con-

solidated financial statements as well as the risk management system. It also

provided a detailed report on the scope, focal points and costs of the audit. We

approved the results of the audit. In view of our approval, the financial state-

ments are accepted as submitted. 
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We endorse the Managing Board’s proposal that the net income available

for distribution be used to pay a dividend of €1.00 per share, as for fiscal 2001.

In addition, we approve the proposals that the amount attributable to treasury

stock be carried forward and the remainder be transferred to other retained

earnings. 

Changes in the Supervisory Board and the Managing Board

The members of the Supervisory Board were elected to a five-year term at the

Annual Shareholders’ Meeting in 1998. Alfons Graf, Deputy Chairman of the

Supervisory Board, retired from the Board on March 1, 2002. As a member of

the Board since 1988, Mr. Graf has very capably served the Company and its

employees in his capacity as Deputy Chairman of the Board, and as Chairman

of the Central Works Council for many years. The Supervisory Board thanked

Mr. Graf for his constructive work on the Board and for his many years of val-

ued contributions to the Company. His successor as Deputy Chairman is Ralf

Heckmann. By approval of the Munich Registry Court, Werner Moenius was

confirmed as a member of the Board as of March 1.

At our meeting on November 13, 2002, Thomas Ganswindt and Dr. Klaus

Kleinfeld were appointed to the Managing Board of Siemens AG effective

December 1, 2002.

The current Supervisory Board’s term of office will expire on January 23,

2003 – the date of the next Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. I would like to

thank all of the members of the Board – and especially those who will be

leaving in January – for their commitment and constructive contributions

to the Company and its Managing Board over the past five years.

Berlin and Munich, December 4, 2002

For the Supervisory Board

Dr. Karl-Hermann Baumann

Chairman
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Preliminary Note

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were

prepared in accordance with United States Generally

Accepted Accounting Principles (U.S. GAAP).

In order to comply with § 292a of the German Com-

mercial Code (HGB), the consolidated financial statements

were supplemented with management’s discussion and

analysis on a consolidated basis and additional explana-

tions. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements,

which have to be filed with the Commercial Registry

and published in the German Federal Gazette (Bundes-

anzeiger), comply with the Fourth and Seventh Directives

of the European Community. For the interpretation of

these directives we relied on the German Accounting

Standard No. 1 of the German Accounting Standards Com-

mittee.

The consolidated financial statements and manage-

ment’s discussion and analysis as of September 30, 2002,

prepared in accordance with § 292a of the HGB, are being

filed with the Commercial Registries of the Berlin-Charlot-

tenburg and Munich District Courts under the numbers

HRB 12300 and HRB 6684, respectively.

Statement of the Managing Board

The Managing Board of Siemens AG is responsible for

preparing the following consolidated financial statements

and management’s discussion and analysis.

Siemens employs extensive internal controls, Com-

pany-wide uniform reporting guidelines and additional

measures, including employee training and continuing

education, to ensure that its financial reporting is con-

ducted in accordance with accepted accounting principles.

The presidents and chief financial officers (CFOs) of the

Groups as well as the presidents and CFOs of the Siemens

companies have confirmed to us both the correctness of

the financial data they have reported to Siemens’ corpo-

rate headquarters and the functionality of the related

monitoring systems. We continually monitor the compli-

ance with these measures and guidelines, and also the

functionality and reliability of our internal control sys-

tem, through a Company-wide internal audit process. In

addition, we have established a Disclosure Committee that

has evaluated all documents to be disclosed as to their

completeness and conformity with both the provisions of

the Securities and Exchange Act and the rules of the Secu-

rities and Exchange Commission (SEC) in the U.S. and

reported the results of this evaluation to us.

Our risk management system complies with the

requirements of the German Corporation Act (AktG). Our

risk management system is designed to enable the Man-

aging Board to recognize potential risks early on and ini-

tiate timely countermeasures.

In accordance with the resolution made at the Annual

Shareholders’ Meeting, KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-

Gesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft has audited the consoli-

dated financial statements prepared in accordance with

U.S. GAAP and management’s discussion and analysis,

and issued an unqualified opinion.

Together with the independent auditors, the Supervi-

sory Board has thoroughly examined the consolidated

financial statements, management’s discussion and

analysis, and the independent auditors’ report. The result

of this examination is included in the Report of the Super-

visory Board, which begins on page 40 of this Annual

Report.

Dr. Heinrich v. Pierer Heinz-Joachim Neubürger

President and Chief Executive Chief Financial Officer

Officer of Siemens AG of Siemens AG
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Independent auditors’ report

The Supervisory Board of Siemens AG:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated bal-

ance sheets of Siemens AG and subsidiaries, as of Septem-

ber 30, 2002 and 2001, and the related consolidated state-

ments of income, cash flow, and changes in shareholders’

equity for the years then ended. These consolidated finan-

cial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s

management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion

on these consolidated financial statements based on our

audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing

standards generally accepted in the United States of Amer-

ica. Those standards require that we plan and perform the

audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

financial statements are free of material misstatement. An

audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence sup-

porting the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements. An audit also includes assessing the account-

ing principles used and significant estimates made by

management, as well as evaluating the overall financial

statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide

a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements

referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,

the financial position of Siemens AG and subsidiaries as

of September 30, 2002 and 2001, and the results of their

operations and their cash flows for the years then ended

in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial

statements, effective October 1, 2001, Siemens AG adopted

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142,

“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”

Munich, Germany

November 28, 2002

KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft

Aktiengesellschaft

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Prof. Dr. Wiedmann Berger

Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer

(independent auditors)
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Basis of Presentation

Siemens financial results are reported in accordance with

U.S. GAAP. To help shareholders follow our growth and

progress, we use a component model that presents the

activities of our operating business separately from our

financing and real estate activities and the effects of elim-

inations, reclassifications and Corporate Treasury. The

three components of Siemens worldwide are as follows:

n Operations – This component is defined as Siemens’

13 operating groups including corporate headquarters

and excluding the activities of the Financing and Real

Estate segments and Corporate Treasury.

n Financing and Real Estate – This component in-

cludes the Siemens Financial Services group, and the

business of Siemens Real Estate. These businesses

are responsible for our leasing, finance and real estate

management activities.

n Eliminations, reclassifications and Corporate

Treasury – The third component included in our con-

solidated financial statements enhances the trans-

parency of the other components by separately captur-

ing the elimination of transactions among Operations

and Financing and Real Estate, as well as certain

reclassifications. This component also includes our

Corporate Treasury activities.

Beginning October 1, 2001, Siemens adopted the provi-

sions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

(SFAS) 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” and

no longer amortizes goodwill but instead tests it for

impairment. Consistent with this change, EBITA is now

referred to as EBIT. EBIT is measured as earnings before

financing interest, income taxes and certain one time

items. In a concurrent change, EBITA assets are now

reported as Net capital employed. Fiscal 2001 has been

presented on a comparable basis. Additionally, Siemens is

for the first time presenting net cash flow from operating

and investing activities for each segment.

Effective December 2001, we no longer consolidate

Infineon in our financial results. Instead we account for

Infineon as an investment using the equity method.

Accordingly, our net investment in Infineon is included in

our consolidated balance sheet under long-term invest-

ments, and we report our share of Infineon’s net income

or loss in our consolidated income statement as part of

investment income (see notes to the consolidated finan-

cial statements). The consolidated results of operations

and cash flows of Infineon for the first two months of fis-

cal 2002 (before the accounting change occurred) are in

“Eliminations, reclassifications and Corporate Treasury.”

In the prior fiscal year, Infineon was fully consolidated.

Accordingly, we continue to show Infineon as a separate

component in the results for fiscal 2001.

Management’s discussion and analysis

Information and Communications
Information and Communication Networks (ICN)
Information and Communication Mobile (ICM)
Siemens Business Services (SBS)

Medical
Medical Solutions (Med)

Lighting
Osram GmbH

Corporate, Eliminations (Operations)

Operations Financing and Real Estate
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Component

Component Component

Siemens worldwide
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Eliminations, reclassifications

Automation and Control
Automation and Drives (A&D)
Industrial Solutions and Services (I&S)
Siemens Dematic AG (SD)
Siemens Building Technologies AG (SBT)

Power
Power Generation (PG)
Power Transmission and Distribution (PTD)

Transportation
Transportation Systems (TS)
Siemens VDO Automotive AG (SV)

Siemens Financial Services GmbH (SFS)

Se
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en
ts

Se
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis, (MD&A) dis-

cusses the current economic environment and highlights

of fiscal 2002 compared to fiscal 2001. We then present a

summary of acquisitions and dispositions made during

the year, and compare the results of Operations and

Financing and Real Estate for fiscal 2002 with results from

fiscal 2001. We also provide an analysis of the income

statement and Economic Value Added (EVA), and discuss

topics including the dividend, liquidity and capital re-

sources, customer financing, critical accounting policies,

and risk management. The MD&A concludes with our out-

look for the year ahead.

Economic environment and market trends

Siemens has a balanced business portfolio with activities

predominantly in the field of electronics and electrical

engineering. These activities are influenced by a range of

different regional and economic factors. In internationally

oriented long-cycle industries, for example, customers

have multi-year planning and implementation horizons

that tend to be independent of short-term economic

trends. Our activities in this area include power genera-

tion, power transmission and distribution, medical solu-

tions and rail systems. In fields with more industry-spe-

cific cycles, customers tend to have shorter horizons for

their spending decisions and greater sensitivity to current

economic conditions. Our activities in this area include

information and communications, automation and

drives, and lighting. Some activities, especially informa-

tion and communications and medical solutions are also

influenced by technological change and the rate of accept-

ance of new technologies by end users.

Economic conditions during fiscal 2002 were weak on

a global basis, which limited revenue growth opportuni-

ties. Within this context, certain industries and regions

experienced even greater difficulties. For example,

telecommunications carriers are still burdened with sub-

stantial debt, resulting in sharp cutbacks in capital spend-

ing. Another example is the U.S. power generation market,

where a boom in construction of gas turbine power plants

came to a rapid end in fiscal 2002. 

Despite these adverse trends, our net income for the

fiscal year rose 24% to €2.597 billion. Earnings from Oper-

ations and net cash from operating and investing activi-

ties both increased strongly compared to the prior year.

A number of businesses which initiated cost cutting meas-

ures in fiscal 2001 returned to profitability in fiscal 2002,

most notably the ICM wireless communications group.

And at a time when many of our competitors were report-

ing sharply lower revenues, our sales for fiscal 2002 were

nearly unchanged from the prior year on a comparable

basis (excluding the effects of currency exchange, acquisi-

tions and dispositions, which are discussed in detail

below).
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Operation 2003

Our successes in fiscal 2002 are linked to the ongoing

implementation of “Operation 2003,” a set of strategic

programs and initiatives aimed at achieving specific

earnings margin targets for the groups and generating

cash during a period of slow macroeconomic growth. The

five major action areas of Operation 2003 include: 

n Restoring profitability in the Information & Communi-

cations business area; 

n Successfully integrating the businesses acquired from

Atecs Mannesmann into our Siemens Dematic and

Siemens VDO groups;

n Increasing profitability in our U.S. operations, across

the board;

n Continuing to emphasize asset management, so as to

maintain the healthy positive cash flows of the past

two years; and

n Reducing central and group administrative costs.

Execution of these strategic aims is an important part

of our discussion and analysis below, particularly for the

individual operating groups.

As a company domiciled in the European Union,

Siemens uses the euro as its official currency. Because we

conduct much of our business outside the EU, however,

currency translation effects involving the euro and other

currencies can have a noteworthy impact on our reported

results. These effects reduced reported sales by 2% for

Siemens as a whole in fiscal 2002, and reduced reported

new orders also by 2%.

Highlights – Fiscal year 2002 compared 
to fiscal year 2001

n Siemens earned net income for the fiscal year of €2.597

billion, up 24% from €2.088 billion in fiscal 2001. Earn-

ings per share for the fiscal year were €2.92, also up

24% compared to €2.36 a year earlier.

n EBIT from Operations rose to €2.474 billion from

€1.329 billion a year ago. Both periods include charges

against earnings, primarily for severance and asset

write-downs, totaling €1.482 billion in fiscal 2002 and

€1.863 billion in fiscal 2001. Fiscal 2002 also includes

gains of €631 million on sales of businesses. 

n Net income in fiscal 2002 included a tax-free gain of

€936 million on sales of shares in Infineon Technolo-

gies AG as well as our €453 share of Infineon’s net loss

in fiscal 2002. Net income in fiscal 2001 included a

gain of €3.459 billion resulting from the irrevocable

transfer of 93.8 million Infineon shares into our Ger-

man Pension Trust, and a gain of €606 million result-

ing from capital transactions at Infineon that reduced

Siemens’ ownership interest, partially offset by good-

will impairments and charges related to a centrally

managed outsourcing contract, resulting in €2.003 bil-

lion in net gains after taxes.

n Sales decreased 3% to €84.016 billion and orders

decreased 7% to €86.214 billion. Excluding currency

effects and the net effect of acquisitions and disposi-

tions, sales remained level and orders decreased 5%.

n Net cash from operating and investing activities

reached €4.754 billion, up sharply from €1.130 billion

in the prior year. Net cash from operating activities

totaled €5.564 billion, after a €1.782 billion cash con-

tribution to Siemens’ pension trusts in Germany, the

U.S. and the U.K. Investing activities, including

approximately €2.800 billion of net proceeds from

portfolio activities, used €810 million in fiscal 2002.

n Siemens management proposed a dividend of €1.00

per share. The prior year dividend per share was €1.00.

Beginning October 1, 2001, Siemens adopted the provi-

sions of SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”

Accordingly, Siemens no longer amortizes goodwill. Net

income in fiscal 2001 included goodwill amortization of

€562 million, which reduced reported earnings per share

by €0.63. For all periods presented, earnings per share

reflect a stock split, at a ratio of one additional share for

every two shares owned, which took effect on April 30,

2001.
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Acquisitions and dispositions 

Atecs Mannesmann

During fiscal 2002, Siemens undertook several transac-

tions related to the fiscal 2001 acquisition of Atecs

Mannesmann AG (Atecs), a large German automotive

and automation technology group. 

On November 20, 2001, the Company sold Mannes-

mann Sachs AG to ZF Friedrichshafen AG. The disposition

resulted in net proceeds of €716 million. This business

had been accounted for as an asset held for sale, and no

gain or loss was recorded in connection with the disposi-

tion.

In January 2002, Siemens exercised its put option con-

tract, in connection with the Atecs transaction, which gave

Siemens the right to sell Rexroth AG (Rexroth), a wholly

owned subsidiary of Atecs, to Robert Bosch GmbH for an

adjusted equity value of €2.7 billion less proceeds from

businesses already sold to Bosch. The put option was exer-

cisable from January 2002 through December 31, 2002.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2002, Vodafone AG exer-

cised its option to sell to Siemens its 50% minus two

shares stake in Atecs. In connection with this exer-

cise, Siemens made a cash payment of €3.7 billion to

Vodafone AG.

Infineon Technologies AG

On December 5, 2001, we transferred 200 million Infineon

shares or approximately 28.9% of Infineon’s outstanding

share capital to an irrevocable, non-voting trust under a

trust agreement. Under the terms of the trust agreement,

the shares transferred to the trust may not be voted, as we

have irrevocably relinquished our voting rights in those

shares and the trustee is not permitted to vote the shares

it holds in trust. We continue to be entitled to all the bene-

fits of economic ownership of the shares held by the

trustee. The transfer on December 5, 2001 reduced our

voting interest in Infineon by an amount corresponding

to the number of shares transferred. 

During the first quarter of fiscal 2002, the Company

sold 23.1 million shares of Infineon for net proceeds of

€556 million and a tax-free gain of €332 million. In Janu-

ary 2002, the Company sold 40 million shares of Infineon

resulting in net proceeds of €966 million with a resulting

tax-free gain of €604 million. At September 30, 2002 our

ownership interest was 39.7% and our voting interest was

33.3%, which includes the voting interest of Infineon

shares in the Siemens German Pension Trust (Siemens

Pension Trust e.V.).

As we no longer have a majority voting interest in

Infineon, we have from December 2001 no longer in-

cluded the assets and liabilities and results of operations

of Infineon in our consolidated financial statements and

instead account for our ownership interest in Infineon

using the equity method. See notes to the consolidated

financial statements.

Other dispositions

On July 1, 2002, Siemens completed the sale of Unisphere

Networks, Inc. to Juniper Networks, Inc. for a combined

sales price of €376 million cash and €208 million in

Juniper stock. The sale transaction resulted in a pre tax

gain of €421 million. As a result of the transaction

Siemens acquired 9.73% of Juniper Networks common

shares. The Juniper shares held by Siemens are subject to

certain disposal restrictions which limit the amount of

shares which Siemens may sell. 

In September 2002, Siemens completed the sale of sev-

eral business activities to Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co.

L.P. (KKR). KKR took over units that had belonged to the

former Atecs Mannesmann Group: Mannesmann Plastics

Machinery, the gas spring producer Stabilus, Demag

Cranes & Components and the harbor crane unit

Gottwald. As part of the transaction, Siemens also sold the

Metering division of its Power Transmission and Distribu-

tion group, the Ceramics division of its Power Generation

group, and Network Systems, a regional service business

belonging to its Information and Communication Net-

works group. The business activities were sold to a hold-

ing company, called Demag Holding s.a.r.l (Luxembourg).

KKR holds an 81% and Siemens a 19% stake in the holding

company. The gross sales price was €1.69 billion. Taking

into account Siemens’ stake in the holding company as

well as a shareholder note of €38 million, a vendor note of

€215 million and the net debt of €372 million assumed by

KKR, Siemens received net cash proceeds of about €1.0 bil-

lion. The transaction resulted in a pretax gain of €21 mil-

lion and it was treated as a sale of a portfolio of busi-

nesses. However, separate results were allocated to the

operating segments where the sold businesses had previ-

ously resided. As a result, Information and Communica-

tion Networks (ICN) and Power Generation (PG) were

allocated gains of €153 million and €68 million respec-

tively, while Power Transmission and Distribution (PTD)

was allocated a loss of €54 million.

Siemens will account for its 19% interest in Demag

Holding at cost. The governing structure of Demag Hold-

ing provides for KKR to have absolute control over virtu-

ally all operating, financial, and other management deci-

sions, while Siemens’ participation is only passive in

nature. 
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Segment information analysis

Operations 

Information and Communications

Information and Communication Networks (ICN)

The steep plunge in capital expenditures by telecom-

munication network operators, particularly in the U.S.

and Germany, had a direct effect on the carrier switching

business, (consisting of the Wireline Networks, Optical

Networks and Access Solutions divisions) which suffered a

sharp decline in sales and orders and a corresponding

impact on its profitability. The Enterprise Networks divi-

sion reversed its loss in the prior year to stabilize its busi-

ness and post a solid profit in fiscal 2002. For ICN as a

whole, sales in fiscal 2002 fell 25% compared to the prior

year, to €9.647 billion, while orders dropped 31%, to

€8.697 billion. 

Net capital employed decreased from €3.039 billion to

€1.100 billion as a result of ICN’s aggressive working capi-

tal management initiatives, divestments, asset write-

downs and the goodwill impairment at the Access Solu-

tions division related to Efficient. Net cash from operating

activities and investing activities increased significantly

from negative €2.350 billion in fiscal 2001, which included

the acquisition of Efficient Networks, to a positive €711

million, as the efforts just noted more than offset ICN’s

negative ebit for the year. Cash flow will be negatively

affected in future periods due to payments related to the

planned headcount reduction activities described below.

eva in fiscal 2002 was negative, but improved compared to

the prior year due to ICN’s reduction in Net capital

employed.

In fiscal 2001, ICN implemented its Profitability and

Cash Turnaround (PACT) program, which is aimed at cut-

ting costs, consolidating the group’s worldwide manufac-

turing infrastructure and optimizing its business portfo-

lio. In fiscal 2002, the PACT program was expanded to

include a total headcount reduction of approximately

20,500 positions, up from a planned 10,000 positions

announced in fiscal 2001. The reduction in personnel is

expected to be achieved through attrition, early retire-

ment, and voluntary and involuntary terminations.

Fiscal 2001 severance charges totaling €387 million were

incurred related to the termination of employees in loca-

tions worldwide, employed in various functions including

manufacturing and administration. The payout on this

plan was substantially completed in fiscal 2002. In fiscal

2002, additional severance charges of €352 million were

incurred worldwide in connection with the PACT program

for employees in various functions. The majority of this is

expected to be paid out in fiscal 2003. ICN expects addi-

tional expenses in fiscal 2003 to complete the headcount

reduction program.

Continuing difficult conditions in the telecommunica-

tions equipment market had the harshest effect on ICN,

which had ebit of negative €691 million, compared to a

negative €861 million in the prior year. The current year

included €577 million in severance charges and asset

write-downs. Asset write-downs included write-offs of

inventory, receivables and venture capital investments. In

addition, the group recorded a goodwill impairment of

€378 million at the Access Solutions division related to

Efficient Networks, as the market for Efficient’s DSL equip-

ment significantly weakened compared to expectations at

the time ICN acquired the business in fiscal 2001. Partially

offsetting these charges were €634 million in gains pri-

marily related to the sale of businesses, including Uni-

sphere Networks. This figure also includes a gain of €153

million for the sale of ICN’s network systems businesses in

the United Kingdom, France and Italy, which were part of

the portfolio of business activities sold to KKR. The prior

year included severance charges of €387 million and

write-downs of assets totaling €672 million, partially off-

set by €120 million in gains on the sale of investments in

start-up companies. ICN’s ebit in fiscal 2001 does not

include the impairment of goodwill associated with the

Efficient acquisition, as described below in “Reconcilia-

tion to financial statements.” 

ICN Performance Data Year ended 
September 30,

(€ in millions) Change 2002 2001

ebit 20% (691) (861)

ebit margin (7.2)% (6.7)%

Total sales (25)% 9,647 12,882 

New orders (31)% 8,697 12,639 

Net cash from operating 
and investing activities 711 (2,350)

September 30,
2002 2001

Net capital employed 1,100 3,039 

Employees (in thousands) 39 51



m a n a ge m e n t ’s  d i s c u ss i o n  a n d  a n a ly s i s 53

Information and Communication Mobile (ICM) €105 million for severance charges of which nearly half

was paid to employees during the year. The remainder is

expected to be paid out in fiscal 2003. In fiscal 2002, the

division recorded higher provisions on customer financ-

ing receivables, including a €51 million write-off in the

second half of the year associated with a customer serving

Africa and the Middle East. The Cordless Products division

made a significant contribution to ICM’s earnings for the

year. The group’s results for the year also include ICM’s

share amounting to €17 million, of the loss at the Fujitsu

Siemens Computers joint venture. 

For ICM as a whole, sales edged down 2%, to €11.045

billion, and orders declined 3%, to €11.538 billion com-

pared to fiscal 2001. The decline in volume was evident at

the Networks division, as a drop in sales of GSM infra-

structure equipment was not compensated by an increase

in sales of next-generation UMTS equipment. 

Net capital employed decreased from €2.607 billion in

fiscal 2001 to €1.973 billion mainly due to aggressive

working capital management, primarily accounts receiv-

able and inventories. Net cash from operating and invest-

ing activities increased significantly to €594 million in

fiscal 2002 compared to €14 million last year, due to

increased profitability and improved asset management.

Cash flow will be negatively affected in future periods due

to payments related to the planned headcount reduction

activities noted above and due to commitments to extend

customer financing in the Networks division. (For addi-

tional information see “Customer financing”.) eva re-

mained negative, but improved in fiscal 2002 due to posi-

tive earnings and lower Net capital employed.

ICM Performance Data Year ended
September 30,

(€ in millions) Change 2002 2001

ebit 96 (307)

ebit margin 0.9% (2.7)%

Total sales (2)% 11,045 11,299 

New orders (3)% 11,538 11,866 

Net cash from operating 
and investing activities 594 14

September 30,
2002 2001

Net capital employed 1,973 2,607 

Employees (in thousands) 29 30

ICM was back in the black in fiscal 2002, posting ebit of

€96 million compared to a €307 million loss in the prior

year, which included asset write-downs of €441 million.

The Mobile Phones division was primarily responsible for

this turnaround, posting ebit of €82 million compared to

a negative €540 million a year earlier, a period which

included significant charges for asset write-downs, partic-

ularly for excess handset inventories. In fiscal 2002, the

division was especially successful in the mid- and low-end

segment where it introduced a number of new products.

This resulted in an increase in unit sales to 33.3 million

compared to 28.7 million handsets a year earlier. The divi-

sion leveraged this increase in unit volume by signifi-

cantly improving its cost structure within a cost cutting

program initiated in fiscal 2001. In addition to streamlin-

ing marketing and selling activities and improving its

purchasing, the division successfully implemented

design-to-cost strategies, including increased sharing of a

common technology platform across multiple product

lines. 

The Networks division recorded an ebit of €5 million

compared to €435 million in fiscal 2001. During fiscal

2002 the division faced ongoing price erosion and declin-

ing demand for wireless infrastructure products and serv-

ices. In response to these prevailing market conditions,

the division is expanding its “Top on Air” productivity pro-

gram into fiscal 2003, in order to further reduce its costs.

A headcount reduction plan initiated in fiscal 2001 was

expanded during the year to a total targeted reduction of

approximately 4,000 positions worldwide. The reduction

in personnel is expected to be achieved through attrition,

early retirement, and voluntary and involuntary termina-

tions across various functions. ebit in fiscal 2002 included
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Siemens Business Services (SBS) Automation and Control

Automation and Drives (A&D)
SBS Performance Data Year ended 

September 30,
(€ in millions) Change 2002 2001

ebit 101 (259)

ebit margin 1.7% (4.3)%

Total sales (4)% 5,773 6,034

New orders (1)% 6,256 6,303

Net cash from operating 
and investing activities 173 339

September 30,
2002 2001

Net capital employed 264 492

Employees (in thousands) 34 36

ebit at SBS was €101 million in fiscal 2002 compared to

a negative €259 million a year ago. The prior year included

€242 million charges for severance and asset write-downs

and a €44 million gain on a sale of an investment. The sev-

erance charges in fiscal 2001 totaled €196 million as part of

a plan to eliminate 2,200 positions. During fiscal 2002 €140

million of this amount was paid to employees and the

remainder is expected to be paid out in fiscal 2003. The

prior year was also affected by loss provisions relating to

two significant business process outsourcing contracts

totaling €192 million. Management at SBS continues to

focus on risks associated with long-term business process

outsourcing contracts, particularly regarding our long-

term contract with National Savings & Investments in the

U.K. ebit margin at SBS increased to 1.7% in fiscal 2002

compared to negative 4.3% a year ago. Sales slid 4% below

the prior-year level, to €5.773 billion, and orders held

steady at €6.256 billion, despite a difficult market for IT

services. Net capital employed decreased from €492 million

a year ago to €264 million in fiscal 2002 due to working

capital management and lower capital expenditures. Net

cash from operating and investing activities was €173 mil-

lion in fiscal 2002, a period which included the severance

payments noted above. Net cash from operating and invest-

ing activities of €339 million in fiscal 2001 benefited from

higher sales of receivables to Siemens Financial Services

(SFS). eva turned positive in fiscal 2002 due to higher earn-

ings and lower Net capital employed.

A&D Performance Data Year ended 
September 30,

(€ in millions) Change 2002 2001

ebit (26)% 723 981

ebit margin 8.4% 11.0%

Total sales (3)% 8,635 8,947

New orders (4)% 8,728 9,065

Net cash from operating 
and investing activities 1,019 533

September 30,
2002 2001

Net capital employed 2,197 2,619

Employees (in thousands) 51 54

A&D was one of Siemens’ top earnings performers for

the year, delivering €723 million in ebit and an 8.4% ebit

margin. Despite declining sales, A&D’s largest division,

Industrial Automation Systems, was able to maintain a

strong ebit margin. The Large Drives division achieved

higher volume and ebit as it translated large orders into

sales and benefited from productivity measures initiated

in fiscal 2001. ebit also included charges of €26 million,

including headcount reduction in the U.S. and a €10 mil-

lion loss on the sale of an investment. In comparison, ebit

a year earlier was €981 million. ebit in the prior year did

not include an impairment of goodwill associated with the

acquisition of Milltronics, which is discussed in “Reconcil-

iation to financial statements.” Sales for A&D overall slid

3% to €8.635 billion and orders declined 4% to €8.728 bil-

lion, due in part to negative currency effects and weak

demand in the Americas, particularly in the U.S. Net capi-

tal employed decreased from €2.619 billion to €2.197 bil-

lion due to improvements in working capital manage-

ment, particularly regarding inventories and accounts

receivable. This development also drove the improvement

in net cash from operating and investing activities, which

almost doubled from €533 million to €1.019 billion. eva

was positive, but lower than in the prior year.
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Industrial Solutions & Services (I&S) Siemens Dematic (SD)

I&S Performance Data Year ended 
September 30,

(€ in millions) Change 2002 2001

ebit (198) 97

ebit margin (4.4)% 2.1%

Total sales (2)% 4,480 4,563

New orders (16)% 4,120 4,881

Net cash from operating 
and investing activities (107) (39)

September 30,
2002 2001

Net capital employed 315 487

Employees (in thousands) 29 30

SD Performance Data Year ended 
September 30,

(€ in millions) Change 2002 2001

ebit 45 (59)

ebit margin 1.5% (2.3)%

Total sales 19% 2,995 2,520

New orders 23% 2,810 2,281

Net cash from operating 
and investing activities (70) 261

September 30,
2002 2001

Net capital employed 975 957

Employees (in thousands) 12 12

I&S battled weakness in the market for industrial solu-

tions, posting ebit of negative €198 million for the year

compared to a positive €97 million in fiscal 2001. I&S took

€152 million in charges for severance programs and

capacity adjustments in fiscal 2002 primarily at the Indus-

trial Services division, which turned negative after solid

earnings in fiscal 2001. Reduced investments by major

customers in the industrial sector resulted in a sharp

decline in volume at the Metals, Mining and Paper Tech-

nologies division as well as at the Infrastructure and

Marine Solutions division. These declines resulted in neg-

ative ebit, including severance charges for both busi-

nesses after positive earnings a year ago. The severance

charges in fiscal 2002 totaled €118 million for a plan to

eliminate approximately 1,600 positions. During fiscal

2002, €35 million of this amount was paid to employees,

with the remainder scheduled for payment in fiscal 2003.

Sales fell 2%, to €4.480 billion, while orders declined

16%, to €4.120 billion in part due to greater selectivity

regarding new business. Net capital employed decreased

to €315 million due in part to higher liabilities and lower

inventories, compared to €487 million in the prior year.

Net cash from operating and investing activities

decreased from a negative €39 million to a negative €107

million, due to decreased profitability and lower sales of

receivables to SFS. I&S’s cash flow will be negatively

affected in future periods due to payments related to the

planned headcount reduction activities noted above. eva

turned negative primarily due to lower profitability.

SD posted ebit of €45 million compared to a negative

€59 million a year earlier, when the group recorded signif-

icantly higher contract loss provisions and other charges

totaling €95 million. In contrast, SD was profitable in all

four quarters of fiscal 2002, as the group successfully inte-

grated the Dematics businesses acquired from Atecs. The

Material Handling division increased profitability at its

U.S. operations through improved project management.

The division also lowered contract loss provisions particu-

larly in Europe as it increased overall productivity. The

Postal Automation division returned to profitability. In

contrast, ebit of the Electronics Assembly Systems divi-

sion turned negative compared to positive earnings a year

ago, primarily due to a prolonged and deepening slump

in the market for telecommunications equipment, affect-

ing demand for its pick and place equipment. ebit margin

for the group improved to a positive 1.5%, compared to

the negative level in the prior-year.

Sales of €2.995 billion and orders of €2.810 billion

were 19% and 23% higher than in fiscal 2001, respectively,

primarily because the prior period included only five

months’ consolidation of the Dematic businesses. On a

comparable basis, sales and orders declined year-over-

year, reflecting the slowdown at the Electronics Assembly

Systems division. Net capital employed was nearly

unchanged at €975 million. Cash from operating and

investing activities was a negative €70 million compared

to a positive €261 million in the prior year, as customer

prepayments decreased significantly and the group made

payments for previously accrued contract loss provisions.

Higher earnings helped improve SD’s eva, which is still

negative.
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Siemens Building Technologies (SBT) Power

Power Generation (PG)
SBT Performance Data Year ended 

September 30,
(€ in millions) Change 2002 2001

ebit 48% 195 132

ebit margin 3.5% 2.4%

Total sales 2% 5,619 5,518

New orders 1% 5,601 5,549

Net cash from operating 
and investing activities 295 49

September 30,
2002 2001

Net capital employed 1,778 2,241

Employees (in thousands) 36 37

SBT increased its ebit to €195 million in fiscal 2002

from €132 million a year earlier. Prior-year results

included charges primarily at the Fire and Safety division

in the U.S., together with costs associated with the closure

of certain facilities and related headcount reduction at the

Building Automation and Fire and Safety divisions. ebit

margins improved as the group focused on higher-mar-

gin projects, and reorganized at the Fire & Security Prod-

ucts division.

Orders and sales for SBT overall were up 1% and 2%,

respectively, to €5.601 billion and €5.619 billion, as

increases at Building Automation and acquisition-related

increases at Security Systems were offset by decreases at

Facility Management. The decrease in Net capital employed

from €2.241 billion to €1.778 billion was due to improve-

ments in working capital and reductions in property, plant

and equipment. The improvement in net cash from oper-

ating and investing activities, from €49 million to €295

million, was a result of lower capital expenditures as well

as decreases in inventories, increases in accounts payable

and improvements in accounts receivable management.

eva increased but remains negative.

PG Performance Data Year ended 
September 30,

(€ in millions) Change 2002 2001

ebit 150% 1,582 634

ebit margin 16.7% 7.4%

Total sales 10% 9,446 8,563

New orders (13)% 10,586 12,219

Net cash from operating 
and investing activities 662 2,045

September 30,
2002 2001

Net capital employed (144) (1,020)

Employees (in thousands) 26 26

PG led all Siemens groups with €1.582 billion in ebit

and an ebit margin of 16.7%, compared to €634 million in

ebit and a 7.4% margin a year earlier. ebit for fiscal 2002

included income of approximately €100 million from the

net effect of updated estimates of project completion per-

formance, a gain from the sale of a business included in

the portfolio of business activities which Siemens sold to

KKR, fees derived from customer cancellation of orders,

which were partially offset by charges related to planned

consolidation of manufacturing capacity. Further consoli-

dation-related charges may be incurred in fiscal 2003

depending on market developments.

Sales increased 10% year-over-year, to €9.446 billion.

Much of the increase reflected the conversion of past

orders to current revenues. The sales trend slowed signifi-

cantly over the course of the year, especially in the fourth

quarter. Orders decreased 13% to €10.586 billion, as U.S.

demand for gas turbines, which began slowing in the sec-

ond quarter, came to a virtual halt by the fiscal year’s end.

PG’s backlog dropped from €26 billion, including approxi-

mately €11 billion of reservations, at the end of the prior

year to €20 billion at September 30, 2002, including

approximately €5 billion in reservations. During the year,

PG converted €4.1 billion of reservations to confirmed

orders.
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Net capital employed rose from negative €1.020 billion

to negative €144 million, as prior customer prepayments

were translated into project inventories and not replaced

with new prepayments. This same trend also affected

net cash from operating and investing activities, which

decreased from €2.045 billion a year ago to €662 million

in fiscal 2002. Cash flow will be impacted in future

periods due to expected lower customer prepayments.

Excellent profitability more than offset negative trends

in lower customer prepayments, and contributed to PG’s

improved eva.

Power Transmission and Distribution (PTD)

Transportation

Transportation Systems (TS)

PTD Performance Data Year ended 
September 30,

(€ in millions) Change 2002 2001

ebit 14% 109 96

ebit margin 2.6% 2.4%

Total sales 4% 4,199 4,053

New orders 14% 4,429 3,887

Net cash from operating 
and investing activities 149 (331)

September 30,
2002 2001

Net capital employed 928 994

Employees (in thousands) 17 21

TS Performance Data Year ended 
September 30,

(€ in millions) Change 2002 2001

ebit 33% 247 186

ebit margin 5.7% 4.6%

Total sales 9% 4,367 4,021

New orders (7)% 5,247 5,647

Net cash from operating 
and investing activities 95 752

September 30,
2002 2001

Net capital employed (741) (932)

Employees (in thousands) 17 14

PTD reported €109 million in ebit despite a loss of €54

million on the sale of its Metering division, which was

included in the portfolio of business activities sold by

Siemens to KKR. ebit in the prior year was €96 million.

Fiscal 2002 earnings were driven primarily by strong per-

formance at the High Voltage, Medium Voltage and Power

Automation divisions. ebit for the current fiscal year

included charges of €34 million primarily for a severance

program. Sales rose 4%, to €4.199 billion, and orders

climbed 14%, to €4.429 billion, benefiting from a large

order booked early in the year. Sales growth slowed at the

end of the year due to slowing activity in the U.S. power

market. Net capital employed decreased slightly to €928

million due to improvements in working capital and the

sale of the Metering division. Working capital improve-

ments also had a positive effect on net cash from operat-

ing and investing activities, which increased by €480

million to €149 million. The prior year’s cash flow was

impacted by acquisitions. eva was negative, due primarily

to the loss on the sale of the Metering division.

TS increased its ebit 33% to €247 million compared to

€186 million a year earlier. ebit margin rose to 5.7% for

the year compared to 4.6% last year. Sales climbed 9%, to

€4.367 billion, as TS converted large prior year orders into

current year sales. Orders of €5.247 billion were 7% lower

than in fiscal year 2001, when TS booked a large railcar

order valued at approximately €1.6 billion. This year’s new

orders included a high-speed rail link in the Netherlands

for €404 million, a turnkey subway system in Bangkok for

€356 million and a 14-year, full-service contract for main-

tenance of high-speed trains in Spain for €305 million.

The group’s backlog stood at €11.2 billion at year-end,

level with the end of the prior year. Net capital employed

increased from a negative €932 million to a negative €741

million as TS used advance payments for project invento-

ries. Net cash from operating and investing activities

decreased from €752 million to €95 million, due to lower

advance payments. The rate at which TS receives advance

payments for customer projects will have an impact on its

cash flow in future periods. eva increased on higher prof-

itability due to improved productivity and an increased

focus on higher-margin projects.
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Siemens VDO Automotive (SV) Medical

Medical Solutions (Med)
SV Performance Data Year ended 

September 30,
(€ in millions) Change 2002 2001

ebit 65 (261)

ebit margin 0.8% (4.6)%

Total sales 49% 8,515 5,702

New orders 49% 8,515 5,702

Net cash from operating 
and investing activities 224 (89)

September 30,
2002 2001

Net capital employed 3,746 3,605

Employees (in thousands) 43 44

SV turned in a profitable year, with ebit of €65 million

compared to a negative €261 million in fiscal 2001, as its

integration and consolidation programs, initiated last

year, showed results. SV benefited from a €56 million gain

on the sale of its Hydraulik-Ring business in fiscal 2002

and from the effects of its cost-reduction program initi-

ated in fiscal 2001. The relative improvement in ebit

also benefited from the fact that fiscal 2002 included 12

months of results from the automotive operations

acquired from Atecs, while fiscal 2001 included only five

months. The prior year included €90 million in asset

write-downs split between losses on the divestment of the

group’s wiring harness business and write-downs of

investments. The current year included charges for write-

downs of certain intangible assets. Sales and orders of

€8.515 billion were 49% higher than in fiscal 2001, largely

reflecting full-year inclusion of the Atecs businesses com-

pared to five months in the prior year.

Net capital employed increased from €3.605 billion to

€3.746 billion due to increased capital spending especially

for manufacturing equipment for Diesel technology. Net

cash from operating and investing activities improved

from negative €89 million to positive €224 million, due

mainly to €107 million in proceeds from the sale of

Hydraulik-Ring and to the improvement in earnings.

Higher earnings also improved eva, which remained

negative.

Med Performance Data Year ended 
September 30,

(€ in millions) Change 2002 2001

ebit 26% 1,018 808

ebit margin 13.4% 11.2%

Total sales 6% 7,623 7,219

New orders 0% 8,425 8,444

Net cash from operating and 
investing activities 1,124 86

September 30,
2002 2001

Net capital employed 3,414 3,844

Employees (in thousands) 31 30

Med achieved a new high in earnings with ebit of

€1.018 billion, 26% higher than the €808 million earned

in fiscal 2001. Gross profit increased, particularly in the

group’s imaging systems divisions, driven by productivity

improvements in connection with new products. ebit

margin rose more than two percentage points, to 13.4%.

Med’s imaging systems businesses also drove sales

growth of 6% to €7.623 billion compared with the prior

year. Delayed investment decisions in new technologies by

customers of the Health Services division combined with

order increases at the imaging systems divisions, to result

in stable order development for the year at €8.425 billion.

Net capital employed decreased from €3.844 billion to

€3.414 billion due to improvements in accounts receivable

management. Cash from operating and investing activi-

ties was €1.124 billion, up from €86 million in the prior

year which included the acquisition of Acuson. Cash from

operating and investing activities improved on increased

profitability and asset management. Higher earnings on

decreased assets increased eva.
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Lighting

Osram

Corporate, eliminations (Operations) and 

reconciliation to financial statements

Corporate, eliminations (Operations) and Reconciliation

to financial statements include various categories of items

which are not allocated to the groups, because the Manag-

ing Board has determined that such items are not indica-

tive of group performance. These include certain non-

recurring, one-time charges or gains and results from

centrally managed projects. In addition, Corporate, elimi-

nations (Operations) includes corporate costs such as

domestic pension-related income or expense, certain cor-

porate-related derivative activities, and centrally held

equity investments, business units and corporate proj-

ects. Reconciliation to financial statements includes vari-

ous items excluded by definition from ebit.

Corporate, eliminations

Corporate, eliminations consists of four main compo-

nents: corporate items, consisting primarily of corporate

expenses; investments earnings (losses), which include

our share of earnings (losses) from equity investments

held centrally; non-allocated pension-related income

(expense); and “eliminations, other”. ebit for Corporate,

eliminations as a whole was a negative €1.183 billion com-

pared to a negative €320 million a year ago.

Corporate items decreased to €671 million in fiscal

2002 from €838 million in 2001, driven primarily by

reduction in corporate expenses.

Investment earnings were a negative €16 million com-

pared to a positive €253 million a year earlier. The current

period includes gains on the sale of two centrally held

investments totaling €133 million, which were more than

offset by Siemens’ equity share of Infineon’s net loss in

fiscal 2002. Fiscal 2001 includes a loss on the sale of a

domestic equity and debt security fund of €209 million,

which was more than offset by gains of €227 million on

the sale of available-for-sale-securities.

Osram Performance Data Year ended 
September 30,

(€ in millions) Change 2002 2001

ebit (21)% 365 462

ebit margin 8.4% 10.2%

Total sales (4)% 4,363 4,522

New orders (4)% 4,363 4,522

Net cash from operating 
and investing activities 284 349

September 30,
2002 2001

Net capital employed 2,436 2,485

Employees (in thousands) 35 35

Osram generated €365 million in ebit compared to

€462 million a year earlier, a period that included €54 mil-

lion in non-operating gains. ebit margin was also lower,

at 8.4%, but that level still ranked among the highest of

the groups. Sales of higher-margin products at the Auto-

motive Lighting division resulted in a solid improvement

in ebit margin which were more than offset by margin

erosion in particular in the Opto-semiconductors division.

Sales and orders slid 4%, to €4.363 billion, reflecting eco-

nomic weakness particularly in Osram’s large U.S. market.

Net capital employed decreased slightly to €2.436 bil-

lion, compared to €2.485 billion in the prior year. Net cash

from operating and investing activities decreased from

€349 million to €284 million. eva decreased on lower

earnings, but was still strongly positive.
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Non-allocated pension-related income (expense) was a

negative €250 million compared to a positive €279 million

in the prior year. This line item was negatively affected by

changes in pension trust net asset values, lower return

assumptions, and increased amortization expense related

to the underfunding of our pension trusts.

“Eliminations, other” was negative €246 million in fis-

cal 2002 compared to negative €14 million in the prior

year. Fiscal 2002 primarily includes charges of €146 mil-

lion related to the sale of a portfolio of businesses to KKR

and charges of €70 million relating to the write-off of cen-

trally held investments. Fiscal 2001 included €78 million

in expenses on centrally managed litigation, €74 million

in corporate interest expense in part related to the Atecs

acquisitions and €63 million in severance charges. Offset-

ting these items in fiscal 2001 were a gain of €114 million

related to currency effects and the treatment of derivative

contracts not qualifying for hedge accounting, and a gain

of €162 million resulting from the positive resolution of

certain asset-disposal contingencies.

Reconciliation to financial statements

Other interest expense: Other interest expense for fiscal

2002 was €96 million, compared to €304 million in fiscal

2001, a period which included interest expense on a tem-

porary €3.6 billion liability related to the acquisition of

Atecs. Lower interest expense in the current period

reflects lower interest rates and lower payments on intra-

company financing (see “Liquidity and capital resources”

below).

Goodwill amortization and purchased in-process

R&D expense: In fiscal 2001, Siemens recorded €665 mil-

lion in goodwill amortization and purchased IPR&D

expenses of Operations. IPR&D of €126 million derived

from the acquisitions of Acuson, Efficient and Atecs.

Gains on sales and dispositions of significant busi-

ness interests: Gains on sales and dispositions of signifi-

cant business interests in fiscal 2002 include gains of

€936 million resulting from the sale of 23.1 million Infi-

neon shares during the first quarter and an additional

40 million shares in the second quarter. Both transactions

took place on the open market.

Included in gains on sales and dispositions of signifi-

cant business interests in fiscal 2001 was a €3.459 billion

pre-tax gain as a result of the irrevocable transfer of

93,825,225 shares of Infineon to the Siemens German

Pension Trust. We also recorded a €484 million gain

resulting from an additional capital offering by Infineon,

achieved through the sale of 60 million of its shares in the

fourth quarter of fiscal 2001. Following an earlier capital

increase at Infineon, achieved through acquisitions, we

recorded an aggregate gain of €122 million. Siemens did

not participate in these capital increases or receive any

proceeds from them.

The €3.459 billion pre-tax gain on the contribution of

the Infineon shares in April 2001 to the Siemens German

Pension Trust was a non-cash item; the total amount

recorded was based upon the market price of Infineon

shares at the date of the transfer. The business purpose

of the contribution of the Infineon shares to this pension

trust was to shore up an already existing under-funded

position in the pension trust, ahead of substantial new

pension obligations arising from our acquisition of Atecs

in the third quarter of fiscal 2001. As part of the purchase

price, Siemens assumed Atecs’ unfunded pension obliga-

tions. In addition, the transfer of Infineon shares repre-

sented a further step towards meeting our long-stated

goal of disposing of our interest in Infineon over time.

While U.S. pension plans subject to the U.S. Employment

Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) are

restricted in the amount of securities they are permitted

to own in the employer or its affiliates to 10% of plan

assets, the Siemens German Pension Trust is not subject

to such ERISA provisions.

Other special items: Other special items in fiscal 2001

included charges totaling €927 million taken for impair-

ment of goodwill relating to acquisitions made by ICN and

A&D. These charges are not included in ebit from Opera-

tions. They include a charge of €746 million resulting

from the impairment of goodwill associated with the

acquisition by ICN of Efficient Networks, Inc, a provider of

DSL equipment in the United States. Shortly after the

acquisition of Efficient, worldwide demand for DSL prod-

ucts contracted sharply. Additionally, the total charges

include €181 million for impairment of goodwill primarily

associated with the acquisition by A&D of Milltronics, Ltd.

For more information see notes to the consolidated finan-

cial statements.
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Also included in special items in fiscal 2001 is a write-

down of €258 million of inventories and other assets in

connection with a long-term, centrally managed produc-

tion and outsourcing contract for a border control system

in Argentina. This contract, originally entered into by SBS,

was canceled by government decree.

Lower tax rates enacted by the tax reform passed in

Germany in October 2000, and the consequent adjust-

ment of Siemens’ deferred tax balances at October 1, 2000,

resulted in a one-time reduction of €222 million in

income tax expense in fiscal 2001.

Financing and Real Estate

Siemens Financial Services (SFS)

SFS Performance Data Year ended 
September 30,

(€ in millions) Change 2002 2001

Income before income taxes 37% 216 158

Total sales 21% 582 481

Net cash from operating 
and investing activities 282 (496)

September 30,
2002 2001

Total assets 8,681 9,501

Employees (in thousands) 1 1

Earnings before income taxes rose 37% at SFS, to €216

million, positively influenced by strong investment

income in the Equity division, especially equity earnings

from an investment in a power station in Indonesia and

the sale of an investment in Portugal. Higher net interest

income and lower provisions in the Equipment & Sales

Financing division contributed significantly to the

group’s earnings improvement. Earnings before income

taxes for SFS in fiscal 2001 were €158 million. Sales in-

creased 21%, to €582 million from €481 million in fiscal

2001. Sales primarily represent lease revenues from oper-

ating leases and do not reflect the bulk of the group’s busi-

ness in capital leases and other financing activities. Total

assets decreased from €9.501 billion to €8.681 billion in

fiscal 2002, primarily at the Equipment & Sales Financing

division, especially due to the division’s factoring business

and significant foreign exchange effects.

Net cash from operating activities and investing activi-

ties increased significantly, from negative €496 million in

fiscal 2001 to a positive €282 million primarily due to the

above-mentioned asset reductions at the Equipment &

Sales Financing division. eva improved due to the

increase in earnings.
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Siemens Real Estate (SRE) Component information – 
statements of income

Operations

The following table presents selected income statement

information for the Operations component:

Operations Year ended 
September 30,

(in millions of €) 2002 2001

Net sales from operations 83,127 82,427

Gross profit on sales 22,805 22,235

as percentage of sales 27.4% 27.0%

Research and development expenses (5,650) (5,427)

as percentage of sales (6.8)% (6.6)%

Marketing, selling and general
administrative expenses (15,083) (15,559)

as percentage of sales (18.1)% (18.9)%

Other operating income (expense), net 326 (118)

Income (loss) from investments
in other companies, net (142) (24)

Income from financial assets
and marketable securities, net 124 263

Interest income (expense) 
of Operations, net 94 (41)

ebit 2,474 1,329

as percentage of sales 3.0% 1.6%

SRE Performance Data Year ended 
September 30,

(€ in millions) Change 2002 2001

Income before income taxes 8% 229 213

Total sales 5% 1,612 1,542

Net cash from operating 
and investing activities 309 393

September 30,
2002 2001

Total assets 4,090 3,791

Employees (in thousands) 2 2

SRE earned €229 million before income taxes on sales

of €1.612 billion, up from €213 million and €1.542 billion,

respectively, a year earlier. The group’s improved earn-

ings were primarily due to increased profitability on

higher sales related to real estate management and lease

administration activities, which more than offset a reduc-

tion in gains from the disposal of real estate compared to

the prior year. Total assets increased from €3.791 billion to

€4.090 billion in fiscal 2002, due to the assumption of con-

trol of most of SBT’s real estate properties in fiscal 2002.

Net cash from operating and investing activities de-

creased from €393 million in fiscal 2001 to €309 million.

eva improved due to the increase in earnings.

Net sales from Operations increased 1% to €83.127 bil-

lion compared to €82.427 billion a year earlier. The net

effect of acquisitions and dispositions contributed 4% to

this development, reflecting primarily the inclusion of the

VDO and Dematic businesses beginning in May 2001. Rev-

enues were negatively affected by foreign currency effects

of 2%, primarily involving exchange rates between the

U.S. dollar and the euro. Positive contributions primarily

from PG, TS and Med as well as additions from the integra-

tion of the VDO and Dematic businesses were offset by

declining sales at ICN, ICM, SBS as well as A&D.
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Gross profit as a percentage of sales was 27.4% com-

pared to 27.0% in the prior year. Higher productivity led to

significantly higher gross margins at PG and Med. SV’s

gross margin increased in part due to the full year consol-

idation of the acquired Atecs businesses and an improved

cost position. SBS increased its gross margin in compari-

son to fiscal 2001, a year which included severance

charges and higher loss contract accruals. In contrast,

A&D’s gross profit margin declined in fiscal 2002 due in

part to margin erosion and warranty charges. I&S

recorded a lower gross margin in fiscal 2002 due prima-

rily to severance charges. See the analysis above for fur-

ther comments on the individual groups.

Research and development expenses (R&D) increased

4% to €5.650 billion in fiscal 2002, reflecting our ongoing

commitment to R&D in a wide variety of areas. R&D

spending as a percentage of sales was 6.8% compared to

6.6% a year earlier, driven by increased R&D spending at

SV and Med, and by stable R&D investments at ICN and

ICM relative to declining sales.

Marketing, selling and general administrative

expenses decreased 3% to €15.083 billion compared to last

year, and declined as a percentage of sales from 18.9% to

18.1%. Reduced outlays for marketing lowered expenses

at ICN, ICM and A&D, while higher sales drove higher

expenses at PG and Med. The current year included lower

provisions for accounts and loans receivable, while the

prior year included higher loans receivable provisions

including a write-down of a loan related to Winstar Com-

munications, Inc.

Other operating income (expense), net was a positive

€326 million compared to a negative €118 million last

year. The current period includes a €421 million gain on

the sale of Unisphere Networks by ICN, a €60 million non-

recurring gain at ICN, a €56 million gain on the sale of

Hydraulik-Ring by SV, a €21 million gain from the sale of a

portfolio of business activities to KKR, and contract can-

cellation penalties received by PG. Offsetting these gains

was a €378 million impairment related to Efficient Net-

works at ICN’s Access Solutions division. The prior period

included a loss on the divestment of a business at SV.

Income (loss) from investments in other companies,

net was a negative €142 million compared to a negative

€24 million in the prior year. The current year includes

Siemens’ equity loss relating to Infineon, offset by a €133

million gain on the sale of two investments. The prior

year included a loss of €209 million on the sale of a cen-

trally managed investment and higher charges and

expenses resulting from write-downs of venture capital

and equity investments at ICN and SV.

Income from financial assets and marketable securi-

ties, net was a positive €124 million compared to a posi-

tive €263 million in the last year. The current year was

positively affected by higher gains related to the treat-

ment of derivative contracts not qualifying for hedge

accounting. Last year included a gain of €227 million on

the sale of marketable securities from Siemens’ centrally

managed equities portfolio, a gain of €44 million from the

sale of an investment at SBS, as well as gains of €120 mil-

lion from the sale of venture capital investments at ICN,

offset by €184 million in charges from write-downs of

marketable securities, that suffered a material decline in

value which we have determined to be other than tempo-

rary.

Interest income (expense), net of Operations was €94

million compared to net interest expense of €41 million a

year earlier, primarily due to declining interest rates and

lower average interest-bearing liabilities.



64 m a n a ge m e n t ’s  d i s c u ss i o n  a n d  a n a ly s i s

ebit from Operations for fiscal 2002 was €2.474 billion,

compared with €1.329 billion for fiscal 2001 reflecting the

factors noted above. Both periods included charges of

€1.482 billion and €1.863 billion, respectively, primarily

for severance programs and asset write-downs. ebit mar-

gin increased to 3.0% compared to 1.6% in fiscal 2001.

Other interest expense for fiscal 2002 was €96 million,

compared to €304 million in fiscal 2001, a period which

included interest expense on a temporary €3.6 billion lia-

bility related to the acquisition of Atecs. Lower interest

expense in the current period reflects lower interest rates

and lower payments on intracompany financing (see

“Liquidity and capital resources” below).

In fiscal 2001, Siemens recorded €665 million in good-

will amortization and purchased IPR&D expenses of Oper-

ations. IPR&D of €126 million derived from the acquisi-

tions of Acuson, Efficient and Atecs.

Gains on sales and dispositions of significant business

interests in fiscal 2002 include gains of €936 million re-

sulting from the sale of 23.1 million Infineon shares dur-

ing the first quarter and an additional 40 million shares

in the second quarter. Both transactions took place on the

open market. Gains on sales and disposition of significant

business interests in the prior year included a gain of

€3.459 billion resulting from the irrevocable transfer of

93.8 million Infineon shares into the Siemens German

Pension Trust, and a gain of €606 million resulting from

capital increases at Infineon.

Other special items in fiscal 2001 included goodwill

impairments of €927 million related to Efficient and Mil-

tronics, and a €258 million write-down of inventories and

assets associated with the cancellation of a centrally man-

aged outsourcing contract in Argentina.

Financing and Real Estate 

The following table presents selected income statement

information for the Financing and Real Estate component:

Financing and Real Estate Year ended 
September 30,

(in millions of €) 2002 2001

Sales 2,186 2,016

Gross profit on sales 476 435

Marketing, selling and general
administrative expenses (282) (297)

Other operating income, net 151 143

Income from investments
in other companies, net 44 37

Income (expense) from financial  
assets and marketable securities, net (25) (15)

Other interest income, net 81 68

Income before income taxes 445 371

Sales from Financing and Real Estate for the fiscal year

2002 increased 8% to €2.186 billion compared to fiscal

2001. The increase is attributable predominantly to the

Equipment & Sales Financing division at SFS and the

assumption of SBT’s real estate property at SRE. Marketing,

selling and general administrative expenses decreased

€15 million to €282 million. Other operating income, net

was €151 million compared to €143 million last year.

Income from investments in other companies, net

increased from €37 million to €44 million in fiscal 2002,

reflecting in part strong investment earnings at SFS’

Equity division. Income (expense) from financial assets

and marketable securities, net was a negative €25 million

compared to a negative €15 million in the prior year. For

fiscal 2002, other interest income, net was €81 million

compared to €68 million in fiscal 2001. As a result, income

before income taxes for the fiscal year 2002 increased to

€445 million compared to €371 million for fiscal 2001.
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Eliminations, reclassifications and 

Corporate Treasury 

This component of Siemens worldwide includes results of

intra-Siemens activity by our Corporate Treasury, which

provides corporate finance and treasury management

services to our Operations component (excluding Infi-

neon Technologies AG) and to our Financing and Real

Estate component. It also includes eliminations of activity

conducted between those two components, and reclassifi-

cation of financial items which are associated with Opera-

tions but not included in ebit from Operations. Since

December 2001, Infineon has been accounted for under

the equity method. The results of Infineon for the first two

months of fiscal 2002, a loss of €115 million, are included

in Eliminations, reclassifications and Corporate Treasury.

To the extent that Infineon provided products and services

to the Operations groups in the prior year, when Infineon

was still consolidated in Siemens’ results, those effects are

eliminated here as well.

Reclassifications in fiscal 2002 include gains of €936

million resulting from the Infineon share sales mentioned

above, reclassified from gains on sales and disposition of

significant business interests to other operating income

for Siemens worldwide. Fiscal 2001 includes reclassifica-

tion of €665 million in goodwill amortization and pur-

chased IPR&D, with €126 million in IPR&D related to the

acquisitions of Acuson, Atecs and Efficient reclassified as

research and development expense for Siemens world-

wide and the remainder consisting of goodwill amortiza-

tion reclassified into other operating expense. Reclassifi-

cations from gains on sales and disposition of significant

business interests in fiscal 2001 include the €3.459 billion

gain from transferring shares of Infineon to the Siemens

German Pension Trust and the €606 million gain from

capital increases at Infineon, both reclassified to other

operating income. Reclassification of other special items

includes the €927 million in Efficient and Milltronics

impairments, reclassified as other operating expense for

Siemens worldwide, and the €258 million write-down

related to the contract in Argentina, reclassified into cost

of goods sold.

Siemens worldwide

The following table presents selected income statement

information for Siemens worldwide:

Siemens worldwide Year ended 
September 30,

(in millions of €) 2002 2001

New orders 86,214 92,528

New orders in Germany 17,812 18,921

International orders 68,402 73,607

Sales 84,016 87,000

Sales in Germany 18,102 19,144

International sales 65,914 67,856

Gross profit on sales 23,206 23,105

as percentage of sales 27.6% 26.6%

Research and development expenses (5,819) (6,782)

as percentage of sales (6.9)% (7.8)%

Marketing, selling and general 
administrative expenses (15,455) (16,640)

as percentage of sales (18.4)% (19.1)%

Other operating income, 
net 1,321 2,762

Income (loss) from investments 
in other companies, net (114) 49

Income from financial assets and 
marketable securities, net 18 173

Interest income (expense) of 
Operations, net 94 (32)

Other interest income, net 224 43

Income before income taxes 3,475 2,678

Income taxes (849) (781)

as percentage of income
before income taxes 24% 29%

Minority interest (29) 191

Net income 2,597 2,088

New orders in fiscal 2002 decreased from €92.528 bil-

lion to €86.214 billion. Orders in Germany decreased 6%

to €17.812 billion, while international orders decreased 7%

to €68.402 billion in this year. Sales for the fiscal year

2002 decreased 3% to €84.016 billion. Sales in Germany

decreased 5% to €18.102 billion, while international sales

decreased 3% to €65.914 billion. International business

accounts for approximately 80% of Siemens’ total volume.
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Orders in the U.S. for the fiscal year decreased 14% to

€21.205 billion and sales decreased 4% to €20.288 billion.

The difference between sales and order trends in the U.S.

was driven primarily by the end of the gas turbine boom.

In Asia-Pacific, orders decreased 8% to €10.092 billion and

sales decreased 13% to €9.668 billion. China continued to

account for the largest share of sales in the region, con-

tributing €3.223 billion. In Europe outside Germany,

orders decreased 5% and sales increased 2%.

Gross profit margin in fiscal 2002 increased by one

percentage point to 27.6% from 26.6% in the prior year, a

period which included full-year consolidation of Infi-

neon’s low gross profit margin. Higher gross profit mar-

gins at PG, Med, SV and SBS in the current year were offset

by lower margins primarily at A&D and I&S. Gross profit

in fiscal 2001 also included the effect of the €258 million

write-down related to Argentina.

Research and development (R&D) expenses decreased

from €6.782 billion to €5.819 billion compared to prior

year. R&D spending represented 6.9% of sales, compared

to 7.8% last year. Included in R&D expenses for the prior

year are IPR&D charges of €126 million related to Opera-

tions, as well as R&D expenses of €1.189 billion relating to

Infineon.

Marketing, selling and general administrative

expenses were €15.455 billion in fiscal 2002 compared to

€16.640 billion in fiscal 2001. This figure represents 18.4%

of sales, compared to 19.1% last year. The majority of the

decrease is attributable to the deconsolidation of Infi-

neon, effective December 2001. In the prior year Infineon

contributed €786 million to the total. Operations also con-

tributed to the decrease of marketing, selling and general

administrative expenses, due to reduced outlays for mar-

keting and lower provisions for accounts and loans receiv-

able.

Other operating income (expense) net was €1.321 bil-

lion compared to €2.762 billion last year. The current

period includes gains of €936 million resulting from

Infineon share sales, the €421 million gain on the sale of

Unisphere Networks by ICN, the €60 million non-recur-

ring gain at ICN, the €56 million gain on the sale of

Hydraulik-Ring by SV, the gain from the KKR transaction,

and contract cancellation penalties received by PG. Offset-

ting these gains was the €378 million impairment at ICN’s

Access Solutions division related to Efficient Networks.

The prior year included the €3.459 billion pre-tax gain

from the transfer of Infineon shares to the Siemens Ger-

man Pension Trust, the €606 million gain related to capi-

tal increases at Infineon, and the €927 million in goodwill

impairments related to the acquisitions of Efficient and

Milltronics. Also included in other operating expense in

fiscal 2001 is €562 million of goodwill amortization.

Beginning October 1, 2001, Siemens adopted the provi-

sions of SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,”

and no longer amortizes goodwill.

The effective tax rate on income for the fiscal year 2002

was approximately 24%, which was positively impacted by

the tax-free sales of Infineon shares. The effective tax rate

on income for fiscal 2001 was approximately 29%, which

was also positively impacted by the tax-free sale of a part

of our interest in Infineon as well as lower income tax

rates mandated in fiscal 2001 by the tax reform passed in

Germany in October 2000. This resulted in a one-time

reduction of €222 million in income tax expense resulting

from the adjustment of Siemens’ deferred tax balances at

October 1, 2000. Both periods included negative tax

impacts from non-deductible goodwill impairments.
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eva performance 

During fiscal 2002, Siemens continued its enterprise-wide

focus on economic value added (eva). We tie a significant

portion of our executive incentive compensation to

achieving eva targets.

eva is a financial performance measurement of the

value created or destroyed by a business. In simple terms,

it compares the profitability of a business against the cost

of capital used to run that business. We use this measure

of performance in addition to income before income taxes

and ebit, because those measures focus on results without

taking into consideration the cost of capital employed in

the business. In this manner, eva complements ebit. For

each group in Operations, the eva calculation begins with

Siemens’ central management assessment of the risk-

adjusted cost of capital for the group. This amount is then

multiplied by the Net capital employed for the group, and

the result is subtracted from net operating profit after

taxes to arrive at eva. A positive eva means that a business

has earned more than its cost of capital, and is therefore

defined as value-creating. A negative eva means that a

business is earning less than its cost of capital and is

therefore defined as value-destroying.

Because the two major components of Siemens – Oper-

ations and Financing and Real Estate – are fundamentally

different from each other, we adjust our calculations of

eva accordingly. In the case of Operations, we use ebit as

the base measure and apply a flat tax charge of 35% for

calculating net operating profit. We calculate the percent-

age cost of capital for each group by taking the weighted

average of the after-tax cost of debt and equity of Siemens

and apply an adjustment factor, which takes into account

the specific risks associated with the particular business.

In fiscal 2002, management’s determination of the cost of

capital for the groups within Operations ranged from 8%

to 10%. This percentage is applied against average net

operating assets in order to determine capital cost. In the

case of Financing and Real Estate, we take income before

taxes as the base measure and again apply a flat tax rate of

35% to arrive at income after taxes. From this result we

deduct the cost of capital, which is calculated by multiply-

ing the percentage cost of capital (as determined by

Siemens management) by the risk-adjusted equity allo-

cated to the Financing and Real Estate component. Other

organizations that use eva as a measure of financial per-

formance may define and calculate eva differently.

Siemens worldwide realized a positive eva of €617 mil-

lion in fiscal 2002, compared to a negative €743 million in

fiscal 2001.

eva calculation 
(in millions of €) 2002 2001

Operations 

ebit from Operations 2,474 1,329

Taxes and other (933) (332)

Net operating profit after taxes 1,541 997

Net capital employed 
(at September 30) 15,755 18,613

Financial adjustments/average 
calculation(1) 6,960 8,801

Average net operating assets 22,715 27,414

Capital cost (2,061) (2,524)

Operations (520) (1,527)

Financing and Real Estate

Income before income taxes 445 371

Taxes and other (133) (110)

Net operating profit after taxes 312 261

Equity 1,850 1,790

Capital cost (165) (158)

Financing and Real Estate 147 103

Eliminations, reclassifications 
and Corporate Treasury 54 45

Siemens excluding Infineon (319) (1,379)

eva for Infineon(2) (1,368)

Siemens worldwide 
before adjustment (319) (2,746)

Adjustment for certain centrally 
recorded gains/charges(3) 936 2,003

Siemens worldwide 617 (743)

(1) The term “net operating assets” is the same as Net capital employed
except for the effects of financial adjustments and the fact that aver-
age net operating assets are calculated as the average total of four
fiscal quarters with a time lag of one quarter.

(2) In fiscal 2002 eva for Infineon is included in eva for Operations.
(3) Centrally recorded gains in fiscal 2002 represent gains on the sale of

shares in Infineon. Prior year items included a gain of €3.459 billion
resulting from the transfer of Infineon shares into the Siemens Ger-
man Pension Trust, and a gain resulting from capital increases at Infi-
neon, partially offset by goodwill impairments and charges related to
a centrally managed outsourcing contract.
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Dividend 

Siemens AG, the parent company of all businesses dis-

cussed in this report, recorded a net income under Ger-

man accounting principles of €1.009 billion for fiscal

2002, compared to €899 million in the previous year.

At the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting scheduled for

January 23, 2003, the Managing Board, in agreement with

the Supervisory Board, will submit the following proposal:

to pay €1.00 per share as a dividend, which aggregates to a

total payout of €890 million. The prior year dividend was

also €1.00 per share.

Liquidity and capital resources 

Cash flow

The following discussion adheres to our component

model of reporting and includes an analysis of cash flow

and related balance sheet effects in our Operations and

Financing and Real Estate components.

Net cash provided by the operating activities of the

Operations component for the fiscal year 2002 totaled

€4.277 billion compared to €5.885 billion in fiscal 2001.

Cash flow from operating activities for fiscal 2002

included €1.782 billion in supplemental cash contribu-

tions to Siemens’ pension trusts. Before the contribution,

cash provided from operating activities of Operations in

fiscal 2002 was €6.059 billion. Changes in net working

capital (current assets less current liabilities) provided

€1.019 billion in the current fiscal year compared to cash

provided of €3.523 billion in fiscal 2001. The current year

period reflects positive cash flows from the reduction of

inventories particularly at ICN, ICM and PG, while the

prior year experienced an increase in inventories.

Accounts receivable were reduced at ICN, ICM, A&D, TS

and Med, and accounts payable decreased, following a sig-

nificant increase in fiscal 2001. Cash flow from customer

prepayments at PG and TS within other liabilities declined

significantly compared to an increase in the prior year

and are expected to decrease further in fiscal 2003. Sever-

ance programs initiated in fiscal 2001 and expanded in

fiscal 2002 will negatively impact cash flow from operat-

ing activities over approximately the next two years.

Net cash used in investing activities within Operations

was €250 million, compared to net cash used of €4.519 bil-

lion in fiscal 2001. Capital expenditures excluding acquisi-

tions were €3.412 billion, €1.051 billion lower than in pre-

vious fiscal year. Cash used for acquisitions was €3.787

billion compared to €3.898 billion in the prior year. The

current fiscal year included a €3.657 billion payment to

complete the Atecs-Mannesmann transaction initiated

in fiscal 2001. Cash used in acquisitions in the prior year

included a €1 billion initial deposit for Atecs and €2.38

billion for the acquisitions of Acuson and Efficient. Pro-

ceeds from the sales and dispositions of businesses in fis-

cal 2002 totaled €6.097 billion, including sales of Rexroth,

Sachs, the portfolio of businesses sold to KKR, Unisphere,

Hydraulik-Ring and €1.522 billion related to Infineon.
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Proceeds from sales of long-term investments, intangibles

and property plant and equipment totaled €801 million

compared to €3.454 billion in the prior year, a period

which included €2.555 billion in proceeds from the sale

of a domestic equity and debt security fund.

Net cash provided by operating activities within the

Financing and Real Estate component for the fiscal year

2002 was €558 million compared to €654 million in fiscal

2001. Higher net income was offset by a net increase in

working capital.

Net cash used by investing activities in Financing and

Real Estate was €100 million compared to net cash used of

€870 million a year earlier. This development was driven

by decreases of finance receivables, primarily related to

leasing, compared to a significant increase in the prior

year. Fiscal 2001 included higher proceeds, net of collec-

tions, from the sale of accounts receivable by SFS, includ-

ing asset securitization using SieFunds amounting to

€866 million. During fiscal 2002, collections on previously

sold accounts receivable outpaced new sales by €607 mil-

lion.

Net cash provided by operating activities of Siemens

worldwide totaled €5.564 billion in fiscal 2002 compared

to €7.016 billion in fiscal 2001. Cash provided by operating

activities for fiscal 2002 included €1.782 billion in supple-

mental cash contributions to Siemens’ pension trusts.

Changes in net working capital provided €1.323 billion

of cash in fiscal 2002 compared to €4.328 billion in fiscal

2001. This decrease was due primarily to the effect of

receivable sales and lower liabilities in fiscal 2002.

Net cash used in investing activities of Siemens world-

wide was €810 million in fiscal 2002 compared to net cash

used of €5.886 billion last year. Capital expenditures

including the purchase of investments and excluding

acquisitions were €4.226 billion, down €3.532 billion

compared to €7.758 billion a year earlier, a period which

included €2.578 billion in capital expenditures at Infineon.

Net cash provided by operating and investing activities

of Siemens worldwide was €4.754 billion compared to net

cash provided of €1.130 billion a year earlier.

Net cash used by financing activities for Siemens

worldwide was €859 million compared to net cash used of

€95 million in fiscal 2001. The current period included the

payment of dividends of €888 million and €847 million

for repayment of debt. The prior year period included the

proceeds received through the issuance of two bonds with

a total volume of €4 billion shown in Corporate Treasury,

partially offset by dividends of €1.412 billion, which

included a bonus dividend and repayments of debt

amounting to €976 million.

For Siemens worldwide, total net cash provided by

operating activities of €5.564 billion, less net cash used in

investing and financing activities of €1.669 billion as well

as the deconsolidation of Infineon and currency transla-

tion effects, resulted in €3.394 billion increase in cash and

cash equivalents, to €11.196 billion.

Capital Resources and Capital Requirements

Siemens is committed to a strong financial profile, charac-

terized by a conservative capital structure which gives us

excellent financial flexibility.

Our current corporate credit ratings from Moody’s

Investors Service and Standard & Poor’s are noted below:

Moody’s
Investors Standard &

Service Poor’s

Long-term debt Aa3 AA–

Short-term debt P-1 A–1+

Recently, the rating agencies have focused more specif-

ically on an assessment of liquidity risk. Moody’s most

recent liquidity risk assessment for Siemens as of June 20,

2002, classified the liquidity profile of the Company as

“very healthy.”

Capital resources at September 30, 2002 included €11.2

billion in cash and cash equivalents. Corporate Treasury

generally manages cash and cash equivalents for the

entire Company, except in countries where local capital

controls require otherwise. At September 30, 2002 Corpo-

rate Treasury managed approximately 90% of Siemens’

worldwide cash and cash equivalents. Corporate Treasury

carefully manages placement of cash and cash equivalents

subject to strict credit requirements and counterparty
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limits. Another €399 million is held in available-for-sale

marketable securities, including shares in Epcos AG and a

portion of our interest in Juniper Networks, Inc. In addi-

tion, our remaining shares in Infineon had a market value

of approximately €1.6 billion based on the share price at

September 30, 2002. In addition to these capital resources,

SFS has established structures for raising funds through

the sale of accounts receivable, either by issuing asset-

backed securities under our SieFunds program or by sell-

ing portfolios of receivables directly to banks. Siemens

continues to place a high priority on managing cash flows

from operating and investing activities.

Capital requirements include normal debt service and

regular capital spending. Approximately €2.1 billion of

debt including €94 million of commercial paper is sched-

uled to become due in fiscal 2003. Capital spending

prgrams have been reduced in line with more difficult

market conditions. In addition, the deconsolidation of

Infineon at the end of the first quarter of fiscal 2002,

which had accounted for a substantial percentage of over-

all capital expenditures of Siemens worldwide, has re-

sulted in considerably lower capital expenditures com-

pared with previous periods. We plan capital expenditures

for property, plant and equipment for the coming fiscal

year to be slightly above current depreciation expense of

approximately €2.9 billion for fiscal 2002. Our sharehold-

ers’ equity at September 30, 2002 was €23.521 billion, a

decrease of €291 million since September 30, 2001. (See

also the discussion of pension plan funding below.) We

have authorization from our shareholders to repurchase

up to 10% of our outstanding shares at any time until July

16, 2003. We have no plans to exercise this authorization

except to provide shares to be offered to employees as

stock options.

Principal Sources of Liquidity

Our principal source of liquidity is cash flow from operat-

ing and investing activities, totaling €4.754 billion in fis-

cal 2002 after supplemental contributions of €1.782 bil-

lion to Siemens’ pension funds. Strong cash flows are

complemented by the substantial capital resources noted

above. We further strengthened our financial flexibility

through a set of backstop facilities, commercial paper pro-

grams, and a medium-term note program. The backstop

facilities consist of €4.4 billion in unused committed lines

of credit. We recently raised the limits for our commercial

paper programs, under which we typically issue instru-

ments with a maturity of less than 90 days, to U.S.$3.0 bil-

lion in the U.S. domestic market and €3.0 billion in the

euro market. The amount outstanding under all commer-

cial paper programs was €94 million at September 30,

2002. We recently raised the limits for our euro market

medium-term note program to €5.0 billion. The amount

outstanding under this program was €1.624 billion at Sep-

tember 30, 2002

Our unused backstop facilities are available in the

unlikely event that we are unable to access commercial

paper or medium-term notes markets. The backstop facili-

ties at our disposal include a U.S.$3.0 billion multi-cur-

rency revolving loan facility expiring May 2007 provided

by a syndicate of international banks, an aggregate of €1

billion revolving loan facility expiring February 2004 pro-

vided by two domestic banks, and a €400 million revolv-

ing loan facility expiring in July 2006 provided by a

domestic bank. The U.S $3.0 billion backstop facility was

established during the third quarter of fiscal 2002 and

replaced a U.S.$2.0 billion facility. Each of the backstop

facilities denominated in euros contains a standard Mate-

rial Adverse Change clause of the type typically included

in low-risk backstop facility agreements, whereas the new

backstop facility denominated in U.S. dollars does not

contain such a clause.
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Neither our commercial paper and medium-term note

programs nor our backstop facilities have specific finan-

cial covenants such as rating triggers or interest coverage,

leverage or capitalization ratios that could trigger reme-

dies, such as acceleration of repayment or additional col-

lateral support, except in the case of nonpayment of

amounts when due.

In addition to the above-described sources of liquidity,

we constantly monitor funding options available in the

capital markets as well as trends in the availability and

cost of such funding, with a view to maintaining excellent

financial flexibility and limiting undue repayment risks.

Financing and Real Estate is also a key component in

managing the financial affairs of the Company. As noted

above, SFS has raised funds either by issuing asset-backed

securities under our SieFunds program, or by selling

portfolios of receivables directly to banks. In fiscal 2002

the Company limited the amount of outstanding accounts

receivable under both alternatives to about €1 billion. Due

to our ample capital resources we do not anticipate fur-

ther use of this funding option in the near term. A full

disussion of receivable securitization activities is provided

below under “Asset securitization and sales of receiv-

ables.”

Contractual Obligations and 

Commercial Commitments

In the ordinary course of business, Siemens’ primary con-

tractual obligations regarding cash involve debt service as

well as operating lease commitments. Other commercial

commitments, including primarily guarantees of credit of

third parties, are contingent upon the occurrence of spe-

cific events. Commercial commitments also include guar-

antees involving customer financing arrangements and

our SieFunds program. Following is a detailed discussion

of these contractual obligations and commercial commit-

ments.

The following table summarizes contractual obliga-

tions for future cash outflows as of September 30, 2002. 

Payments due by period
(in millions of €)

Less
Contractual than 1–3 4–5 After
obligations Total 1 year years years 5 years

Debt 12,346 2,103 3,173 3,729 3,341

Operating
leases 2,496 400 753 517 826

Total 
contractual
cash obligations 14,842 2,503 3,926 4,246 4,167
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Debt – At September 30, 2002, Siemens worldwide had

€12.346 billion of short- and long-term debt, of which

€2.103 billion will become due within the next 12 months.

Included in short-term debt is €94 million of commercial

paper, reflecting all amounts outstanding under our com-

mercial paper programs, therefore limiting refinancing

risk. The remainder is represented by bonds and other

loans from banks coming due within the next 12 months.

At September 30, 2002, the weighted average maturity of

our bonds and notes due after one year was 4.8 years. At

September 30, 2001, total debt was €12.610 billion. (Fur-

ther information about the components of debt is given

in notes to the consolidated financial statements.)

Debt for Siemens worldwide at September 30, 2002

consisted of the following:

Our notes and bonds contain no specific financial

covenants such as rating triggers or interest coverage,

leverage or capitalization ratios that could trigger a

requirement for early payment or additional collateral

support, except in the case of nonpayment of interest or

principal.

Our Corporate Treasury has primary responsibility for

raising funds in the capital markets for the entire Com-

pany, including the Financing and Real Estate component,

except in countries with conflicting capital market con-

trols. In these countries, the Siemens subsidiary compa-

nies obtain financing primarily from local banks. Corpo-

rate Treasury lends funds via intracompany financing to

the Operations and Financing and Real Estate compo-

nents. This intracompany financing together with intra-

company liabilities between the components is shown

under intracompany liabilities in the balance sheets.

Under this approach, at September 30, 2002, €7.871 billion

of such intracompany financing was directly attributable

to the Financing and Real Estate component and the

remainder to the Operations component. At September

30, 2002 the Financing and Real Estate component addi-

tionally held €175 million and €436 million in short-term

and long-term debt, respectively, from external sources.

In fiscal 2000 Siemens Nederland N.V. as the owner of

the underlying shares of stock of Infineon Technologies

AG issued €2.5 billion of 1% exchangeable notes due in

2005. For fiscal years 2001 and 2002 this debt was

recorded under Corporate, Eliminations (Operations).

Beginning fiscal 2003 this debt is recorded under Corpo-

rate Treasury.

The capital structure of the Financing and Real Estate

component at September 30, 2002 consisted of the

following:

(€ in millions) Short-Term Long-Term

Notes and bonds 330 9,307

Loans from banks 1,461 152

Other financial indebtedness 272 535

Obligations under capital leases 40 249

Subtotal 2,103 10,243

Total debt 12,346

September 30,
2002 2001

(€ in millions) SFS SRE SFS SRE

Assets 8,681 4,090 9,501 3,791

Allocated equity 930 920 870 920

Total debt 6,730 1,751 7,419 1,347

Therein intracompany
financing 6,469 1,402 7,099 1,128

Therein debt from 
external sources 261 349 320 219

Debt to equity ratio 7.24 1.90 8.53 1.46
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Both Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s view Siemens

Financial Services as a captive finance company. These

ratings agencies generally recognize and accept higher

levels of debt attributable to captive finance subsidiaries

in determining long-term and short-term credit ratings.

The allocated equity for SFS is determined and influ-

enced by the respective credit ratings of the rating agen-

cies and by the expected size and quality of its portfolio of

leasing and factoring assets and equity investments and

is determined annually. This allocation is designed to

cover the risks of the underlying business and is in line

with common credit risk management standards in bank-

ing. The actual risk profile of the SFS portfolio is moni-

tored and controlled monthly and is evaluated against the

allocated equity.

Operating leases – At September 30, 2002, the Com-

pany had a total of €2.496 billion in total future payment

obligations under non-cancellable operating leases.

The following table summarizes contingent commer-

cial commitments as of September 30, 2002.

Guarantees – Guarantees are principally represented

by performance bonds, guarantees of advances received

related to long-term contracts and those issued in connec-

tion with long-term vendor financing arrangements (see

also “Customer financing” below). In our project busi-

nesses, we will also selectively provide credit or perform-

ance guarantees related to projects involving third-party

participants. The €3.138 billion total in the table above

includes €455 million in customer financing guarantees

and €137 million in guarantees related to our SieFunds

program. In the event that it becomes probable that

Siemens will be required to satisfy these guarantees, pro-

visions are established. Most of the guarantees have fixed

or scheduled expiration dates, and in actual practice such

guarantees are rarely drawn. Guarantees also include an

amount of €767 million at September 30, 2002 related to

the sale of our defense electronics business in 1998,

reduced from €1.5 billion at September 30, 2001.

Other commercial commitments – The Company has

commitments related to customer financing arrange-

ments represented by approved but unutilized loans and

guarantees of approximately €936 million at September

30, 2002. (See “Customer financing” below.) Siemens also

has commitments to make capital contributions of €112

million through Siemens Project Ventures (SPV) in con-

nection with investments whose primary goal is the devel-

opment of infrastructure projects. At September 30, 2002,

Siemens had a small portfolio of nine infrastructure proj-

ects, seven in the power business and two in the telecom-

munications business. The largest such commitment

relates to Jawa Power, a power generation project in

Indonesia. In connection with such projects, Siemens pur-

chases insurance that covers certain specific project risks,

particularly political risks. At September 30, 2002, the net

equity investment in these projects totaled approximately

€250 million. Other than capital contributions, Siemens

has no other commercial commitments related to these

projects.

Amount of commitment expiration 
per period (€ in millions)

Total 
Other amounts Less
commercial com- than 1–3 4–5 After
commitments mitted 1 year years years 5 years

Lines of credit 222 222

Guarantees 3,138 2,648 250 19 221

Other 
commercial 
commitments 1,387 571 350 207 259

Total 4,747 3,441 600 226 480

Lines of Credit – At September 30, 2002, Siemens pro-

vided SieFunds with a liquidity line of €222 million in sup-

port of SFS’ asset securitization activities. SieFunds has

additional arrangements for liquidity lines from third

parties independent of Siemens.
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We also have commitments to make capital contribu-

tions totaling €251 million to certain project companies

and to venture capital investments. Other commercial

commitments also include €51 million in discounted bills

of exchange and €37 million in collaterals and other com-

mitments.

Provisions – In the ordinary course of business

Siemens establishes various types of provisions. As of Sep-

tember 30, 2002 provisions for contract losses totaled

approximately €1.0 billion. Accrued contract losses relate

primarily to the groups PG (€290 million), TS (€130 mil-

lion), ICN (€116 million), SBS (€80 million), ICM (€73 mil-

lion) and SD (€71 million). For all accrued contract losses,

we anticipate that the cash outflows for labor, materials,

contract penalties and related costs on such contract

losses will occur predominately over the next two fiscal

years.

Asset securitization and sales of receivables

Although not a principal source of liquidity for Siemens,

asset securitization, together with limited direct sales of

receivables to banks, are a supplemental enhancement to

our financing strategy and demonstrate an aspect of our

flexible funding approach. The Company limited the

amount of outstanding accounts receivable under both

alternatives to about €1 billion. Due to our ample capital

resources we do not anticipate further use of this funding

option in the near term.

Asset securitization involves the repackaging of

accounts receivable into securities that are sold in the

commercial paper market. This involves the separation of

the credit risk of the accounts receivable from the credit

risk of the originator (i.e., Siemens) through the sale of

the accounts receivable to a non-consolidated special pur-

pose entity. To fund the purchase price payable to the orig-

inator, the special purpose entity issues commercial

paper. The commercial paper is secured by and repaid

with the future cash flows generated by the accounts

receivable. To increase investor confidence in the securiti-

zation the originator (seller) of the accounts receivable

generally retains a subordinated interest in the receiv-

ables equivalent to estimates of potential loss exposure.

Such subordinated interests also enhance the credit rating

of the commercial paper issued. For accounts receivable

originated by Siemens, this interest amounts to approxi-

mately €50 million at September 30, 2002 compared to

€65 million at September 30, 2001. Retained interests are

collected by Siemens after the underlying receivables are

settled.

Additionally, Siemens provides a transaction-specific

letter of credit to SieFunds for possible losses exceeding

the amount of the retained interests in receivables origi-

nated by Siemens and third parties. Furthermore,

Siemens also provides a program-wide letter of credit

which covers additional contingent liabilities. At Septem-

ber 30, 2002, these letters of credit amounted to €137 mil-

lion compared to €243 million at September 30, 2001. We

believe the likelihood is remote that these letters of credit

would be accessed. Both letters of credit are included in

the total amount of guarantees noted above.

Finally, Siemens provides liquidity lines to SieFunds.

In the unlikely event that SieFunds could not obtain refi-

nancing in the commercial paper market, Siemens has

agreed to lend SieFunds an amount covering this liquidity

risk exceeding the amount of the transaction-specific let-

ter of credit noted above and liquidity support provided by

third parties. These liquidity lines amounted to €222 mil-

lion at September 30, 2002 compared to €849 million at

September 30, 2001. We believe, however, based on histor-

ical experience that the likelihood that SieFunds would

draw down these liquidity lines is remote.
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The SieFunds structure includes two types of special

purpose entities. The first entity purchases the accounts

receivable and meets the accounting criteria for a qualify-

ing special purpose entity (QSPE). A qualifying entity’s

activities must be restricted to passive investment in

financial assets and issuance of beneficial interests in

those assets. The second SieFunds entity is a multi-seller

commercial paper conduit which purchases beneficial

interests in the accounts receivable of the QSPE and

finances these purchases by issuing commercial paper.

This second entity is not a QSPE. SFS is the administrator

of both the commercial paper conduit and the QSPE.

Under current U.S. GAAP, neither of these special purpose

entities are consolidated in Siemens’ consolidated finan-

cial statements. Proposals currently under consideration

by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)

would change the criteria for consolidation of such enti-

ties by their administrator and/or the seller of the receiv-

ables. As Siemens currently assumes both of these roles

for SieFunds, such changes if adopted by the FASB, would

require Siemens to consolidate SieFunds in its current

structure in the future.

At September 30, 2002, SieFunds held accounts receiv-

able originated by Siemens of €249 million compared to

€815 million at September 30, 2001. The commercial

paper issued by SieFunds have always received the highest

available ratings from Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s of

A-1+ and P-1, respectively.

Pension plan funding

Pension benefits provided by Siemens are currently

organized primarily through defined benefit pension

plans which cover virtually all of our domestic employees

and many of our foreign employees. In order to fund

Siemens’ obligations under the defined benefit plans, our

major pension plans are funded with assets in segregated

pension trusts. These assets are managed by specialized

asset managers. In general, the asset allocation is based

on pension asset and liability studies and is reviewed on a

regular basis. Siemens has established consistent report-

ing standards for the respective pension plans.

Funding status – At September 30, 2002, the overall

funding status shows an underfunding of €5.0 billion,

as the projected benefit obligation (PBO) of €19.5 billion

exceeded the fair value of plan assets which totals €14.5

billion. The further increase in underfunding compared

to September 30, 2001, is due primarily to a negative

actual return on plan assets of €1.2 billion including a

negative actual return on plan assets related to the

Siemens German Pension Trust of €0.7 billion, as a result

mainly of the negative performance of international equi-

ties markets in the second half of fiscal 2002 which more

than offset the positive development earlier in fiscal 2002.

To reduce the funding gap, the Company made voluntary

contributions in cash of €1.8 billion to the pension trusts

in Germany, the U.S. and the U.K. in September 2002. In

October 2002, Siemens made additional supplemental

contributions of €0.8 billion, thereof €0.4 billion in cash

and €0.4 billion in real estate, resulting in an overall sup-

plemental funding of €2.6 billion.

Further funding – Funding decisions for the group’s

pensions plans are made based upon due consideration of

developments affecting plan assets and pension liabilities

as well as minimum funding requirements and local tax

deductibility.
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Taking into account an existing prepaid pension asset,

the underfunding led to the recognition of an additional

minimum liability adjustment as of September 30, 2002

of €8.973 billion. Of this amount, €8.863 billion (€5.412

billion net of tax) was recorded in accumulated other com-

prehensive income as a separate component of sharehold-

ers’ equity and €110 million was recorded as an intangible

asset.

Asset allocation –  As of September 30, 2002, 46% of

the worldwide plan assets were invested in fixed income

securities compared to 31% as of September 30, 2001,

and 33% in equities compared to 61% as of September 30,

2001. Only 3% of the worldwide plan assets (5% of domes-

tic plan assets) were invested in approximately 87 million

shares of Infineon Technologies AG. As of September 30,

2002 and 2001, 13% and 2%, respectively, of the worldwide

pension plan assets were held in cash and 8% and 6%,

respectively, in real estate assets.

In addition to the reduced valuation levels of equities,

the reduced level of worldwide plan assets invested in

equities was mainly driven by the Siemens German Pen-

sion Trust, which changed its asset allocation during fis-

cal 2002 in the light of the adverse developments in the

international equity markets. The percentage of domestic

plan assets invested in equities was reduced from 58% at

the beginning of fiscal 2002 to 20% at the end of fiscal

2002, whereas the percentage of domestic plan assets

invested in fixed income securities was increased from

36% at the beginning of fiscal 2002 to 58% at the end of

fiscal 2002.

Net periodic pension cost – In fiscal 2002 total net

periodic pension cost including service cost was €447 mil-

lion (including €183 million for the domestic pension

plans) compared to total net periodic pension income of

€51 million (including €259 million net periodic pension

income for the domestic pension plans) in the prior fiscal

year. The increase in net periodic pension cost is mainly

attributable to the domestic pension plans. As of Septem-

ber 30, 2001, unrecognized losses of the domestic pension

plans exceeded the 10% corridor limitation. These losses

are amortized into expense over fifteen years, resulting

in €212 million in expense for fiscal 2002. Additionally,

we adjusted the expected return on plan assets for the

Siemens German Pension Trust from 9.5% in fiscal 2001 to

8.25% in fiscal 2002 in order to reflect an expected decline

in future long-term investment performance as well as to

allow for the reduced investment in equities. In combina-

tion with a decreased asset base this had a negative effect

on net periodic pension expenses of €184 million.

Based on the determined actuarial assumptions, net

periodic pension expense in fiscal 2003 will increase by

approximately €550 million. The negative development of

pension costs is due primarily to a further decline in the

expected rate of return on plan assets for the most signifi-

cant pension benefit plans as a result of adjustments in

the overall asset allocation in combination with lower

market expectations. The weighted-average expected rate

of return decreases from 8.0% in fiscal 2002 to 6.8% in

fiscal 2003 (for the Siemens German Pension Trust the

decrease was from 8.25% to 6.75%).

For further information regarding pension and post-

retirement benefits, see notes to the consolidated finan-

cial statements.
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Customer financing

The table above presents customer financing commit-

ments requiring approval of Siemens’ Corporate Execu-

tive Committee of the Managing Board at September 30,

2002 and September 30, 2001.

Siemens’ strong financial profile enables us to selec-

tively provide customers with financing. We also selec-

tively assist customers in arranging financing from vari-

ous third-party sources, including export credit agencies.

This has historically been an important competitive

advantage in such long-cycle businesses as power genera-

tion, transportation, and telecommunications. We also

provide direct vendor financing and grant guarantees to

banks in support of loans to Siemens customers and we

may enter into a combination of the above arrangements.

We evaluate such financing requirements on a very selec-

tive basis; we have forgone and will continue to forgo new

business contracts if the financing risks are not justifiable

relative to the rewards. Due to significantly lower levels of

capital spending at most major telecommunications oper-

ators, however, requests for such financing have

decreased.

Total loans and guarantees Thereof
Loans Guarantees

September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30,
(in € billions) 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001

Approved commitments 2.5 2.5 1.9 1.6 0.6 0.9

Utilized 1.6 1.7 1.1 1.0 0.5 0.7

Not utilized 0.9 0.8 0.8 0.6 0.1 0.2

Commitments under negotiation –  0.8 –  0.8 –  – 

Total 2.5 3.3 1.9 2.4 0.6 0.9

According to our credit approval process, the Corpo-

rate Executive Committee of the Managing Board must

approve all customer financing projects of the Operations

groups that exceed €25 million for customers with an

investment-grade financing risk and €12.5 million for

customers with a non-investment financing risk. In

reviewing requests for such financings, which generally

carry a substantially higher risk element than is incurred

in the ordinary course of our business, we take into

account various business aspects as well as financial risk

factors. The financial risk factors are analyzed under a

comprehensive standard risk assessment model compara-

ble to those used by international banks. Such models are

primarily driven by the rating of the customer. Absent a

rating, we internally assess the credit-worthiness of the

customer and the feasibility of the particular project, pro-

vided the cash flow of the project will be the primary

source for the debt service. SFS conducts this risk assess-

ment independent of the Operations groups, in support of

the decision-making role of the Corporate Executive Com-

mittee. The Operations groups retain overall business

responsibility for such financing arrangements, which

impact Net capital employed.

At September 30, 2002, approved and contractually

committed financing totaled approximately €2.5 billion

relating primarily to projects at ICN and ICM. This

amount was unchanged from September 30, 2001. For

comparison, current net accounts receivable were €15.2

billion and €17.7 billion and net current and non-current

loans and other accounts receivable were €5.2 billion and

€6.0 billion at September 30, 2002 and September 30,

2001, respectively. Of the total €2.5 billion approved and

contractually committed financing, €1.6 billion has been

utilized either by providing supplier credits (approxi-

mately €1.1 billion) or in the form of guarantees extended

by Siemens to banks in support of their loans to Siemens’

customers (approximately €455 million). The largest
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exposures before taking provisions into account are

financings to Telecom Asia Corp. Public Company Ltd.,

Thailand (€270 million), which was rescheduled in 1999,

and Is Tim GSM, Turkey (€133 million). Exposure related

to a financing to Orascom, Telecel group in various

African countries (€130 million) is partly covered by the

export credit agency of the government of Belgium.

Also included in the €2.5 billion total is approximately

€936 million which has been approved for customer

financing but has not yet been utilized. The amount at

September 30, 2001 was approximately €800 million.

Included in the current period total are commitments to

provide financing for three UMTS wireless network proj-

ects including a new financing for H3G S.p.A. in Italy

(€295 million), and two projects shared with NEC Corp. of

Japan including Retevisión Móviles S.A. (Amena) in Spain

(€152 million) and Hutchison 3G Limited in Great Britain

(approximately €121 million). Also included is a commit-

ment related to Cell C in South Africa (€101 million) and

BTS Tanayong in Thailand (€135 million).

As of September 30, 2002, we were not in negotiation

on any customer financing commitments requiring

approval of the Executive Committee of the Managing

Board. We had €818 million in such financing commit-

ments under negotiation at September 30, 2001.

Revenue and income for projects financed directly or

indirectly by Siemens are recognized if the credit quality

as evidenced by the customer’s rating or by the credit

analysis performed by SFS (in support of the Executive

Committee) meets certain parameters. Such parameters

are equivalent to a minimum of single B rating category

as awarded by rating agencies or based upon the ability to

sell the financing without recourse to Siemens in the

financial markets. Provisions are also established on an

individual basis taking into account the credit-worthiness

of the customer and the characteristics of the project

being financed. Additionally, provisions are established

considering the specific credit risks of certain countries.

The provision levels are regularly reviewed. As a result of

such review activity, we believe we have established appro-

priate provisions for the above financings.

Critical accounting policies 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements

requires management estimates and assumptions that

affect reported amounts and related disclosures. All esti-

mates and assumptions are made to the best of manage-

ment’s knowledge and belief in order to fairly present our

position and the result of our operations. The following of

our accounting policies are significantly impacted by such

management judgment and estimates.

Revenue recognition on long-term contracts

Our ICN, ICM, SBS, I&S, SD, PG, PTD and TS groups con-

duct a significant portion of their business under long-

term contracts with customers. We generally account for

long-term construction projects and certain long-term

service contracts using the percentage-of-completion

method, recognizing revenue as performance on a con-

tract progresses. This method places considerable impor-

tance on accurate estimates of the extent of progress

towards completion. Depending on the methodology to

determine contract progress, the significant estimates

include total contract costs, remaining costs to comple-

tion, total contract revenues, contract risks and other

judgments. The managements of the Operating groups

continually review all estimates involved in such long-

term contracts and adjust them as necessary. We also use

the percentage-of-completion method for projects

financed directly or indirectly by Siemens. In order to

qualify for such accounting, the credit quality of the cus-

tomer must meet certain minimum parameters as evi-

denced by the customer’s credit rating or by a credit

analysis performed by SFS, which performs such reviews

in support of the Corporate Executive Committee. At a

minimum, a customer’s credit rating must be single B

from the rating agencies, or an equivalent SFS-deter-

mined rating. In cases where the credit quality does not

meet such standards, we recognize revenue for long-term

contracts and financed projects based on the lower of cash

if irrevocably received, or contract completion.
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Accounts Receivable

The allowance for doubtful accounts involves significant

management judgment and review of individual receiv-

ables based on individual customer creditworthiness, cur-

rent economic trends and analysis of historical bad debts

on a portfolio basis. For the determination of the country-

specific component of the individual allowance, we also

consider country credit ratings, which are centrally deter-

mined based on external rating agencies. Regarding the

determination of the valuation allowance derived from a

portfolio-based analysis of historical bad debts, a decline

of receivables in volume results in a corresponding reduc-

tion of such provisions. As of September 30, 2002 and Sep-

tember 30, 2001, Siemens recorded a total valuation

allowance for accounts receivable of €1.585 billion and

€1.785 billion, respectively. Additionally, Siemens selec-

tively assists customers, particularly in the telecommuni-

cation equipment area, through arranging financing

from various third-party sources, including export credit

agencies, in order to be awarded supply contracts. In addi-

tion, the Company provides direct vendor financing and

grants guarantees to banks in support of loans to Siemens

customers when necessary and deemed appropriate. Due

to the previous high levels of capital spending and associ-

ated debt at most major telecommunications operators,

however, requests for such financing have significantly

decreased. The related credit approval process is

described in detail above under our discussion of “Cus-

tomer financing.”

Goodwill

SFAS 142 requires that goodwill be tested for impairment

at least annually using a two-step approach at the division

level. In the first step, the fair value of the division is com-

pared to its book value including goodwill. In order to

determine the fair value of the division, significant man-

agement judgment is applied in order to estimate the

underlying discounted future free cash flows. In the case

that the fair value of the division is less than its book

value, a second step is performed which compares the fair

value of the division’s goodwill to the book value of its

goodwill. The fair value of goodwill is determined based

upon the difference between the fair value of the division

and the net of the fair values of the identifiable assets and

liabilities of the division. If the fair value of goodwill is

less than the book value, the difference is recorded as an

impairment. In fiscal 2002, we took an impairment of

€378 million at the Access Solutions division of ICN related

to Efficient, and had total goodwill at September 30, 2002

of €6.459 billion. For more information see notes to the

consolidated financial statements.
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Pension and postretirement benefit accounting

Our pension benefit costs and credits are determined in

accordance with actuarial valuations, which rely on key

assumptions including discount rates and expected

return on plan assets. We determine the market-related

value of plan assets for the Siemens German Pension

Trust based on the average of the historical market values

of plan assets over the four quarters of the preceding fis-

cal year. This value is the basis for the determination of

the return on plan assets and amortization of unrecog-

nized losses in the fiscal year following the actuarial valu-

ation. For all other pension plans, asset values are based

upon the fair value of plan assets at the measurement

date. Due to the underfunded status of certain pension

plans at their respective measurement dates, the addi-

tional minimum liability is recorded net of deferred tax

assets in other comprehensive income. Our postretire-

ment benefit costs and credits are developed in accor-

dance with actuarial valuations, which rely on key

assumptions including discount rates, and increase or

decrease in health care trend rates. The discount rate

assumptions reflect the rates available on high-quality

fixed-income investments of appropriate duration at the

measurement dates of each plan. The expected return on

plan assets assumption is determined on a uniform basis,

considering long-term historical returns, asset allocation,

and future estimates of long-term investment returns.

Other key assumptions for our pension and postretire-

ment benefit costs and credits are based in part on cur-

rent market conditions. Pension and related postretire-

ment benefit costs or credits could change due to

variations in these underlying key assumptions.

The assumptions used for the calculation of net peri-

odic pension cost in fiscal 2003 have already been deter-

mined. A one percentage point increase (decrease) in the

discount rate assumption would result in a decrease (in-

crease) in net periodic pension cost of €160 (€200) mil-

lion. A one percentage point change in the assumption for

expected return on plan assets would result in a decrease

(increase) of €172 million. A one percentage point increase

(decrease) in the rates of compensation increase and pen-

sion progression would result in a combined increase

(decrease) of €320 (€280) million. For a discussion of our

current funding status and the impact of these critical

assumptions, see notes to the consolidated financial state-

ments, Pension plans and similar commitments.

Accruals

Significant estimates are involved in the determination of

provisions related to contract losses and warranty costs. A

significant portion of the business of certain of our Oper-

ating groups is performed pursuant to long-term con-

tracts, often for large projects, in Germany and abroad,

awarded on a competitive bidding basis. Siemens records

an accrual for contract losses when current estimates of

total contract costs exceed contract revenue. Such esti-

mates are subject to change based on new information as

projects progress toward completion. Loss contracts are

identified by monitoring the progress of the project and

updating the estimate of total contract costs which also

requires significant judgment relating to achieving cer-

tain performance standards, particularly in our Power

business, and estimates involving warranty costs.
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Risk management

Within its worldwide activities in the electrical engineer-

ing and electronics industry, Siemens is exposed to a

number of risks that arise in the ordinary course of its

business. We have described our risk management system

and all the risks that we consider material below.

Our risk management policy is to take advantage of

opportunities while taking on only those risks that are

necessarily associated with creating economic value. Risk

management is therefore an integral part of our business

processes and decisions, including corporate governance.

The Corporate Executive Committee is responsible for

Siemens’ risk management and control system. The

groups’ management execute this policy in line with our

organizational and accountability structure. Each operat-

ing unit or business entity is accountable for managing

the risks associated with its regional or worldwide busi-

ness.

To measure, monitor and manage our exposure to

risk, we use a variety of management and control systems,

including an enterprise-wide strategy planning and

reporting process. The business targets and risk control

measures are continually monitored during the year

through our existing control systems and processes and

our reporting processes. Our internal auditors regularly

review the adequacy and efficiency of our risk manage-

ment and control systems. In this manner, the Managing

Board and the Supervisory Board are kept informed of

material risks on a timely basis. This and other corporate

governance procedures are described in detail under

“Corporate Governance.”

Our business, financial condition or results of opera-

tions could suffer material adverse effects due to any of

the following risks. The risks described below are not the

only ones we face. Additional risks not known to us or that

we now consider immaterial may also impair our business

operations.

Business risks

The worldwide markets or our products are highly com-

petitive in terms of pricing, product and service quality,

development and introduction time, customer service and

financing terms. Siemens faces downward price pressures

and aggressive competitive pricing, especially in the busi-

nesses of the Information and Communications groups

(I&C), and is exposed to market downturns or slower

growth, particularly in the highly volatile mobile commu-

nications market of ICM, the carrier switching businesses

of ICN and the gas turbine business of PG. The current

weak economic situation has already influenced our busi-

ness perspectives, as shown by the significant cost-cut-

ting, headcount reduction, and asset write-down measures

taken in fiscal 2002. Future success will therefore depend

also on our success with such programs. From a techno-

logical perspective, we experience rapid and significant

changes due to the introduction of new technologies. To

maintain a high level of innovation and competitiveness,

we continue to execute divestitures, acquisitions, strategic

alliances and joint ventures. Transactions such as these

carry inherent risks associated with the challenges of inte-

grating people, operations, technologies and products.

To counter these risks, we employ defined mergers and

acquisitions and post-merger processes. We also have to

face the risk that acquired technologies may become obso-

lete due to unforeseen business or market developments.
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Operational risks

Within many areas of Operations, including the busi-

nesses of PG, PTD, TS, the I&C groups and I&S, we are

engaged in large and complex projects. In such projects,

the risks include unexpected technological problems,

unforeseen developments at project sites, problems at our

partner companies or logistic difficulties. This may lead

to the Company to incur significant cost over- runs or

penalties. We also have production facilities worldwide

with a high degree of organizational and technological

complexity. Therefore, we face risks or problems within

our value chain processes such as operational failures,

quality problems and potential product safety, labor safety

or environmental risks. To prevent operational failures,

we have established a comprehensive set of policies and

procedures relating to project and quality management,

product safety, labor safety, and environmental protec-

tion. We also continuously develop and refine our produc-

tion processes and technologies, as well as our adminis-

trative processes. In addition, we rigorously maintain our

facilities and train our employees.

Supplier risks

We rely on third parties to supply us with parts, compo-

nents and services. Using third parties to manufacture,

assemble and test our products reduces our control over

manufacturing yields, quality assurance, delivery sched-

ules and costs. Also, the unexpected rise of purchasing

prices due to market shortages or currency fluctuations

can affect the performance of certain of our operating

units. We try to counter these risks by monitoring our

supply markets, working closely with our suppliers and

using long-term supplier agreements.

Human resources risks

Competition for highly qualified management and techni-

cal personnel is intense in the industries in which our

business units operate. This is especially relevant in con-

nection with employees with scientific, technical or indus-

try-specific knowledge or developing new technologies

and products. Therefore, our future success depends in

part on our continued ability to recruit, assimilate and

retain qualified management and other technical person-

nel. To attract and retain our personnel, we maintain

intensive contact with universities and provide internal

qualification programs, attractive remuneration systems

and new- hire integration programs.

Credit risks

We are exposed to credit risks because we provide various

forms of direct or indirect financing to our customers, as

described above. This includes both large projects and

smaller orders, such as equipment leasing. Infrastructure

projects often require supplier financing which involve

credit and country risks. Additionally, vendor financing of

projects such as GSM or UMTS wireless network equip-

ment or customers who lack established credit histories

may generate special credit risks. Aside from specific risks

associated with project financing, we may experience gen-

eral financial risks, including delayed payments from cus-

tomers or difficulties in the collection of receivables, espe-

cially given the deteriorating economic conditions in

several markets, in emerging markets or when customers

are start-up companies. To monitor and administer these

credit risks, we have a defined project financing and

credit assessment process, and we emphasize the impor-

tance of effective receivables management on an enter-

prise-wide basis. Furthermore, Siemens Financial Ser-

vices uses credit default swaps to protect against credit

risks stemming from its receivables purchase business.
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Market risks

We define “market risk” as a potential loss due to an

adverse move in market rates. We define “potential loss”

for equity price risk as a decline in fair values due to an

adverse move in market prices. For foreign exchange risk,

a “potential loss” is defined as a decline in future cash

flows due to an adverse move in market rates. For interest

rate risk, we consider “potential loss” to mean, for fixed

rate instruments, a decline in fair values, and, for vari-

able-rate instruments, a decline in future cash flows. We

use the “sensitivity analysis” method to measure our mar-

ket risk.

Assets from the groups’ pension plans (equity invest-

ments and interest bearing securities) are not included in

the discussion below.

Equity Price Risk

We have investments in publicly traded companies, which

are held for purposes other than trading. The market

value of these investments as of September 30, 2002 was

€346 million, with our 9.7% interest in Juniper Networks

and our 12.5% interest in Epcos AG representing a large

share. We also have an equity underlying in asset swaps

of €297 million. An adverse move in equity prices of 20%

would reduce the value of these investments by € (129)

million.

Foreign Currency and Interest Rate Exposure

Our risk management approach is to pool and analyze

interest rate and currency risk exposures of the business

groups. Exceptions to this approach are made in the case

of country-specific restrictions and similar considera-

tions. The pooled exposures are recorded on a real-time

basis in a treasury management system maintained by

our Treasury and Financing Services (TFS) division of SFS.

This system allows us to perform an ongoing mark-to-

market valuation of interest rate and currency risks of all

pooled transactions, as well as a measure of credit expo-

sure to individual financial institutions. We use TFS on an

internal service basis as a centralized link between our

Operating groups and third-party financial institutions in

our financial risk management activities. TFS enters into

derivative financial instruments with third-party financial

institutions to offset all pooled exposures using a value-at-

risk model. The derivative instruments used are readily

marketable, liquid and priced on a daily basis. They

include: forward exchange contracts, interest-rate swaps,

cross-currency swaps, forward contracts and options. For

all these tasks, TFS has in place appropriate functional and

organizational separation of duties between transaction

initiation, processing, risk controlling and accounting.

Our foreign currency transactions arise from our busi-

ness groups as well as from investments and financing

activities of Siemens as a whole. Foreign exchange risks

are partly offset through our production facilities abroad,

as well as through procurement and financing activities

conducted in foreign currencies. We define foreign cur-

rency exposure as foreign currency-denominated cash

inflows and cash outflows from anticipated transactions

for the next three months, firm commitments and balance

sheet items. The foreign currency exposure is determined

from the point of view of the respective functional curren-

cies of the Siemens entity where the exposure exists.

Because our foreign currency inflows exceed our out-

flows, a weakening of foreign currencies against the euro

would have a negative financial impact. For example, at

September 30, 2002, we had a net long U.S. dollar expo-

sure; therefore, if the dollar weakened against the euro,

we would have been able to convert it into fewer euros.
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At September 30, 2002, a parallel 10% alteration of for-

eign currencies would have resulted in a decline in future

cash flows of €79 million, particularly to the U.S. dollar,

the British pound and the Swiss franc, and €107 million

at September 30, 2001. The prior year amounts exclude

Infineon in order to provide comparable value.

Our fair value interest risk results primarily from our

long-term fixed rate debt obligations. We seek to limit this

risk through the use of derivative instruments which

allow us to hedge fair value changes by swapping fixed

rates of interest into variable rates of interest. Assuming

a 100-basis point decrease in interest rates, our fair value

interest risk was €4 million and €222 million at Septem-

ber 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The significant

decrease from the prior year is primarily due to further

swapping of fixed versus floating interest rates of our

debt.

Our cash-flow interest rate risk on our variable-rate

portfolio was €67 million at September 30, 2002 and €37

million at September 30, 2001, assuming a 100-basis-

point increase in interest rates. Such risk is largely related

to variable interest rates resulting from the aforemen-

tioned hedges of fixed rate debt obligations.

Outlook

We expect that the next fiscal year will be one of chal-

lenges. The economic climate will continue to be affected

particularly by political uncertainties related to the Middle

East, South America and other regions. These uncertain-

ties will also have corresponding effects on the interna-

tional capital markets. Therefore, we expect that this will

lead to persistent weak investment sentiment in our

important industries and regional markets, especially

telecommunications and power.

As we do not expect significant improvement in overall

economic conditions, and having made major disposals of

businesses in the last fiscal year, we anticipate declining

business volume for Siemens in the coming year. The

groups should continue to improve their margins toward

the goals of Operation 2003. On the other hand, net

income will be affected by the relative absence of portfolio

gains and considerably higher pension-related expense.

We will continue to work towards reaching the 2003

earnings targets set for our fourteen business groups

even though these targets were established in December

2000 when the economic outlook was decidedly more pos-

itive. We expect that all of the groups will approach, meet

or exceed their respective earnings targets. SD, whose

Electronics Assembly division is affected by the crisis in

the telecommunications market, and I&S which has

undertaken a reorganization plan should, along with the

I&C groups, reach their earnings targets in fiscal 2004.

We will continue to focus on generating positive net cash

from Operations, though further progress will be more

difficult, since we have already made significant improve-

ments during the last two years.
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This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements

based on beliefs of Siemens’ management. We use the

words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,”

“intend,” “should,” “plan” and “project” to identify for-

ward-looking statements. Such statements reflect our

current views with respect to future events and are sub-

ject to risks and uncertainties. Many factors could cause

the actual results to be materially different, including,

among others, changes in general economic and busi-

ness conditions, changes in currency exchange rates and

interest rates, introduction of competing products, lack

of acceptance of new products or services and changes

in business strategy. Actual results may vary materially

from those projected here. Please refer to the discussion

of Siemens’ risk factors in our Form 20-F. Siemens does

not intend or assume any obligation to update these for-

ward-looking statements. It is our policy to disclosure

material information on an open, nonselective basis.
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Consolidated Statements of Income
For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001 (in millions of €, per share amounts in €)

(1) ebit is measured as earnings before financing interest, income taxes and certain one-
time items. In fiscal 2001, ebit excluded the amortization of goodwill and purchased
in-process research and development expenses. Beginning October 1, 2001, Siemens
adopted the provisions of sfas 142 and no longer amortizes goodwill. Interest income
related to receivables from customers, cash allocated to the segments and interest
expense on payables to suppliers are part of ebit.

(2) The income taxes of Eliminations, reclassifications and Corporate Treasury, Operations,
and Financing and Real Estate are based on the consolidated effective corporate tax
rate applied to income before income taxes. The corresponding figures for fiscal year
2001 are calculated based on the consolidated effective corporate tax rate excluding
Infineon.

(3) As of December 5, 2001, Siemens deconsolidated Infineon. The results of operations
from Infineon for the first two months of the fiscal year 2002 are included in Elimina-
tions, reclassifications and Corporate Treasury. As of December 5, 2001, the share in
earnings from Infineon is included in “Income (loss) from investments in other compa-
nies, net” in Operations.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Eliminations,
reclassifications and Financing and

Siemens worldwide Corporate Treasury Operations Infineon(3) Real Estate

Note 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001 2001 2002 2001

Net sales 84,016 87,000 (1,297) (3,114) 83,127 82,427 5,671 2,186 2,016

Cost of sales (60,810) (63,895) 1,222 2,899 (60,322) (60,192) (5,021) (1,710) (1,581)

Gross profit on sales 23,206 23,105 (75) (215) 22,805 22,235 650 476 435

Research and development expenses (5,819) (6,782) (169) (166) (5,650) (5,427) (1,189)

Marketing, selling and general administrative expenses (15,455) (16,640) (90) 2 (15,083) (15,559) (786) (282) (297)

Other operating income (expense), net (therein gain on issuance of subsidiary
and associated company stock €37 and €617, respectively) 3, 4 1,321 2,762 844 2,537 326 (118) 200 151 143

Income (loss) from investments in other companies, net 5 (114) 49 (16) (142) (24) 36 44 37

Income (expense) from financial assets and marketable securities, net 6 18 173 (81) (140) 124 263 65 (25) (15)

Interest income (expense) of Operations, net 7 94 (32) 9 94 (41)

ebit(1) from Operations /ebit Infineon 2,474 1,329 (1,024)

Other interest income (expense), net 7 224 43 239 280 (96) (304) (1) 81 68

Goodwill amortization and purchased in-process R&D expenses of Operations 665 (665)

Gains on sales and dispositions of significant business interests (936) (4,065) 936 4,065

Other special items 1,185 (1,185)

Income (loss) before income taxes 3,475 2,678 (284) 92 3,314 3,240 (1,025) 445 371

Income taxes(2) 8 (849) (781) 69 (30) (809) (1,058) 428 (109) (121)

Minority interest (29) 191 2 (31) 185 6

Net income (loss) 2,597 2,088 (213) 62 2,474 2,367 (591) 336 250

Basic earnings per share 28 2.92 2.36

Diluted earnings per share 28 2.92 2.36
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Eliminations,
reclassifications and Financing and
Corporate Treasury Operations Infineon(3) Real Estate

2002 2001 2002 2001 2001 2002 2001

(1,297) (3,114) 83,127 82,427 5,671 2,186 2,016

1,222 2,899 (60,322) (60,192) (5,021) (1,710) (1,581)

(75) (215) 22,805 22,235 650 476 435

(169) (166) (5,650) (5,427) (1,189)

(90) 2 (15,083) (15,559) (786) (282) (297)

844 2,537 326 (118) 200 151 143

(16) (142) (24) 36 44 37

(81) (140) 124 263 65 (25) (15)

9 94 (41)

2,474 1,329 (1,024)

239 280 (96) (304) (1) 81 68

665 (665)

(936) (4,065) 936 4,065

1,185 (1,185)

(284) 92 3,314 3,240 (1,025) 445 371

69 (30) (809) (1,058) 428 (109) (121)

2 (31) 185 6

(213) 62 2,474 2,367 (591) 336 250
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
As of September 30, 2002 and 2001 (in millions of €)

Eliminations,
reclassifications and Financing and

Siemens worldwide Corporate Treasury Operations Infineon Real Estate

Note 9/30/02 9/30/01 9/30/02 9/30/01 9/30/02 9/30/01 9/30/01 9/30/02 9/30/01

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 11,196 7,802 10,269 6,103 873 907 757 54 35

Marketable securities 9 399 791 25 36 356 638 93 18 24

Accounts receivable, net 10 15,230 17,734 (7) (248) 12,058 13,850 719 3,179 3,413

Intracompany receivables (13,284) (8,989) 13,209 8,343 208 75 438

Inventories, net 11 10,672 13,406 (5) (74) 10,592 12,485 882 85 113

Deferred income taxes 8 1,212 1,113 64 1,143 971 39 5 103

Other current assets 12 5,353 10,167 1,028 1,781 3,306 7,428 178 1,019 780

Total current assets 44,062 51,013 (1,910) (1,391) 41,537 44,622 2,876 4,435 4,906

Long-term investments 13 5,092 3,314 2 6 4,797 2,348 655 293 305

Intangible assets, net 14 8,843 9,771 (1) 8,731 9,223 437 112 112

Property, plant and equipment, net 14 11,742 17,803 2 2 7,628 8,547 5,233 4,112 4,021

Deferred income taxes 8 3,686 3,684 764 2,771 3,071 412 151 201

Other assets 15 4,514 4,533 103 (56) 1,304 1,240 130 3,107 3,219

Other intracompany receivables (931) (152) 931 149 3

Total assets 77,939 90,118 (1,970) (1,592) 67,699 69,200 9,743 12,210 12,767

Liabilities and Shareholder’s Equity

Current liabilities

Short-term debt and current maturities of long-term debt 18 2,103 2,637 1,143 1,499 785 878 119 175 141

Accounts payable 8,649 10,798 6 180 8,453 9,330 1,050 190 238

Intracompany liabilities (7,776) (7,068) 1,799 1,215 239 5,977 5,614

Accrued liabilities 16 9,608 10,864 18 148 9,445 10,126 426 145 164

Deferred income taxes 8 661 754 (206) 1 647 631 19 220 103

Other current liabilities 17 13,691 19,471 375 1,230 12,853 17,271 351 463 619

Total current liabilities 34,712 44,524 (6,440) (4,010) 33,982 39,451 2,204 7,170 6,879

Long-term debt 18 10,243 9,973 6,833 6,205 2,974 3,121 249 436 398

Pension plans and similar commitments 19 5,326 4,721 45 5,299 4,653 27 23

Deferred income taxes 8 195 111 (50) 119 43 53 126 15

Other accruals and provisions 20 3,401 2,957 28 (414) 3,068 2,653 319 305 399

Other intracompany liabilities (2,341) (3,418) 45 155 2,296 3,263

53,877 62,286 (1,970) (1,592) 45,487 50,076 2,825 10,360 10,977

Minority interests 541 4,020 541 4,002 18

Shareholders’ equity 21

Common stock, no par value
Authorized: 1,145,917,335 and 1,145,773,579 shares, respectively
Issued: 890,374,001 and 888,230,245 shares, respectively 2,671 2,665

Additional paid-in capital 5,053 4,901

Retained earnings 21,471 19,762

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (5,670) (3,516)

Treasury stock, at cost. 49,864 and 1,116 shares, respectively (4)

Total shareholders’ equity 23,521 23,812 21,671 15,122 6,900 1,850 1,790

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 77,939 90,118 (1,970) (1,592) 67,699 69,200 9,743 12,210 12,767

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Eliminations,
reclassifications and Financing and
Corporate Treasury Operations Infineon Real Estate

9/30/02 9/30/01 9/30/02 9/30/01 9/30/01 9/30/02 9/30/01

10,269 6,103 873 907 757 54 35

25 36 356 638 93 18 24

(7) (248) 12,058 13,850 719 3,179 3,413

(13,284) (8,989) 13,209 8,343 208 75 438

(5) (74) 10,592 12,485 882 85 113

64 1,143 971 39 5 103

1,028 1,781 3,306 7,428 178 1,019 780

(1,910) (1,391) 41,537 44,622 2,876 4,435 4,906

2 6 4,797 2,348 655 293 305

(1) 8,731 9,223 437 112 112

2 2 7,628 8,547 5,233 4,112 4,021

764 2,771 3,071 412 151 201

103 (56) 1,304 1,240 130 3,107 3,219

(931) (152) 931 149 3

(1,970) (1,592) 67,699 69,200 9,743 12,210 12,767

1,143 1,499 785 878 119 175 141

6 180 8,453 9,330 1,050 190 238

(7,776) (7,068) 1,799 1,215 239 5,977 5,614

18 148 9,445 10,126 426 145 164

(206) 1 647 631 19 220 103

375 1,230 12,853 17,271 351 463 619

(6,440) (4,010) 33,982 39,451 2,204 7,170 6,879

6,833 6,205 2,974 3,121 249 436 398

45 5,299 4,653 27 23

(50) 119 43 53 126 15

28 (414) 3,068 2,653 319 305 399

(2,341) (3,418) 45 155 2,296 3,263

(1,970) (1,592) 45,487 50,076 2,825 10,360 10,977

541 4,002 18

21,671 15,122 6,900 1,850 1,790

(1,970) (1,592) 67,699 69,200 9,743 12,210 12,767
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow
For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001 (in millions of €)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Eliminations,
reclassifications and Financing and

Siemens worldwide Corporate Treasury Operations Infineon Real Estate

2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001 2001 2002 2001

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income 2,597 2,088 (213) 62 2,474 2,367 (591) 336 250
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided

Minority interest 29 (191) (2) 31 (185) (6)
Amortization, depreciation and impairments 4,126 6,264 209 3,440 4,684 1,122 477 458
Deferred taxes (191) 36 (185) 13 18 463 (494) (24) 54
Gains on sales and disposals of businesses and property, plant and equipment, net,
and gain from issuance of subsidiary and associated company stock (1,610) (4,429) (936) (4,065) (588) (7) (246) (86) (111)
(Gains) losses on sales of investments, net (177) 141 7 (172) 174 (12) (33)
Gains on sales and dispositions of significant business interests 936 4,065 (936) (4,065)
Losses (gains) on sales and impairments of marketable securities, net 4 (209) (2) 3 (203) (1) 3 (5)
Loss (income) from equity investees, net of dividends received 298 27 17 1 322 56 (25) (41) (5)
Write-off of acquired in-process research and development 195 126 69
Change in current assets and liabilities

(Increase) decrease in inventories, net 1,349 (716) 86 1,234 (746) (36) 29 66
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable, net 1,763 1,797 844 (38) 871 1,021 755 48 59
Increase (decrease) in outstanding balance of receivables sold (503) 866 (607) 866 104
(Increase) decrease in other current assets 1,213 (1,397) 459 (229) 833 (848) (139) (79) (181)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (899) 467 (254) (43) (595) 428 58 (50) 24
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities (575) 629 30 23 (577) 974 (322) (28) (46)
Increase (decrease) in other current liabilities (1,025) 2,682 (99) (100) (851) 2,694 27 (75) 61

Supplemental contributions to pension trusts (1,782) (1,782)
Change in other assets and liabilities 947 (1,234) 439 (289) 448 (1,048) 40 60 63

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 5,564 7,016 729 266 4,277 5,885 211 558 654

Cash flows from investing activities
Additions to intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (3,894) (7,048) (149) (3,149) (4,044) (2,364) (596) (640)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (3,787) (3,898) (3,787) (3,898)
Purchases of investments (332) (710) (65) (263) (419) (214) (4) (77)
Purchases of marketable securities (338) (436) (306) (11) (27) (329) (82) (5) (14)
Increase in receivables from financing activities (172) (619) (864) 714 692 (1,333)
Increase (decrease) in outstanding balance of receivables sold by SFS 607 (866) (607) 866
Proceeds from sales of long-term investments, intangibles and property, plant and equipment 1,218 3,804 4 801 3,454 27 417 319
Proceeds from sales and dispositions of businesses 6,097 1,878 1,475 6,097 57 346
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 398 1,143 317 78 660 474 3 9

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (810) (5,886) (460) 1,316 (250) (4,519) (1,813) (100) (870)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of capital stock 156 514 (1,495) 156 514 1,495
Purchase of common stock of Company (152) (514) (152) (514)
Proceeds from issuance of treasury shares 81 233 81 233
Proceeds from issuance of debt 384 4,141 384 4,141
Repayment of debt (847) (976) (809) (921) (15) 2 (20) (23) (37)
Change in short-term debt 512 (1,828) 843 281 (481) (2,354) 114 150 131
Change in restricted cash (2) 45 (2) 45
Dividends paid (888) (1,412) 407 (888) (1,412) (407)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders (103) (298) (119) (103) (179)
Intercompany financing 3,178 (2,865) (2,615) 2,122 619 (563) 124

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (859) (95) 3,594 (571) (4,017) (1,588) 1,846 (436) 218

Effect of deconsolidation of Infineon on cash and cash equivalents (383) (383)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (118) (95) (71) (13) (44) (82) 2 (3) (2)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,394 940 3,409 998 (34) (304) 246 19
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 7,802 6,862 6,860 5,105 907 1,211 511 35 35

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 11,196 7,802 10,269 6,103 873 907 757 54 35

Supplemental disclosure of cash paid for:
Interest 794 779
Income taxes 389 1,098
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Eliminations,
reclassifications and Financing and
Corporate Treasury Operations Infineon Real Estate

2002 2001 2002 2001 2001 2002 2001

(213) 62 2,474 2,367 (591) 336 250

(2) 31 (185) (6)
209 3,440 4,684 1,122 477 458

(185) 13 18 463 (494) (24) 54

(936) (4,065) (588) (7) (246) (86) (111)
7 (172) 174 (12) (33)

936 4,065 (936) (4,065)
(2) 3 (203) (1) 3 (5)
17 1 322 56 (25) (41) (5)

126 69

86 1,234 (746) (36) 29 66
844 (38) 871 1,021 755 48 59

(607) 866 104
459 (229) 833 (848) (139) (79) (181)

(254) (43) (595) 428 58 (50) 24
30 23 (577) 974 (322) (28) (46)

(99) (100) (851) 2,694 27 (75) 61
(1,782)

439 (289) 448 (1,048) 40 60 63

729 266 4,277 5,885 211 558 654

(149) (3,149) (4,044) (2,364) (596) (640)
(3,787) (3,898)

(65) (263) (419) (214) (4) (77)
(306) (11) (27) (329) (82) (5) (14)
(864) 714 692 (1,333)
607 (866) (607) 866

4 801 3,454 27 417 319
1,475 6,097 57 346

317 78 660 474 3 9

(460) 1,316 (250) (4,519) (1,813) (100) (870)

(1,495) 156 514 1,495
(152) (514)

81 233
384 4,141

(809) (921) (15) 2 (20) (23) (37)
843 281 (481) (2,354) 114 150 131

(2) 45
407 (888) (1,412) (407)

(119) (103) (179)
3,178 (2,865) (2,615) 2,122 619 (563) 124

3,594 (571) (4,017) (1,588) 1,846 (436) 218

(383)
(71) (13) (44) (82) 2 (3) (2)

3,409 998 (34) (304) 246 19
6,860 5,105 907 1,211 511 35 35

10,269 6,103 873 907 757 54 35
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001 (in millions of €)

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Additional Cumulative Available- Minimum Treasury
Capital Paid-in Retained Translation for-sale Derivative Pension Shares
Stock Capital Earnings Adjustment Securities Instruments Liability at Cost Total

Balance at October 1, 2000 1,505 5,547 19,280 933 1,253 (30) (6) (2) 28,480

Net income 2,088 2,088

Change in currency translation adjustment (532) (532)

Change in unrealized gains and losses (1,199) 53 (3,988) (5,134)

Total comprehensive income 2,088 (532) (1,199) 53 (3,988) (3,578)

Dividends paid (1,412) (1,412)

Issuance of capital stock 10 504 514

Purchase of capital stock (514) (514)

Re-issuance of treasury stock 516 516

Recapitalization and stock split 1,150 (1,150)

Other changes (194) (194)

Balance at September 30, 2001 2,665 4,901 19,762 401 54 23 (3,994) 23,812

Net income 2,597 2,597

Change in currency translation adjustment (533) (533)

Change in unrealized gains and losses (239) 36 (1,418) (1,621)

Total comprehensive income 2,597 (533) (239) 36 (1,418) 443

Dividends paid (888) (888)

Issuance of capital stock 6 152 158

Purchase of capital stock (167) (167)

Re-issuance of treasury stock 163 163

Balance at September 30, 2002 2,671 5,053 21,471 (132) (185) 59 (5,412) (4) 23,521

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Cumulative Available- Minimum Treasury
Translation for-sale Derivative Pension Shares
Adjustment Securities Instruments Liability at Cost Total

933 1,253 (30) (6) (2) 28,480

2,088

(532) (532)

(1,199) 53 (3,988) (5,134)

(532) (1,199) 53 (3,988) (3,578)

(1,412)

514

(514) (514)

516 516

(194)

401 54 23 (3,994) 23,812

2,597

(533) (533)

(239) 36 (1,418) (1,621)

(533) (239) 36 (1,418) 443

(888)

158

(167) (167)

163 163

(132) (185) 59 (5,412) (4) 23,521
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Segment information
As of and for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001 (in millions of €)

Net cash from Amortization,
New orders Intersegment Net capital operating and Capital depreciation and
(unaudited) External sales sales Total sales ebit employed investing activities spending(1) impairments(2) (3)

2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001 9/30/02 9/30/01 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001

Operations

Information and Communication Networks (ICN) 8,697 12,639 9,169 12,189 478 693 9,647 12,882 (691) (861) 1,100 3,039 711 (2,350) 415 2,291 850 435

Information and Communication Mobile (ICM) 11,538 11,866 10,910 11,151 135 148 11,045 11,299 96 (307) 1,973 2,607 594 14 453 543 368 400

Siemens Business Services (SBS) 6,256 6,303 4,212 4,261 1,561 1,773 5,773 6,034 101 (259) 264 492 173 339 222 484 282 342

Automation and Drives (A&D) 8,728 9,065 7,430 7,843 1,205 1,104 8,635 8,947 723 981 2,197 2,619 1,019 533 248 429 240 242

Industrial Solutions and Services (I&S) 4,120 4,881 3,378 3,398 1,102 1,165 4,480 4,563 (198) 97 315 487 (107) (39) 60 115 56 53

Siemens Dematic (SD) 2,810 2,281 2,894 2,381 101 139 2,995 2,520 45 (59) 975 957 (70) 261 71 78 62 63

Siemens Building Technologies (SBT) 5,601 5,549 5,291 5,094 328 424 5,619 5,518 195 132 1,778 2,241 295 49 133 326 155 163

Power Generation (PG) 10,586 12,219 9,398 8,487 48 76 9,446 8,563 1,582 634 (144) (1,020) 662 2,045 300 351 184 211

Power Transmission and Distribution (PTD) 4,429 3,887 3,928 3,818 271 235 4,199 4,053 109 96 928 994 149 (331) 92 215 75 78

Transportation Systems (TS) 5,247 5,647 4,349 4,000 18 21 4,367 4,021 247 186 (741) (932) 95 752 135 164 64 55

Siemens VDO Automotive (SV) 8,515 5,702 8,491 5,694 24 8 8,515 5,702 65 (261) 3,746 3,605 224 (89) 534 447 435 339

Medical Solutions (Med) 8,425 8,444 7,604 7,199 19 20 7,623 7,219 1,018 808 3,414 3,844 1,124 86 321 1,034 206 203

Osram 4,363 4,522 4,308 4,200 55 322 4,363 4,522 365 462 2,436 2,485 284 349 330 416 289 283

Corporate, eliminations (5,793) (6,890) 1,482 1,945 (5,062) (5,361) (3,580) (3,416) (1,183) (320) (2,486) (2,805) (1,126)(4) (253)(4) 3,885(5) 1,468 174 265

Total Operations 83,522 86,115 82,844 81,660 283 767 83,127 82,427 2,474 1,329 15,755 18,613 4,027 1,366 7,199 8,361 3,440 3,132

Reconciliation to financial statements 51,944 50,587

Other interest expense (96) (304)

Goodwill amortization and purchased 
in-process R&D expenses (665) 539(6)

Gains on sales and dispositions 
of significant business interests 936 4,065

Other special items (1,185) 1,013

Operations income before income taxes/
total assets/total amortization, 
depreciation and impairments 3,314 3,240 67,699 69,200 3,440 4,684

Eliminations, reclassifications and 
Corporate Treasury 498 493 (1,790) (3,114) (1,297) (3,114) (284) 92 (1,970) (1,592) 269(4) 1,582(4) 214 209

Siemens worldwide 86,214 92,528 84,016 87,000 84,016 87,000 3,475 2,678 77,939 90,118 4,754 1,130 8,013 11,656 4,126 6,264

(1) Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, acquisitions, and investments.
(2) Includes amortization and impairments of intangible assets, depreciation

of property, plant and equipment, and write-downs of investments.
(3) For Operations, in fiscal 2001 excluding goodwill amortization.

(4) Includes (for “Eliminations” within Financing and Real Estate consists of)
cash paid for income taxes according to the allocation of income taxes to
Operations, Financing and Real Estate, and Eliminations, reclassifications and
Corporate Treasury in the consolidated statements of income.

Infineon Technologies (Infineon) 4,390 4,744 927 5,671 (1,024) 6,471 (1,602)(4) 2,578 1,122

Reconciliation to financial statements (1) 3,272

Infineon income (loss) before 
income taxes/total assets (1,025) 9,743

Income before
income taxes Total assets

Financing and Real Estate

Siemens Financial Services (SFS) 582 481 436 373 146 108 582 481 216 158 8,681 9,501 282 (496) 283 514 271 257

Siemens Real Estate (SRE) 1,612 1,542 243 223 1,369 1,319 1,612 1,542 229 213 4,090 3,791 309 393 317 203 206 201

Eliminations (8) (7) (8) (7) (561) (525) (133)(4) (113)(4)

Total Financing and Real Estate 2,194 2,023 679 596 1,507 1,420 2,186 2,016 445 371 12,210 12,767 458 (216) 600 717 477 458
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Net cash from Amortization,
Net capital operating and Capital depreciation and

ebit employed investing activities spending(1) impairments(2) (3)

2002 2001 9/30/02 9/30/01 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001

(691) (861) 1,100 3,039 711 (2,350) 415 2,291 850 435

96 (307) 1,973 2,607 594 14 453 543 368 400

101 (259) 264 492 173 339 222 484 282 342

723 981 2,197 2,619 1,019 533 248 429 240 242

(198) 97 315 487 (107) (39) 60 115 56 53

45 (59) 975 957 (70) 261 71 78 62 63

195 132 1,778 2,241 295 49 133 326 155 163

1,582 634 (144) (1,020) 662 2,045 300 351 184 211

109 96 928 994 149 (331) 92 215 75 78

247 186 (741) (932) 95 752 135 164 64 55

65 (261) 3,746 3,605 224 (89) 534 447 435 339

1,018 808 3,414 3,844 1,124 86 321 1,034 206 203

365 462 2,436 2,485 284 349 330 416 289 283

(1,183) (320) (2,486) (2,805) (1,126)(4) (253)(4) 3,885(5) 1,468 174 265

2,474 1,329 15,755 18,613 4,027 1,366 7,199 8,361 3,440 3,132

51,944 50,587

(96) (304)

(665) 539(6)

936 4,065

(1,185) 1,013

3,314 3,240 67,699 69,200 3,440 4,684

(284) 92 (1,970) (1,592) 269(4) 1,582(4) 214 209

3,475 2,678 77,939 90,118 4,754 1,130 8,013 11,656 4,126 6,264

(5) Includes approximately €3.7 billion referring to the purchase of Vodafone AG’s
remaining interest in Atecs Mannesmann AG.

(6) Represents only goodwill amortization.

(1,024) 6,471 (1,602)(4) 2,578 1,122

(1) 3,272

(1,025) 9,743

Income before
income taxes Total assets

216 158 8,681 9,501 282 (496) 283 514 271 257

229 213 4,090 3,791 309 393 317 203 206 201

(561) (525) (133)(4) (113)(4)

445 371 12,210 12,767 458 (216) 600 717 477 458



         

1 Basis of presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements

present the operations of Siemens AG and its subsidiaries,

(the Company or Siemens). The consolidated financial

statements have been prepared in accordance with United

States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (U.S.

GAAP). Siemens has prepared and reported its consolidat-

ed financial statements in euros (“€”).

Financial statement presentation

The financial data of the Company is presented in the

following components:

n Siemens worldwide – Represents the consolidated

financial statements of the Company.

n Operations – Operations are defined as Siemens’

Operating segments including corporate headquarters

and excluding the activities of the Financing and Real

Estate segments and Corporate Treasury.

n Financing and Real Estate – Siemens’ Financing and

Real Estate segments are responsible for the Compa-

ny’s international leasing, finance, credit and real

estate management activities.

n Eliminations, reclassifications and Corporate

Treasury – This component combines the consolida-

tion of transactions among Operations and Financing

and Real Estate with certain worldwide reclassifica-

tions. This component also includes the Company’s

Corporate Treasury activities.

Effective December 2001, Infineon is no longer consol-

idated but instead accounted for as an investment using

the equity method. Accordingly, the Company’s net invest-

ment in Infineon is included within “Long-term invest-

ments” in the consolidated balance sheets, and its share of

the net income or losses of Infineon is included as part of

“Income (loss) from investments in other companies, net”

in the consolidated statements of income (see footnotes 3

and 13). The consolidated results of operations and cash

flows of Infineon for the two months ended November

2001 are included in “Eliminations, reclassifications and

Corporate Treasury.”

The Company’s presentation of Operations, Financing

and Real Estate and Corporate Treasury reflects the man-

agement of these components as distinctly different busi-

ness activities, with different goals and requirements.

Management believes that this presentation provides a

clearer understanding of the components of the Compa-

ny’s financial position, results of operations and cash

flows. The accounting and valuation principles applied to

these components are generally the same as those used

for Siemens worldwide. The Company has allocated share-

holders’ equity to the Financing and Real Estate business

based on a management approach oriented towards the

inherent risk evident in the underlying assets. The

remaining amount of total shareholders’ equity is shown

under Operations. The financial data presented for the

Operations and Financing and Real Estate components

are not intended to purport the financial position, results

of operations and cash flows as if they were separate enti-

ties under U.S. GAAP.

The information disclosed in these footnotes relates to

Siemens worldwide unless otherwise stated.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation – The consolidated financial state-

ments include the accounts of Siemens AG and all sub-

sidiaries which are directly or indirectly controlled.

Results of associated companies – companies in which

Siemens, directly or indirectly, has 20% to 50% of the vot-

ing rights and the ability to exercise significant influence

over operating and financial policies – are recorded in the

consolidated financial statements using the equity

method of accounting.

A complete list of Siemens’ holdings is being filed with

the Commercial Registries of the Berlin-Charlottenburg

and Munich District Courts.

Foreign currency translation – The assets and liabili-

ties of foreign subsidiaries, where the functional currency

is other than the euro, are translated using period-end

exchange rates, while the statements of operations are

translated using average exchange rates during the peri-

od. Differences arising from such translations are includ-

ed as a separate component of shareholders’ equity.

The exchange rates of the significant currencies of

non-euro countries used in the preparation of the consoli-

dated financial statements were as follows:
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Notes

Year-end Annual
iso exchange average

Currency code rate (€) rate (€)

Sept. 30, Fiscal year
2002 2001 2002 2001

100 Swiss francs chf 68.45 67.70 68.09 66.61

1 British pound gbp 1.59 1.60 1.60 1.61

1 U.S. dollar usd 1.02 1.09 1.08 1.11



Revenue recognition – Revenue is recognized for

product sales when title passes, the risks and rewards of

ownership have been transferred to the customer, the fee

is fixed or determinable, and collection of the related

receivable is probable. If product sales are subject to cus-

tomer acceptance, revenues are not recognized until cus-

tomer acceptance occurs. For product sales which require

the Company to install the product at the customer loca-

tion, and for which installation is essential to the func-

tionality of the product being installed, revenue is recog-

nized when the equipment has been delivered to and

installed at the customer location. Revenues from service

transactions are recognized based on service perform-

ance. For long-term service contracts, revenues are gener-

ally recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of

the contract. Revenues under certain fixed-price long-

term IT-related contracts and revenues from long-term

construction-type projects are generally recognized under

the percentage-of-completion method, based on the per-

centage of costs to date compared to the total estimated

contract costs, contractual milestones or performance.

Operating lease income for the rental of equipment is rec-

ognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Inter-

est income from capital leases is recognized using the

interest method.

Product-related expenses and contract loss provi-

sions – Provisions for estimated costs related to product

warranties are made at the time the related sale is record-

ed. Research and development costs are expensed as

incurred. Contract loss provisions are established in the

period when the current estimate of total contract costs

exceeds contract revenue.

Earnings per share – Basic earnings per share is

computed by dividing net income by the weighted average

shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings

per share is calculated by adjusting outstanding shares

assuming conversion of all potentially dilutive stock

options. Share and per share data for all periods present-

ed reflect the Company’s 3-for-2 stock split in fiscal 2001

and are based on the new number of shares (except where

otherwise stated).

Cash and cash equivalents – The Company considers

all highly liquid investments purchased with an original

maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Marketable securities and investments – The Com-

pany’s marketable securities are accounted for at fair val-

ue if readily determinable. Securities are classified as

either available-for-sale or trading securities. Manage-

ment determines the appropriate classification of its

investments in marketable securities at the time of pur-

chase and reevaluates such determination at each balance

sheet date. Marketable securities classified as available-

for-sale are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains

and losses included in accumulated other comprehensive

income, net of applicable deferred taxes. Realized gains

and losses are accounted for using the specific identifica-

tion method.

The Company’s trading securities consist of mar-

ketable securities and money market instruments. Gains

and losses, both realized and unrealized, as well as other

income earned from these assets such as dividends and

interest are included in “Income from financial assets and

marketable securities, net.” Investments for which there is

no readily determinable market value are recorded at cost.

Available-for-sale marketable securities and invest-

ments which incur a decline in value below cost that is

judged to be other than temporary are considered

impaired. The Company considers all available evidence

such as market conditions and prices, investee specific

factors and the duration and extent to which fair value is

less than cost in evaluating potential impairment of its

marketable securities and investments. Impairments are

recognized in earnings in the period in which the decline

in value is judged to be other than temporary and a new

cost basis in the marketable security or investment is

established.

n o t e s  t o  c o n s o l i d at e d  f i n a n c i a l  s tat e m e n t s 97

(in millions of €, except where otherwise stated and per share amounts)



Securitization transactions – When the Company

sells trade receivables in securitizations, it retains a

deferred payment account and servicing obligations, all of

which are retained interests in the securitized receivables.

Servicing responsibilities for these transactions remain

with the Company, for which it receives an adequate serv-

icing fee. The gain or loss on the sale of receivables is

determined based upon the difference between the total

proceeds received on the sale and the allocated carrying

amount of the sold receivables. The allocated carrying

amount is determined based upon the relative fair value

of the receivables sold and the retained interest. Fair val-

ues are based upon quoted market prices whenever avail-

able. As such information is generally not available for

retained interests, estimates of fair values are based on

the present value of future expected cash flows deter-

mined using management’s best estimate of key assump-

tions including credit risk and discount rates commensu-

rate with the risks involved. In subsequent periods

following securitization, retained interests in securitized

receivables are carried at fair value. Changes in fair value

of retained interests are recognized in earnings.

Inventories – Inventory is valued at the lower of acqui-

sition or production cost or market, cost being generally

determined on the basis of an average or first-in, first-out

method (FIFO). Production costs comprise direct material

and labor and applicable manufacturing overheads,

including depreciation charges. The determination of the

market value involves valuation allowances derived from

consumption trends.

Intangible assets – Intangible assets consist of good-

will and patents, software, licenses and similar rights. In

July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board

(FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Stan-

dards (SFAS) 141, “Business Combinations,” and SFAS 142,

“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Since October 1,

2001, the Company amortizes, consistent with these state-

ments, intangible assets with finite useful lives on a

straight-line basis over their respective estimated useful

lives to their estimated residual values. Goodwill and

intangible assets other than goodwill which are deter-

mined to have indefinite useful lives are not amortized,

but instead tested for impairment at least annually. In

connection with the adoption of SFAS 142, the Company

was required to reassess the lives of its intangible assets

and determined that none of its intangible assets have

indefinite useful lives. The Company evaluates the recov-

erability of goodwill using a two-step impairment test

approach at the division level. In the first step, the fair val-

ue of the division is compared to its book value including

goodwill. In the case that the fair value of the division is

less than its book value, a second step is performed which

compares the fair value of the division’s goodwill to the

book value of its goodwill. The fair value of goodwill is

determined based upon the difference between the fair

value of the division and the net of the fair values of the

identifiable assets and liabilities of the division. If the fair

value of goodwill is less than the book value, the differ-

ence is recorded as an impairment. See footnote 14 for

further information.

Before October 1, 2001, intangible assets other than

goodwill were amortized on a straight-line basis over the

shorter of their contractual rights or estimated useful

lives. Except for goodwill acquired in a business combina-

tion for which the acquisition date was after June 30, 2001,

goodwill was amortized over its estimated period of bene-

fit on a straight-line basis not exceeding 40 years. The

Company evaluated the recoverability of goodwill when

events or circumstances warranted revised estimates of

useful lives or indicated that an impairment existed,

based on projected future cash flows discounted at a risk-

adjusted rate. If the carrying amount of the net assets,

including goodwill, exceeded the sum of the discounted

cash flows, an impairment was recorded. Such impair-

ment charges were recorded in the amount of the excess

of the carrying value of the net tangible and identifiable

intangible assets and goodwill over the discounted cash

flows of the business evaluated. In the determination of

projected future cash flows, the Company considered cur-

rent and projected levels of profitability, business and

technological trends and economic and other develop-

ments.
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Property, plant and equipment – Property, plant and

equipment is valued at acquisition or manufacturing cost

less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation expense is

recognized either using the declining balance method

until the straight-line method yields larger expenses or

the straight-line method. Costs of construction of certain

long-term assets include capitalized interest, which is

amortized over the estimated useful life of the related

asset. The following useful lives are assumed:

less of the purpose or intent for holding them. Changes in

the fair value of derivative financial instruments are rec-

ognized periodically either in income or, in the case of a

cash flow hedge, in shareholders’ equity (as a component

of other comprehensive income). SFAS 133 also requires

that certain derivative instruments embedded in host

contracts be accounted for separately as derivatives. In

accordance with the provisions of SFAS 133, the Company

has chosen January 1, 1999, as its transition date for

embedded derivatives. Accordingly, only those derivatives

embedded in host contracts issued, acquired or substan-

tially modified on or after January 1, 1999, are accounted

for separately as derivatives in the financial statements of

the Company.

See footnote 23, “Derivative instruments and hedging

activities,” for a description of the Company’s risk man-

agement strategies and the effect these strategies have on

the consolidated financial statements.

Taxes – The Company applies SFAS 109, “Accounting

for Income Taxes.” Under the asset and liability method of

SFAS 109, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized

for the future tax consequences attributable to differences

between the financial statement carrying amounts of

existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax

bases. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a

change in tax laws is recognized in the results of opera-

tions in the period the new laws are enacted. A valuation

allowance is recorded to reduce the carrying amounts of

deferred tax assets unless it is more likely than not that

such assets will be realized.

Environmental clean-up costs – The Company

charges to expense environmental clean-up costs related

to existing conditions resulting from past or current oper-

ations from which no current or future benefit is dis-

cernible. Liabilities for these expenditures are recorded

on a site-by-site basis at the time when they are probable

and can be reasonably estimated. Expenditures which

extend the life of the related property or mitigate or pre-

vent future environmental contamination are capitalized.

Environmental liabilities are discounted when the associ-

ated payments are deemed to be fixed or reliably deter-

minable.
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Factory and office buildings 20 to 50 years

Other buildings 5 to 10 years

Technical machinery & equipment 5 to 10 years

Furniture & office equipment generally 5 years

Equipment leased to others generally 3 to 5 years

Impairment of long-lived assets – The Company

reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events

or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying

amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability

of assets to be held and used is measured by the compari-

son of the carrying amount of the asset to the undiscount-

ed future net cash flows expected to be generated by the

asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the

impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount

by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the

fair value of the assets. Estimated fair value is generally

based on either appraised value or measured by discount-

ed estimated future cash flows.

Derivative instruments and hedging activities –

Effective October 1, 1999, the Company adopted SFAS 133,

“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging

Activities,” as amended, which requires all derivative

instruments, such as interest rate swap contracts and for-

eign-currency exchange contracts, be recognized in the

financial statements and measured at fair value regard-



Issuance of shares by subsidiaries or associated

companies – Gains or losses arising from the issuances

of shares by subsidiaries or associated companies, due

to changes in the Company’s proportionate share of the

value of the issuer’s equity, are recorded as income or

expense pursuant to U.S. Securities and Exchange Com-

mission Staff Accounting Bulletin Topic 5H, “Accounting

for Sales of Stock by a Subsidiary.”

Use of estimates – The preparation of financial state-

ments requires management to make estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets

and liabilities and disclosure of contingent amounts at

the date of the financial statements and reported amounts

of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassification – The presentation of certain prior

year information has been reclassified to conform to the

current year presentation.

Recent accounting pronouncements – In June 2001,

the FASB issued SFAS 143, “Accounting for Asset Retire-

ment Obligations,” which addresses financial accounting

and reporting for obligations associated with the retire-

ment of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset

retirement costs. The standard applies to legal obligations

associated with the retirement of long-lived assets that

result from the acquisition, construction, development or

normal use of the asset. SFAS 143 requires that the fair val-

ue of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be rec-

ognized in the period in which it is incurred if a reason-

able estimate of fair value can be made. The fair value of

the liability is added to the carrying amount of the associ-

ated asset and this additional carrying amount is depreci-

ated over the life of the asset. The liability is accreted at

the end of each period through charges to operating

expense. If the obligation is settled for other than the car-

rying amount of the liability, the Company will recognize

a gain or loss on settlement. SFAS 143 is required to be

adopted for the fiscal year beginning October 1, 2002. The

adoption of SFAS 143 will have no material impact on the

Company’s financial statements.

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 144, “Accounting

for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,”

which supersedes SFAS 121, “Accounting for the Impair-

ment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to

Be Disposed Of,” and the accounting and reporting provi-

sions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion 30, “Report-

ing the Results of Operations – Reporting the Effects of

Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary,

Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transac-

tions,” for the disposal of a segment of a business. This

statement establishes a single accounting model based on

SFAS 121 for long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale,

including discontinued operations. Major changes include

additional criteria for long-lived assets to qualify as “held

for sale” and the requirement that long-lived assets to be

disposed of other than by sale be classified as held and

used until the disposal transaction occurs. SFAS 144

retains the current requirement to separately report dis-

continued operations but expands that reporting to

include a component of an entity (rather than only a seg-

ment of a business) that either has been disposed of or is

classified as held for sale. The new rules require long-lived

assets to be disposed of by sale to be recorded at the lower

of carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell and to

cease depreciation. Therefore, discontinued operations

are no longer measured at net realizable value, as a result

expected future operating losses are no longer recognized

before they are actually incurred. The Company is

required to adopt SFAS 144 prospectively for the fiscal year

beginning October 1, 2002. The adoption of SFAS 144 may

lead to more disposals being presented as discontinued

operations, but is not otherwise expected to have a materi-

al impact on the Company’s financial statements.

In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 146, “Accounting for

Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” which

nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue 94-3,

“Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination

Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Cer-

tain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).” SFAS 146

requires that a liability for costs associated with exit or

disposal activities first be recognized when the liability is

irrevocably incurred rather than at the date of manage-

ment’s commitment to an exit or disposal plan. Examples

of costs covered by the standard include certain employee

severance costs, contract termination costs and costs to
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consolidate or close facilities or relocate employees. In

addition, SFAS 146 stipulates that the liability be measured

at fair value and adjusted for changes in estimated cash

flows. The provisions of the new standard are effective

prospectively for exit or disposal activities initiated after

December 31, 2002, with earlier application encouraged.

The Company does not anticipate that the adoption of

SFAS 146 will materially affect its financial statements.

3 Acquisitions and dispositions

Acquisitions

During the years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001, the

Company completed a number of acquisitions. These

acquisitions have been accounted for under the purchase

method and have been included in the Company’s consoli-

dated financial statements since the date of acquisitions.

In November 2000, Medical Solutions (Med) acquired

Acuson Corporation. The aggregate purchase price was

approximately €780. In connection with this acquisition,

approximately €345 was capitalized as goodwill and, until

September 30, 2001, was being amortized on a straight-

line basis over 20 years. Approximately €47 of IPR&D was

charged to expense as research and development cost.

In January 2001, the merger of the nuclear power busi-

nesses of Siemens and Framatome S.A. was completed.

The Company holds a 34% minority interest in the compa-

ny, called Framatome ANP. This investment is accounted

for using the equity method.

In April 2001, Siemens’ Information and Communica-

tion Networks group (ICN) completed the acquisition of

Efficient Networks, Inc. The purchase price was approxi-

mately €1.6 billion, plus the assumption of €457 of debt.

In connection with this acquisition, approximately €1.2

billion has been recorded as goodwill and, until Septem-

ber 30, 2001, was being amortized on a straight-line

basis over 5 years. IPR&D of approximately €17 was

charged to expense as research and development cost

(see footnote14).

In April 2001, Siemens completed the acquisition of a

controlling interest of 50% plus two shares in Atecs Man-

nesmann AG (Atecs), an automotive and automation tech-

nology company. In accordance with the purchase agree-

ment, prior to closing, Siemens paid €3.1 billion to

Mannesmann AG. As of the date of closing, Siemens made

a capital contribution to Atecs. The purchase agreement

also provided Siemens the option to acquire Mannesmann

AG’s remaining interest in Atecs, either at the option of

Mannesmann during the period from the date of closing

through September 30, 2002, or at the option of Siemens

during the period from April 1, 2002 through December

31, 2003. The Company has accounted for the Atecs trans-

action as the purchase of a 100% interest using the pur-

chase method of accounting. The purchase price for 100%

of Atecs of €9.6 billion, including the assumption of €2.8

billion of financial debt and pension liabilities, was allo-

cated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based

on estimated fair values. In connection with the acquisi-

tion, €62 of IPR&D was charged to expense. The excess of

€1.9 billion in the purchase price over the fair value of the

net identifiable assets acquired and IPR&D has been

recorded as goodwill and, until September 30, 2001, was

being amortized on a straight-line basis over 40 years.

In connection with the Atecs transaction, Siemens

entered into a put option contract giving Siemens the

right to sell Rexroth AG (Rexroth), a wholly owned sub-

sidiary of Atecs, to Robert Bosch GmbH (Bosch) for an

adjusted equity value of €2.7 billion. The put option was

exercisable from January 2002 through December 31,

2002 (see below under “Dispositions”).

In January 2002, the Company completed its acquisi-

tion of Atecs through Vodafone AG’s exercise of its option

to sell its 50% minus two shares stake in Atecs to Siemens

for cash consideration of approximately €3.7 billion.

The purchase price was paid on March 1, 2002 (see foot-

note 17).

The Company made certain other acquisitions during

the years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001, accounted

for by the purchase method of accounting, which did not

have a significant effect on the consolidated financial

statements.
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Dispositions

In December 2000, Infineon sold its Image & Video busi-

ness unit. After giving effect to the minority interest own-

ership of Infineon, the gain increased the Company’s pre-

tax income by €143.

On November 20, 2001, the Company sold Mannes-

mann Sachs AG (Sachs) to ZF Friedrichshafen AG. The dis-

position resulted in net proceeds of €716. This business

had been accounted for as an asset held-for-sale and no

gain or loss was recorded in connection with the disposi-

tion (see footnote 12).

On December 5, 2001, Siemens entered into a transac-

tion as described below under “Deconsolidation of Infi-

neon,” the effect of which is that it no longer has majority

voting interest in Infineon and from such date no longer

included the assets and liabilities and results of opera-

tions of Infineon in its consolidated financial statements

but instead accounts for its interest in Infineon using the

equity method.

In January 2002, Siemens exercised its option to sell its

remaining interest in Rexroth, a wholly-owned subsidiary

of Atecs classified as held–for-sale, to Bosch for an adjust-

ed equity value of €2.7 billion less proceeds from busi-

nesses already sold to Bosch. This business had been

accounted for as an asset held-for-sale and no gain or loss

was recorded in connection with the disposition (see foot-

note 12).

On July 1, 2002, Siemens completed the sale of Uni-

sphere Networks, Inc. to Juniper Networks, Inc. (Juniper)

in exchange for €376 cash and 35.8 million shares of

Juniper stock. At closing, the value of the Juniper shares

received was €208. The sale transaction resulted in a pre-

tax gain of €421. Included in the gain calculation is €179,

representing the book value of Unisphere’s goodwill (see

footnote 14). As a result of the transaction Siemens held

9.7% of Juniper common shares. The Juniper shares held

by Siemens are subject to certain restriction provisions.

Accordingly, Siemens may only sell 3 million of Juniper

common shares during each of the first three quarters

beginning 3 months subsequent to closing and after-

wards 6 million of Juniper common shares each quarter

thereafter. Accordingly, 15 million Juniper common shares

were shown as securities available-for-sale as of Septem-

ber 30, 2002, the remainder being included under “Invest-

ments.”

In September 2002, Siemens completed the sale of sev-

eral business activities to Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co.

L.P. (KKR). KKR took over units that had belonged to the

former Atecs Mannesmann Group: Mannesmann Plastics

Machinery, the gas spring producer Stabilus, Demag

Cranes & Components and the harbor crane unit

Gottwald. As part of the package, Siemens also sold the

metering business of its Power Transmission and Distrib-

ution group, the Ceramics Division of its Power Genera-

tion group, and Network Systems, a regional service busi-

ness belonging to its Information and Communication

Networks group. The business activities were placed in a

holding company, called Demag Holding s.a.r.l (Luxem-

bourg). The gross purchase price totaled €1.69 billion.

KKR holds an 81% and Siemens a 19% stake in the holding

company. In addition to this 19% equity stake in the hold-

ing company Siemens received a vendor note of €215 and

another note receivable of €38. The purchaser assumed

net debt of €372 million, and Siemens received net cash

proceeds of approximately €1.0 billion. The transaction

resulted in a pre-tax gain of €21 million. Siemens will use

cost accounting for its 19% interest in Demag Holding. The

governing structure of Demag Holding provides for KKR

to have absolute control over virtually all operating, finan-

cial, and other management decisions, while Siemens

ownership is proportionate to the investment and only

passive in nature.

Deconsolidation of Infineon

As of December 5, 2001, Siemens deconsolidated Infineon.

The deconsolidation followed a series of other transac-

tions pursuant to which the Company reduced its owner-

ship interest in Infineon from approximately 71% at the

beginning of fiscal 2001 to 47.1% at December 31, 2001.

In April 2001, Siemens irrevocably transferred

93,825,225 Infineon shares to its domestic pension trust.

A pre-tax gain of €3,459 (after tax gain of €2,519) was real-

ized on the non-cash contribution of these shares based

upon the market price of Infineon shares at the date of

transfer. The business purpose of the contribution of Infi-

neon shares to this pension trust was to shore up an

already existing under-funded position in the pension

trust that was to increase substantially during the third

quarter of fiscal 2001 following the Company’s acquisition

of Atecs. As a result of the transfer, the Company reduced

its ownership interest in Infineon by approximately 15%

of Infineon’s then outstanding share capital.
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In July 2001, Infineon completed a capital increase by

way of a public offering of 60 million of its shares for

which Siemens realized a pre-tax gain of €484.

In August 2001, Infineon issued an additional 6.4 mil-

lion shares of new stock in connection with the acquisi-

tion of Catamaran Communications Inc. As a result of this

transaction, the Company realized a pre-tax gain of €83.

The acquisition of Catamaran Communications Inc. was

accounted for using the purchase method of accounting

with a purchase price of €252 resulting in goodwill of €179

and a charge for acquired IPR&D of €57.

As a result of Siemens’ irrevocable transfer of Infineon

shares into the domestic pension trust, the follow-on

offering of 60 million shares by Infineon and additional

dilution resulting from acquisitions made by Infineon

using its shares, Siemens’ ownership interest in Infineon

decreased to approximately 50.4% as of September 30,

2001.

During the first quarter of fiscal 2002, the Company

sold 23.1 million shares of Infineon in open market trans-

actions resulting in net proceeds of €556 and reducing its

ownership interest to its December 31, 2001 level of 47.1%.

As a result of these sales Siemens realized a tax-free gain

of €332.

On December 5, 2001, the Company transferred 200

million Infineon shares or approximately 28.9% of Infi-

neon’s share capital to an irrevocable, non-voting trust

under a trust agreement. The trustee is not related to the

Company or any of its affiliates. Under the terms of the

trust agreement, the trustee has legal title to the shares

held in trust and the Company has irrevocably relin-

quished all voting rights in the shares. However, the

trustee is not permitted to vote any Infineon shares it

holds in trust under the agreement. The Company contin-

ues to be entitled to all the benefits of economic owner-

ship of the shares held in trust, including the right to

receive cash dividends and other cash distributions,

which the trustee has agreed to pay to the Company

promptly upon receipt. The trustee is not entitled to sell or

encumber the shares held in trust except at the Compa-

ny’s direction, but the Company has agreed not to direct

the sale of any such shares to itself, any affiliate, any vehi-

cle established by the Company or any of its affiliates, or

to Infineon. The trustee has agreed to pay to the Company

any proceeds resulting from a permitted sale. Under the

arrangement, the trustee holds the shares in trust for the

benefit of the beneficiaries under the trust agreement,

which include the Company as trustor and third party

shareholders of Infineon. The trust agreement will termi-

nate only when the Company and its affiliates, on a con-

solidated basis, have held, directly or indirectly, less than

50% of the voting share capital of Infineon, including the

shares held in trust by the trustee, for a period of two con-

secutive years. Upon termination, any shares held by the

trustee would revert to the Company and the Company

would be again entitled to vote these shares. Certain pro-

visions of the trust agreement, including those relating to

voting and transfer of the shares held in trust, may not be

amended without the approval of Infineon’s shareholders.

Under the terms of a related standstill agreement, the

Company has agreed with the trustee that it will not, and

it will not permit its affiliates to, directly or indirectly,

acquire or offer to acquire ownership of Infineon shares,

or securities convertible into Infineon shares, or any oth-

er Infineon voting securities or securities convertible into

Infineon voting securities. The Company has also agreed

that neither it nor any of its affiliates will procure for itself

any third party’s voting rights in respect of Infineon

shares. These provisions terminate on the termination of

the trust agreement.

The Company’s irrevocable transfer of Infineon shares

to the non-voting trust on December 5, 2001, reduced the

Company’s voting interest in Infineon by an amount cor-

responding to the number of shares transferred. Accord-

ingly, while the Company’s ownership interest at Decem-

ber 31, 2001 was 47.1%, its voting interest based on total

outstanding shares of Infineon was 18.2%. Such voting

interest, when combined with the voting interest in Infi-

neon shares of 13.2% held by the Company’s domestic

pension trust, represented a combined voting interest of

31.4% as of December 31, 2001. Since shareholders of Infi-

neon other than the Company and the pension trust

owned approximately 39.7% of Infineon’s share capital as

of December 31, 2001, they control a majority of the shares

that may be voted at any Infineon shareholders’ meeting.

The effect of the transfer of Infineon shares into the non-

voting trust resulted in shareholders in Infineon other

than the Company and the pension trust having a dispro-

portionate voting interest (see footnote 13).
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As the Company no longer has a majority voting inter-

est in Infineon, it has from December 5, 2001 no longer

included the assets and liabilities and results of opera-

tions of Infineon in its consolidated financial statements

and instead accounts for its ownership interest in Infi-

neon using the equity method. Under the equity method

of accounting, the Company’s net investment in Infineon

is included within “Long-term investments” in the consol-

idated balance sheets, and its share of the net income or

losses of Infineon is included as part of “Income (loss)

from investments in other companies, net” in the consoli-

dated statements of income.

After the deconsolidation, in January 2002, the Compa-

ny sold an additional 40 million shares of Infineon in

open market transactions resulting in net proceeds of

€966. As a result of these sales Siemens realized a tax-free

gain of €604. Siemens’ ownership interest in Infineon

decreased to approximately 39.7% as of September 30,

2002 (see footnote 13).

Siemens’ net income for the fiscal years ended Septem-

ber 30, 2002 and 2001, includes the Company’s share of

the loss of Infineon of €453 and €263, respectively.

4 Other operating income (expense), net

5 Income (loss) from investments in other 

companies, net
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Year ended
September 30,

2002 2001

Gains on sales and disposals 
of businesses 1,455 4,278

Gains (losses) on sales of property, 
plant and equipment, net 155 151

Amortization and impairment 
of goodwill (378) (1,489)

Other 89 (178)

1,321 2,762

Year ended
September 30,

2002 2001

Income from investments 61 166

Share in earnings (losses) 
from equity investees, net (158) 213

Gains on sales of investments 209 138

Losses on sales of investments (32) (279)

Write-downs on investments (193) (231)

Other (1) 42

(114) 49

Year ended
September 30,

2002 2001

Gains on sales of available-for-sale 
securities, net 20 426

Income from trading securities – –

Other financial losses, net (2) (253)

18 173For a description of significant items included in “Gains

on sales and disposals of businesses” see footnote 3.

As described in footnote 2, the Company ceased to

amortize goodwill at the beginning of fiscal 2002 due to

the adoption of SFAS 142. “Amortization and impairment

of goodwill” in fiscal 2002 relates to the Access Solutions

division of ICN. In fiscal 2001, included in this line item

are impairments relating to Efficient Networks Inc. and

Milltronics Ltd. (see footnote 14). “Other” includes amorti-

zation of other intangibles.

“Share in earnings (losses) from equity investees” for

fiscal 2002 includes negative €338, representing Siemens’

share in the net loss of Infineon since the deconsolidation

of Infineon in December 2001. The Company’s total share

in the loss of Infineon for fiscal 2002 amounts to €453.

“Gains on sales of investments” for fiscal 2002 includes

the gains on the sale of two centrally held investments

totaling €133. Included in “Losses on sales of invest-

ments” for the year ended September 30, 2001 is a €209

loss on the sale of an investment in a domestic equity and

debt security fund.

6 Income from financial assets and marketable

securities, net

In fiscal 2002 and 2001, included in “Other financial

losses, net,” are impairments of certain marketable

securities totaling €24 and €217, respectively, where the

decline in value was determined to be other than tempo-

rary.



7 Interest income, net For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2002, under

the provisions applicable as a result of German Tax

Reform, the Company is subject to German federal corpo-

ration income tax at a base rate of 25% plus a solidarity

surcharge of 5.5% on federal corporation taxes payable; as

a result the statutory rate for the year ended September

30, 2002 consists of the federal corporate tax rate, includ-

ing solidarity surcharge, of 26.4%; and trade tax net of

federal benefit of 12.6% for a combined rate of 39%.

For the year ended September 30, 2001, German corpo-

ration tax law applied a split rate imputation credit system

to the income taxation of corporations and their share-

holders, as a result in accordance with the tax law in effect

for fiscal 2001, retained corporation income was initially

subject to a federal corporation tax rate of 40%, plus a soli-

darity surcharge of 5.5% for each year on federal corpo-

rate taxes payable. The statutory rate for the year ended

September 30, 2001 consisted of the federal corporate tax

rate, including solidarity surcharge, of 42.2% and trade

tax net of federal benefit of 9.8% for a combined rate of

52%. Upon distribution of retained earnings to sharehold-

ers, the corporation income tax rate on such distributed

earnings was adjusted to 30%, plus solidarity surcharge

of 5.5% for a total of 31.65%. This reduction was effected

by means of a refund for taxes previously paid, and was

referred to as the dividend tax credit.

In October 2000, the German government enacted new

tax legislation which, among other changes, reduced the

Company’s statutory tax rate in Germany from 40% on

retained earnings and 30% on distributed earnings to a

uniform 25% effective for the Company’s year ending

September 30, 2002, as referred to above. In September

2002, the German government enacted the Flood Victim

Solidarity Law. Under this legislation, for the Company’s

fiscal year ending September 30, 2003 only, the base rate

of German federal corporation taxation is increased from

25% to 26.5%. Included in the 2002 financial statements is

a deferred tax benefit of €7 reflecting the net tax impact of

items which are expected to reverse in fiscal year 2003 at a

differentiated rate for 2003.
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Year ended
September 30,

2002 2001

Interest income (expense) 
of Operations, net 94 (32)

Other interest (expense) income, net 224 43

Total net interest income 318 11

Thereof: Interest and similar income 1,061 964

Thereof: Interest and similar expense (743) (953)

“Interest income (expense) of Operations, net”

includes interest income and expense related to receiv-

ables from customers and payables to suppliers, interest

on advances from customers and advanced financing of

customer contracts. “Other interest (expense) income,

net” includes all other interest amounts primarily consist-

ing of interest relating to debt and related hedging activi-

ties as well as interest income on corporate assets.

8 Income taxes

Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interests

is attributable to the following geographic regions:

Year ended
September 30,

2002 2001

Current:

German corporation and trade taxes 105 228

Foreign income taxes 935 517

1,040 745

Deferred:

Germany (454) (131)

Foreign 263 167

(191) 36

Net income tax expense 849 781

Year ended
September 30,

2002 2001

Germany (1,033) 1,446

Foreign 4,508 1,232

3,475 2,678

Income tax expense (benefit) consists of the following:



Income tax expense differs from the amounts comput-

ed by applying the German federal corporation income

tax rate, including the solidarity surcharge, plus the after-

federal tax benefit rate for trade taxes on income (39% for

fiscal year 2002 and 52% for fiscal year 2001) as follows:

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are summa-

rized as follows:
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Year ended
September 30,

2002 2001

Expected income tax expense 1,355 1,393

Increase (decrease) in income 
taxes resulting from:

Nondeductible losses and expenses 164 144

Goodwill and acquired in-process 
research and development 162 853

Tax-free income (18) (43)

Gains from sales of business interests (586) (859)

Effect of change in German tax rates:

Effect of change on deferred taxes 
at date of enactment (7) (222)

Effect of change on deferred taxes 
arising during the year –  367

Foreign tax rate differential (171) (768)

Tax effect of equity method 
investments (72) (111)

Other 22 27

Actual income tax expense 849 781

September 30,
2002 2001

Intangibles 232 339

Property, plant and equipment 419 434

Inventories 290 605

Receivables 524 413

Retirement plans 620 74

Other accrued liabilities 1,499 1,356

Other liabilities 3,495 3,092

Deferred income 195 223

Tax loss and credit carryforwards 2,195 1,767

Other 450 272

Total deferred tax assets, 
before valuation allowances 9,919 8,575

Valuation allowances (547) (551)

Deferred tax assets 9,372 8,024

Intangibles 556 373

Property, plant and equipment 567 732

Inventories 1,406 750

Receivables 940 1,106

Other accrued liabilities 637 123

Other liabilities 481 211

Investments –   118

Other 743 679

Total deferred tax liabilities 5,330 4,092

Deferred tax assets, net 4,042 3,932

As of September 30, 2002, the Company has approxi-

mately €5,831 of gross tax loss carryforwards. Of the total,

€4,881 tax loss carryforwards have unlimited carryfor-

ward periods and €950 expire over the period to 2020.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets,

management considers whether it is more likely than not

that some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be real-

ized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is

dependent upon the generation of future taxable profits

during the periods in which those temporary differences

and tax loss carryforwards become deductible. Manage-

ment considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax lia-

bilities and projected future taxable income in making

this assessment. Based upon the level of historical taxable



income and projections for future taxable income over the

periods which the deferred tax assets are deductible, man-

agement believes it is more likely than not the Company

will realize the benefits of these deductible differences,

after giving effect to related valuation allowances.

The Company provides for income taxes or foreign

withholding taxes on the cumulative earnings of foreign

subsidiaries when it is determined that such earnings

either will be subject to taxes or are intended to be repatri-

ated. During the year ended September 30, 2002, the Com-

pany provided for €17 of deferred tax liabilities associated

with declared, but unpaid, foreign dividends. Income

taxes on cumulative earnings of €5,301 of foreign sub-

sidiaries have not been provided for because such earn-

ings will either not be subject to any such taxes or are

intended to be indefinitely reinvested in those operations.

It is not practicable to estimate the amount of the unrec-

ognized deferred tax liabilities for these undistributed

foreign earnings.

Including the items charged or credited directly to

related components of shareholders’ equity, the provision

(benefit) for income taxes consists of the following:
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Year ended
September 30,

2002 2001

Provision for income taxes 849 781

Shareholders’ equity for other 
comprehensive income (1,008) (3,326)

(159) (2,545)

9 Marketable securities

As of September 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company’s portfo-

lio of marketable securities consisted solely of securities

classified as available-for-sale.

The following tables summarize the Company’s invest-

ment in available-for-sale securities:

September 30, 2001
Fair Unrealized

Cost Value Gain Loss

Equity securities 244 480 291 55

Debt securities 126 124 – 2

Fund securities 190 187 4 7

560 791 295 64

September 30, 2002
Fair Unrealized

Cost Value Gain Loss

Equity securities 238 199 9 48

Debt securities 52 53 1 –

Fund securities 158 147 1 12

448 399 11 60

Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securi-

ties included in accumulated other comprehensive income

(loss) (AOCI) are shown net of applicable deferred income

taxes, as well as tax effects which were previously provid-

ed but were reversed into earnings upon the changes in

the German tax law enacted in October 2000. Those tax

effects amounted to €134 and will remain in AOCI until

such time as the entire portfolio of available-for-sale

securities in Germany is liquidated.



The estimated fair values of investments in debt secu-

rities by contractual maturity were as follows:

The valuation allowance for accounts receivable devel-

oped as follows:
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September 30, 2002

Due within one year 25

Due after one year through five years 27

Thereafter 1

September 30, 2002

2003 1,203

2004 1,200

2005 810

2006 469

2007 211

Thereafter 145

Minimum future lease payments 4,038

Less: Unearned income (549)

Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts (153)

Plus: Unguaranteed residual values 130

Net investment in lease receivables 3,466

Less: Long-term portion (2,320)

Receivables from sales and 
finance leases, current 1,146

Year ended
September 30,

2002 2001

Valuation allowance as of beginning 
of fiscal year 1,785 1,610

Amount charged to expense in 
current period 215 505

Write-offs charged against 
the allowance (385) (383)

Recoveries of amounts previously 
written-off 37 45

Foreign exchange translation 
adjustment (67) 8

Valuation allowance as 
of September 30 1,585 1,785

September 30,
2002 2001

Trade receivables from the sale 
of goods and services, net 13,882 16,115

Receivables from sales and finance 
leases, net 1,146 1,220

Receivables from associated and 
related companies, net 202 399

15,230 17,734

Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturity

because borrowers have the right to call or prepay certain

obligations.

Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale securities for

the years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001 were €398

and €1,143, respectively. Gross realized gains on sales of

available-for-sale securities for the years ended Septem-

ber 30, 2002 and 2001 were €29 and €426, respectively.

Gross realized losses on sales of available-for-sale securi-

ties for the year ended September 30, 2002, were €9.

10 Accounts receivable, net

Related companies are those in which Siemens has an

ownership interest of less than 20% and no significant

influence over their operating and financial policies.

Receivables from sales and finance leases

Investment in direct financing and sales-type leases

primarily relates to equipment for information and com-

munication products, data processing and medical engi-

neering equipment. Investments in direct financing leas-

es also include leases of industrial and consumer products

of third party manufacturers. Actual cash flows will vary

from contractual maturities due to future sales of finance

receivables, prepayments and write-offs.



Securitization of trade receivables

The following tables present quantitative information

about delinquencies and net credit losses for total short-

term trade receivables, excluding allowances, and the

securitization of such receivables through the SieFunds

structure, as of and for the years ended September 30, 2002

and 2001.

The value of retained interests is subject to credit, pre-

payment, and interest rate risks of the trade receivables

sold. The weighted average key assumptions used in

measuring the retained interests at the time of securitiza-

tion resulting from securitizations completed during the

years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001, were as fol-

lows: average days outstanding were 43 and 61, discount

rate was 3.0% and 4.6% per annum and credit risk was

0.4% and 0.6% per annum, respectively.

For the years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001, the

Company recognized pre-tax losses of €22 and €13,

respectively, on the securitizations of trade receivables

through SieFunds and received cash from new securitiza-

tions totaling approximately €4,156 and €1,673, respec-

tively, from securitization trusts. The Company also

received cash flows of €365 and €95, respectively, from

retained interests.

As of September 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company’s

retained interests in trade receivables sold had a fair value

of €50 and €65, respectively. The key economic assump-

tions used in measuring these retained interests were as

follows: average days outstanding were 37 and 64, dis-

count rate was 3.0% and 4.0% per annum and credit risk

was 0.5% and 0.7% per annum, respectively.

11 Inventories, net
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(in millions of €, except where otherwise stated and per share amounts)

September 30,
2002 2001

Raw materials and supplies 2,430 2,387

Work in process 1,674 3,564

Costs and earnings in excess of billings 
on uncompleted contracts 5,572 6,263

Finished goods and products 
held for resale 3,385 4,004

Advances to suppliers 544 609

Subtotal 13,605 16,827

Advance payments received (2,933) (3,421)

10,672 13,406

During fiscal 2002 and 2001, the Company sold a total

of €4,553 and €1,848, respectively, in short-term trade

receivable securitizations. The Company has retained

interests in all trade receivables sold through SieFunds,

which are subordinated to the interests of the investors.

In addition, the Company has provided letters of credit to

cover up to an additional 17% of credit losses on such

trade receivables. As of September 30, 2002 and 2001,

these letters cover €40 and €127 of receivables originated

by the Company. Except for such subordinated retained

interests and letters of credit, the investors and securiti-

zation trusts have no recourse to the Company’s other

assets and liabilities for failure of debtors to pay when due.

2002
Net credit
losses 

Out- Delin- during
standing quencies the year
balance > 60 days ended
Sept. 30 Sept. 30 Sept. 30

Total short-term 
trade receivables 15,728 1,759 189

Less: 
receivables sold (249) (47) –

Receivables held 
in portfolio 15,479 1,712 189

2001
Net credit
losses 

Out- Delin- during
standing quencies the year
balance > 60 days ended
Sept. 30 Sept. 30 Sept. 30

Total short-term 
trade receivables 18,769 2,061 412

Less: 
receivables sold (815) (73) –

Receivables held 
in portfolio 17,954 1,988 412



12 Other current assets included in the consolidated financial statements of

Siemens AG. The Company entered into transactions as

described in footnote 3 “Deconsolidation of Infineon,”

the effect of which is that Siemens no longer has majority

voting interest and therefore, as of December 5, 2001, the

assets and liabilities and results of operations of Infineon

are no longer included in its consolidated financial state-

ments but the Company instead accounts for its interest in

Infineon using the equity method. In January 2002, the

Company sold an additional 40 million shares in open

market transactions. As a result of these series of transac-

tions and additional dilution resulting from acquisitions

made by Infineon using its shares, Siemens ownership

interest and voting interest in Infineon decreased to

39.7% and 33.3%, respectively, as of September 30, 2002

(see below).
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(in millions of €, except where otherwise stated and per share amounts)

September 30,
2002 2001

Investment in associated companies 4,120 2,354

Miscellaneous investments 972 960

5,092 3,314

* Based upon total Infineon shares outstanding at September 30, 2002,
less 200 million shares contributed to the Non-voting trust. 
Siemens’ total voting interest is 24.0% based on the total shares out-
standing.

“Investments in associated companies” represent non-

controlling interests in entities of 20% to 50% accounted

for using the equity method of accounting. As of Septem-

ber 30, 2002, this line item includes €2,441 related to the

Company’s equity investment in Infineon. The market val-

ue of the Company’s investment in Infineon (based upon

the Infineon share price) at the end of September 30,

2002, was €1,606. Until December 2001, Infineon was

September 30,
2002 2001

Taxes receivable 1,320 1,277

Loans receivable 905 761

Other receivables from associated 
and related companies 466 1,194

Other 2,662 6,935

5,353 10,167

Included in “Other” for fiscal 2001 are €4.3 billion

assets-held-for-sale in connection with Siemens’ intention

to dispose certain of the businesses of Atecs within one

year of its acquisition of Atecs and which were originally

accounted for in accordance with EITF 87-11, “Allocation of

Purchase Price to Assets to Be Sold.” Sachs and Rexroth

were sold in November 2001 and January 2002, respective-

ly, for combined net proceeds of €3.1 billion. The excess of

the recorded amounts over the net proceeds of these two

businesses sold of €4 have been recorded as adjustments

to goodwill. The remaining Atecs businesses were sold in

the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002, principally as part of the

sale to KKR (see footnote 3). Upon expiration of the one

year holding period since the acquisition of Atecs, the

Company began including the earnings or losses of these

businesses in the consolidated statements of income,

which from the period from expiration of the holding

period to final disposition were not material.

13 Long-term investments

September 30, 
2002 2001

shares shares in
in thou- in thou-
sands sands

Siemens’
ownership
interest 39.7% 286,292 50.4% 349,400

Less: Non-voting
trust’s interest 200,000

Siemens’
voting interest 16.6%* 86,292 50.4% 349,400

Siemens German
Pension Trust’s 
voting interest 16.7%* 87,053 13.6% 93,825

Siemens’ total 
voting interest 33.3%* 173,345 64.0% 443,225

Miscellaneous investments include interests in other

companies for which there is no readily determinable

market value and which are recorded at the lower of cost

or net realizable value.



14 Intangible assets and property, plant and

equipment, net

The Company capitalized interest of approximately €5

and €27 during the years ended September 30, 2002 and

2001, respectively.

As a result of the adoption of SFAS 142, €348 of net

intangibles relating to customer base (€287 at PG and €61

at Med) were reclassified from “Patents, software, licenses

and similar rights” to “Goodwill.” In addition, “Goodwill”

increased by €306 resulting from minor acquisitions and

purchase price allocation adjustments totaling €228 at

ICN, SD, PG, SV and Med primarily related to Atecs and

Acuson. Retirements totaled €492 mainly as a consequence

of the deconsolidation of Infineon and the Company’s sale

of Unisphere Networks at ICN (see footnote 3). In connec-

tion with its annual goodwill impairment tests required

by SFAS 142, the Company determined that the goodwill at

its Access Solutions division of ICN, mainly originating

from the acquisition of Efficient, was impaired. As a result

of significant declines in demand in the telecommunica-

tions equipment market, management recorded a good-

will impairment charge of €378 in the fourth quarter of

2002. Fair value was determined using a traditional dis-

counted cash flows approach.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001, the Company

recorded impairments of goodwill for businesses

acquired by ICN and A&D totaling €746 and €181, respec-

tively. At ICN, the Company determined that due to the

rapid and significant deterioration in the market for cus-

tomer-premises equipment for high-speed digital sub-

scriber lines (xDSL) for broadband access in the U.S., the

future cash flows from Efficient will be materially lower

than anticipated. Also, at A&D, as a result of operational

issues relating primarily to the acquired business of Mill-

tronics, the Company determined that the future cash

flows from these businesses will be lower than previously

anticipated.

“Patents, software, licenses and similar rights” as of

September 30, 2002 and 2001 includes software of €1,453

and €996, respectively. The accumulated amortization for

software as of September 30, 2002 and 2001 totaled €444

and €245, respectively. During fiscal 2002 and 2001, the

Company acquired €728 and €834, respectively, in intan-

gible assets, including €592 and €539, respectively, for

software and €136 and €295, respectively, in patents,

licenses and similar rights. Intangible asset amortization

expense excluding goodwill for the years ended Septem-

ber 30, 2002 and 2001 was €618 and €660, respectively.
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(in millions of €, except where otherwise stated and per share amounts)

Amorti-
zation/

Accu- Depre-
Accu- mulated ciation/
mulated Net depre- Net Impair-

Trans- Re- Impair- depre- book ciation/ book ment
lation classi- ments/ ciation/ value amorti- value during
adjust- Addi- fica- Retire- amorti- as of zation as of fiscal

10/1/01 ment tions tions ments 9/30/02 zation 9/30/02 10/1/01 10/1/01 year

Goodwill* 6,963 (288) 306 348 870 6,459 6,459 6,963 378

Patents, software, 
licenses and similar 
rights 4,378 (138) 728 (348) 682 3,938 1,554 2,384 1,570 2,808 618

Intangible assets 11,341 (426) 1,034 – 1,552 10,397 1,554 8,843 1,570 9,771 996

Land and buildings 10,585 (161) 247 90 1,285 9,476 4,522 4,954 4,769 5,816 288

Technical machinery 
and equipment 14,207 (235) 643 238 6,275 8,578 6,061 2,517 8,613 5,594 824

Furniture and office
equipment 12,748 (299) 1,253 179 3,587 10,294 7,762 2,532 9,020 3,728 1,559

Equipment leased
to Others 2,163 (158) 297 (45) 556 1,701 862 839 1,099 1,064 263

Advances to suppliers
and construction in
progress 1,601 (46) 846 (462) 1,027 912 12 900 – 1,601 3

Property, plant and
equipment 41,304 (899) 3,286 – 12,730 30,961 19,219 11,742 23,501 17,803 2,937

* Due to the adoption of SFAS 142, effective October 1, 2001, goodwill is no longer amortized but instead tested for impairment.



The estimated intangible asset amortization expense

for the next five fiscal years is as follows:

The following table presents adjusted net income and

earnings per share excluding goodwill amortization

expense (net of tax):
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(in millions of €, except where otherwise stated and per share amounts)

Fiscal year

2003 442

2004 369

2005 293

2006 203

2007 168

September 30, 
2002

Operations

Information and Communication Networks (ICN) 254

Information and Communication Mobile (ICM) 109

Siemens Business Services (SBS) 230

Automation and Drives (A&D) 283

Industrial Solutions and Services (I&S) 92

Siemens Dematic (SD) 581

Siemens Building Technologies (SBT) 442

Power Generation (PG) 598

Power Transmission and Distribution (PTD) 148

Transportation Systems (TS) 108

Siemens VDO Automotive (SV) 1,528

Medical Solutions (Med) 1,898

Osram 98

Financing and Real Estate

Siemens Financial Services (SFS) 90

Siemens Real Estate (SRE) –

6,459

Year ended
September 30,

2002 2001

Net income

Reported net income 2,597 2,088

Goodwill amortization – 562

Adjusted net income 2,597 2,650

Basic earnings per share

Reported basic earnings per share 2.92 2.36

Goodwill amortization – 0.63

Adjusted earnings per share 2.92 2.99

Diluted earnings per share

Reported diluted earnings per share 2.92 2.36

Goodwill amortization – 0.63

Adjusted earnings per share 2.92 2.99

September 30,

2002 2001

Long-term portion of receivables 
from sales and finance leases 2,320 2,309

Prepaid pension assets 197 179

Long-term loans receivable 557 543

Other 1,440 1,502

4,514 4,533

September 30,
2002 2001

Employee related costs 2,637 2,876

Income and other taxes 1,574 1,827

Warranties 1,664 1,555

Accrued losses on 
uncompleted contracts 864 1,188

Other 2,869 3,418

9,608 10,864

The table below presents the carrying amount of good-

will per segment:

15 Other assets

As of September 30, 2002, “Long-term loans receiv-

able” includes total financing of €253 provided by Siemens

in connection with the sale of a portfolio of businesses to

KKR in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002 (see footnote 3).

16 Accrued liabilities



“Employee related costs” primarily include accruals

for vacation pay, bonuses, accrued overtime and service

anniversary awards and the current portion of accruals

for pension plans and similar commitments, as well as

provisions for severance payments.

17 Other current liabilities

As of September 30, 2002, weighted average interest

rates for loans from banks, other financial indebtedness

and obligations under capital leases were 4.3% (2001:

5.0%), 3.4% (2001: 3.8%) and 6.9% (2001: 6.5%), respec-

tively. As of September 30, 2002, debt in the amount €12

is secured, €3 of which, primarily outside Germany, is

secured by mortgages. In some countries, the Company

has pledged securities and executed promissory notes to

secure borrowings in conformity with local practice.

The Company has agreements with financial institu-

tions under which it may issue up to €3 billion of commer-

cial paper and U.S.$3.0 billion (€3.0 billion) of commercial

paper. As of September 30, 2002 and 2001, outstanding

commercial paper totaled €94 (interest rates from 1.67% to

1.72%) and €214 (interest rates from 2.45% to 4.16%),

respectively.

The Company also has agreements with financial insti-

tutions under which it may issue up to €5.0 billion in

medium-term notes. As of September 30, 2002 and 2001,

approximately €1.6 billion and €1.8 billion, respectively,

was outstanding under this program.

The Company maintains three global backstop facili-

ties of U.S.$3.0 billion (€3.0 billion), €1.0 billion and

€0.4 billion. As of September 30, 2002 and 2001, the full

amounts of these lines of credit remain unused. Commit-

ment fees for the years ended September 30, 2002 and

2001 totaled approximately €3 and €2, respectively. Under

the terms of the agreements, credit may be used for gen-

eral business purposes. Borrowings under these credit

facilities would bear interest of 0.225% (for the U.S.$3.0

billion facility) and 0.16% (for the €1.0 billion facility)

above either EURIBOR (Euro Interbank Offered Rate) in

case of a drawdown in euros, or LIBOR (London Interbank

Offered Rate) in case of a drawdown in one of the other

currencies agreed on. Borrowings under the €0.4 billion

facility would bear interest of 0.28% above EURIBOR.

As of September 30, 2002, the aggregate amounts of

indebtedness maturing during the next five years and

thereafter are as follows:
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(in millions of €, except where otherwise stated and per share amounts)

September 30,
2002 2001

Billings in excess of costs and 
estimated earnings on uncompleted 
contracts and related advances 6,054 7,320

Payroll and social security taxes 2,305 2,431

Sales and other taxes 941 624

Bonus obligations 1,073 1,137

Liabilities to associated and 
related companies 372 575

Deferred income 786 938

Accrued interest 151 175

Other liabilities 2,009 6,271

13,691 19,471

September 30,
2002 2001

Short-term

Notes and bonds 330 882

Loans from banks 1,461 1,078

Other financial indebtedness 272 640

Obligations under capital leases 40 37

Short-term debt and current 
maturities of long-term debt 2,103 2,637

Long-term

Notes and bonds 
(maturing 2003 – 2011) 9,307 9,142

Loans from banks 
(maturing 2003 – 2008) 152 328

Other financial indebtedness 
(maturing 2003 – 2031) 535 274

Obligations under capital leases 249 229

Long-term debt 10,243 9,973

12,346 12,610

Fiscal year

2003 2,063

2004 392

2005 2,718

2006 2,373

2007 1,293

Thereafter 3,218

12,057

In the second quarter of fiscal 2002, Vodafone AG exer-

cised its option to sell its 50% minus two shares stake in

Atecs to Siemens. On March 1, 2002, the Company paid the

deferred purchase price of approximately €3.7 billion

which had been included in “Other liabilities” as of Sep-

tember 30, 2001 (see footnote 3).

18 Debt



As of September 30, 2002, the minimum lease pay-

ments under capital leases for the next five years and

thereafter are as follows:
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(in millions of €, except where otherwise stated and per share amounts)

* Includes adjustments for fair value hedge accounting.

Fiscal year

2003 42

2004 40

2005 39

2006 38

2007 38

Thereafter 144

Minimum lease payment obligation 341

Less: unamortized interest expense (52)

Obligations under capital leases 289

Less: current portion (40)

249

September 30, 2002 September 30, 2001
Currency Currency
(notional amount) €* (notional amount) €*

5.75% 1998/2002 U.S.$ notes usd 200 223

7.75% 1992/2002 Swiss franc bonds chf 28 20

8% 1992/2002 U.S.$ bonds usd 573 639

3.25% 1997/2002 Swiss franc notes chf 350 240 chf 350 238

0.8% 2002/2003 U.S.$ libor Linked usd 50 51

2.75% 1993/2003 Swiss franc bonds chf 100 68 chf 100 68

7.5% 1998/2003 Greek drachma € notes grd 5,000 14 grd 5,000 17

1.79% 2002/2004 U.S.$ bonds usd 125 127

3% 1994/2004 Swiss franc bonds chf 178 122 chf 178 121

1.0% 2000/2005 eur exchangeable notes eur 2,500 2,554 eur 2,500 2,529

5.0% 2001/2006 € bonds eur 2,000 2,078 eur 1,900 1,941

2.5% 2001/2007 Swiss franc bonds chf 250 174 chf 250 163

5.5% 1997/2007 € bonds eur 991 1,016 eur 991 1,041

6% 1998/2008 U.S.$ notes usd 970 1,110 usd 970 1,127

5.75% 2001/2011 € bonds eur 2,000 2,083 eur 1,900 1,897

9,637 10,024

Details of the Company’s medium-term notes and

bonds are presented in the table below.

In June 2001, the Company issued bonds with a face

value of €4 billion. Net proceeds from the issuance were

€3,988. The bonds were issued in two tranches: €2 billion

5.00 per cent bond, which matures on July 4, 2006, and €2

billion 5.75 per cent bond, which matures on July 4, 2011.

Interest on both tranches is payable on an annual basis on

July 4, beginning 2002. The bonds are redeemable prior to

maturity under limited circumstances at the option of the

Company, at a redemption price equal to their principal

amount, together with accrued interest thereon. During

2001, the Company reacquired €100 notional amount of

each tranche, which were reissued during fiscal year 2002.



19 Pension plans and similar commitments

Liabilities for the Company’s pension benefit plans and

principal other postretirement plans are comprised of the

following components:

Pension benefits

Virtually all of the Company’s domestic employees and

many of its foreign employees are covered by defined ben-

efit pension plans. The most significant of these pension

plans cover approximately 517,000 participants, including

264,000 employees, 82,000 former employees with vested

benefits and 171,000 retirees and beneficiaries. Individual

benefits are generally based on eligible compensation lev-

els and/or ranking within the Company hierarchy and

years of service. Retirement benefits under these plans

vary depending on legal, fiscal and economic require-

ments in each country.

The Company constantly reviews the design of its pen-

sion plans with regard to risk-control and labor-market

requirements. As a matter of principle it is currently antic-

ipated that future changes in plan design will result in a

greater number of cash-balance plans or defined contri-

bution plans versus pure defined benefit plans.

The Company has established the Siemens German

Pension Trust to provide for future pension benefit pay-

ments relating to substantially all of its domestic defined

benefit pension plans (Siemens Pension Trust e.V.). As

described in footnote 3, the Company contributed Infi-

neon shares into the Siemens German Pension Trust in

April 2001. As of September 30, 2002 and 2001, the

Siemens German Pension Trust held 87.1 million and 93.8

million shares, respectively, in Infineon. While United

States pension plans subject to the Employee Retirement

Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) are restricted in the

amount of securities they are permitted to own in the

employer or its affiliates to 10% of the plan assets, the

Siemens German Pension Trust is not subject to such

ERISA provisions.

Information regarding the Company’s principal pen-

sion benefit plans is presented in the following tables:
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(in millions of €, except where otherwise stated and per share amounts)

September 30,
2002 2001

Principal pension benefit plans 3,557 3,048

Principal other postretirement 
benefit plans 1,431 1,366

Other 338 307

Total accrual for pension plans and 
similar commitments 5,326 4,721

Liabilities for principal pension benefit plans of

€3,557 consist primarily of minimum liabilities resulting

from underfunded accumulated benefit obligations as

described in more detail below. “Other” consists of vari-

ous insignificant funded and unfunded pension benefit

and other postretirement plans which are not included in

the detailed disclosures below.



The measurement of plan assets for the domestic pen-

sion plans is as of September 30, for the most significant

foreign pension plans as of June 30.

In view of current conditions in international equities

markets and in consideration of the changed asset alloca-

tion the Company decided to make supplemental cash

contributions to the pension trusts in Germany, the U.S.

and the U.K. amounting to €1.782 billion in September

2002. In October 2002, the Company made additional con-

tributions of cash and real estate to its pension trusts in

Germany and the U.K. totaling €819. Further funding deci-

sions for the Company’s pension plans will be based upon

due consideration of developments in funded status, min-

imum funding requirements and tax deductibility in

accordance with the applicable local legal environment. 

A reconciliation of the funded status to the amounts

recognized in the consolidated balance sheets is as

follows:
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(in millions of €, except where otherwise stated and per share amounts)

September 30, 2002 September 30, 2001
Total Domestic Foreign Total Domestic Foreign

Change in projected benefit obligations:

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year 18,544 13,077 5,467 15,930 11,339 4,591

Foreign currency exchange rate changes (265) – (265) (244) – (244)

Service cost 487 206 281 464 195 269

Interest cost 1,151 772 379 1,091 749 342

Plan participants’ contributions 32 – 32 32 – 32

Amendments and other (53) (197) 144 660 51 609

Actuarial losses (gains) 697 301 396 703 728 (25)

Acquisitions 84 13 71 703 629 74

Divestments (255) (221) (34) – – – 

Benefits paid (930) (620) (310) (795) (614) (181)

Projected benefit obligation at end of year 19,492 13,331 6,161 18,544 13,077 5,467

Siemens German Pension Trust 13,331 – – 12,844 – – 

U.S. 3,095 – – 2,956 – – 

U.K. 1,742 – – 1,354 – – 

Other 1,324 – – 1.390 – – 

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 14,761 9,682 5,079 15,785 10,872 4,913

Foreign currency exchange rate changes (166) – (166) (210) – (210)

Actual return on plan assets (1,187) (713) (474) (5,257) (4,952) (305)

Acquisitions 171 – 171 551 – 551

Divestments (173) (173) – – – – 

Employer contributions 2,023 1,500 523 4,655 4,376 279

Plan participants’ contributions 32 – 32 32 – 32

Benefits paid (930) (620) (310) (795) (614) (181)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 14,531 9,676 4,855 14,761 9,682 5,079

Siemens German Pension Trust 9,676 – – 9,503 – – 

U.S. 2,349 – – 2,543 – – 

U.K. 1,443 – – 1,492 – – 

Other 1,063 – – 1,223 – – 

Asset allocation of total pension assets:

Equity 33% 20% 60% 61% 58% 66%

therein Infineon shares 3% 5% – 9% 13% – 

Fixed income 46% 58% 22% 31% 36% 23%

Real estate 8% 7% 9% 6% 5% 9%

Cash 13% 15% 9% 2% 1% 2%



The measurement dates for the Company’s domestic

pension plans are September 30, and either September 30

or June 30 for the majority of its foreign plans. For fiscal

2002 and 2001, the projected benefit obligation (PBO),

accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) and fair value of

plan assets for defined benefit pension plans whose ABO

exceeded the fair value of plan assets at the measurement

date were as follows:
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(in millions of €, except where otherwise stated and per share amounts)

September 30, 2002 September 30, 2001
Total Domestic Foreign Total Domestic Foreign

Funded status (4,961) (3,655) (1,306) (3,783) (3,395) (388)

Siemens German Pension Trust (3,655) – – (3,341) – – 

U.S. (746) – – (413) – – 

U.K. (299) – – 138 – – 

Other (261) – – (167) – – 

Unrecognized net losses 10,424 8,969 1,455 7,354 7,143 211

Unrecognized prior service cost 119 – 119 113 – 113

Unrecognized net transition asset (3) – (3) (7) – (7)

Net amount recognized 5,579 5,314 265 3,677 3,748 (71)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated 
balance sheets consist of:

Prepaid pension assets 197 – 197 179 2 177

Accrued pension liability (3,557) (3,063) (494) (3,048) (2,696) (352)

Intangible assets 110 – 110 17 – 17

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 8,829 8,377 452 6,529 6,442 87

Net amount recognized 5,579 5,314 265 3,677 3,748 (71)

September 30, 2002 September 30, 2001
Total Domestic Foreign Total Domestic Foreign

Projected benefit obligation 16,940 13,331 3,609 13,668 13,077 591

Siemens German Pension Trust 13,331 – – 12,844 – –

U.S. 3,095 – – 525 – –

Other 514 – – 299 – –

Accumulated benefit obligation 15,825 12,739 3,086 12,923 12,393 530

Siemens German Pension Trust 12,739 – – 12,192 – –

U.S. 2,659 – – 483 – –

Other 427 – – 248 – –

Fair value of plan assets at the measurement date 12,149 9,676 2,473 10,089 9,682 407

Siemens German Pension Trust 9,676 – – 9,503 – –

U.S. 2,105 – – 364 – –

Other 368 – – 222 – –

Underfunding of accumulated benefit obligation (3,676) (3,063) (613) (2,834) (2,711) 123

Siemens German Pension Trust (3,063) – – (2,689) – –

U.S. (554) – – (119) – –

Other (59) – – (26) – –



The ABO represents the present value of the future

obligation without consideration of future salary increas-

es. The underfunded ABO of €3,676 (the Minimum Liabili-

ty) was recorded as an accrued pension liability as of the

measurement date. Subsequent to the measurement date,

the accrued pension liability was reduced by a supplemen-

tal cash contribution in the U.S. of €244. Including €125 of

accrued liabilities relating to plans which were not under-

funded as of their measurement dates, the total accrued

pension liability for the principal pension plans was

€3,557 at September 30, 2002.

Prepaid pension assets and pension liabilities – exist-

ing prior to this underfunding totaling a net asset of

€5,263, mainly originating from the transfer of Infineon

shares to the Siemens German Pension Trust in the previ-

ous fiscal year and from the supplemental funding of the

Siemens German Pension Trust in the current year,

together with the underfunded ABO resulted in an addi-

tional minimum liability adjustment of €8,939. Of this

amount, €8,829 (€5,386 net of tax) was recorded in accu-

mulated other comprehensive income as a separate com-

ponent of shareholders’ equity and €110 was recorded as

an intangible asset.

Assumed discount rates, rates of increase in remunera-

tion and increases in pension entitlements used in calcu-

lating the projected benefit obligations together with

long-term rates of return on plan assets vary according to

the economic conditions of the country in which the

retirement plans are situated. The weighted-average

assumptions used in calculating the actuarial values were

as follows (see table below):

The discount rate assumptions reflect the rates avail-

able on high-quality fixed-income investments of appro-

priate duration at the measurement date of each plan. The

expected return on plan assets actuarial assumption is

determined on an uniform basis, considering long-term

historical returns, asset allocation, and future estimates

of long-term investment returns. As of October 1, 2001,

Siemens adjusted the expected return on plan assets for

its German Pension Trust from 9.5% in 2001 to 8.25% in

order to reflect an expected decline in future investment

performance as well as to allow for the reduced invest-

ment in equities. Actuarial assumptions not shown in the

table above, like employee turnover, mortality, disability

etc., remained primarily unchanged in 2002.
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(in millions of €, except where otherwise stated and per share amounts)

Year ended September 30, 
2002 2001

Total Domestic Foreign Total Domestic Foreign

Discount rate 6.0% 5.75% 6.4% 6.2% 6.0% 6.7%

Siemens German Pension Trust 5.75% – – 6.0% – –

U.S. 7.25% – – 7.5% – –

U.K. 5.7% – – 6.2% – –

Expected return on plan assets 8.0% 8.25% 7.9% 8.8% 9.3% 7.8%

Siemens German Pension Trust 8.25% – – 9.5% – –

U.S. 9.0% – – 8.75% – –

U.K. 7.2% – – 7.4% – –

Rate of compensation increase 3.1% 2.75% 3.9% 3.3% 3.0% 4.1%

Siemens German Pension Trust 2.75% – – 3.0% – –

U.S. 4.25% – – 4.5% – –

U.K. 4.1% – – 4.1% – –

Rate of pension progression 1.4% 1.25% 2.3% 1.6% 1.5% 2.3%

Siemens German Pension Trust 1.25% – – 1.5% – –

U.K. 2.5% – – 2.5% – –



The components of the net periodic pension cost for

the years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001 are present-

ed in the table above.

The interest and service costs components of net peri-

odic pension cost for each fiscal year were determined

based upon the PBO determined as of the measurement

date in the preceding fiscal year. The calculation of the

expected return on plan assets component of net periodic

pension cost was based on the rate provided for each

respective year. For the Siemens German Pension Trust,

the determination of the expected return on plan assets

and the amortization of unrecognized losses are based on

a market-related value of plan assets calculated using the

average of historical market values of plan assets over

four quarters. For all other plans, the market-related value

of plan assets is equal to the fair value of plan assets as of

the measurement date. Net unrecognized gains or losses

in excess of 10% of the greater of the projected benefit

obligation or the market-related value of plan assets are

amortized over the average remaining service period of

active participants (generally 15 years). Prior service costs

are amortized on a straight-line basis over the average

remaining service period of active participants to whom

such costs relate.
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(in millions of €, except where otherwise stated and per share amounts)

Year ended September 30, 
2002 2001

Total Domestic Foreign Total Domestic Foreign

Service cost 487 206 281 464 195 269

Interest cost 1,151 772 379 1,091 749 342

Expected return on plan assets (1,421) (1,007) (414) (1,609) (1,203) (406)

Amortization of:

Unrecognized prior service cost 14 – 14 8 – 8

Unrecognized net losses (gains) 208 212 (4) (1) – (1)

Unrecognized net transition obligation (asset) 8 – 8 (4) – (4)

Net periodic pension cost (income) 447 183 264 (51) (259) 208

Siemens German Pension Trust 183 – – (261) – –

U.S. 164 – – 122 – –

U.K. 58 – – 49 – –

Other 42 – – 39 – –



A reconciliation of the funded status to the amounts

recognized in the consolidated balance sheets is as fol-

lows:
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(in millions of €, except where otherwise stated and per share amounts)

September 30, 2002 September 30, 2001
Total Domestic Foreign Total Domestic Foreign

Change in projected benefit obligations:

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year 1,170 587 583 1,210 608 602

Foreign currency exchange rate changes (46) – (46) (25) – (25)

Service cost 52 21 31 47 23 24

Interest cost 80 33 47 79 40 39

Plan participants’ contributions – – – 1 – 1

Actuarial (gains) losses (59) (81) 22 (86) (52) (34)

Acquisitions 61 17 44 – – –

Divestments (49) (22) (27) (18) (18) –

Benefits paid (59) (21) (38) (38) (14) (24)

Projected benefit obligation at end of year 1,150 534 616 1,170 587 583

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 28 17 11 32 23 9

Foreign currency exchange rate changes (1) – (1) – – –

Actual return on plan assets – – – (6) (6) –

Divestments (17) (17) – – – –

Employer contributions 41 – 41 26 1 25

Plan participants’ contributions – – – 1 – 1

Benefits paid (38) – (38) (25) (1) (24)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 13 – 13 28 17 11

September 30, 2002 September 30, 2001
Total Domestic Foreign Total Domestic Foreign

Funded status (1,137) (534) (603) (1,142) (570) (572)

Unrecognized net gains (300) (166) (134) (228) (57) (171)

Unrecognized prior service cost 5 – 5 3 – 3

Unrecognized net transition obligation 1 – 1 1 – 1

Net amount recognized (within accrued benefit 
liability in the consolidated balance sheets) (1,431) (700) (731) (1,366) (627) (739)

Discount rates and other key assumptions used for

transition payments in Germany are the same as those

used for domestic pension benefit plans.

Other postretirement benefits

In Germany, employees who entered into the Company’s

employment on or before September 30, 1983, are entitled

to transition payments for the first six months after retire-

ment equal to the difference between their final compen-

sation and the retirement benefits payable under the

corporate pension plan. Certain foreign companies, pri-

marily in the U.S., provide postretirement healthcare and

life insurance benefits to employees. The healthcare plans

are contributory, with participants’ contributions adjusted

annually at the Company’s discretion. The basic life insur-

ance plans are noncontributory. The accounting for the

healthcare plans anticipates future cost sharing changes

to the written plans that are consistent with the Compa-

ny’s intent that retirees share a fixed percentage of the

overall costs of benefits each year. The plans provide

either defined medical, dental and life insurance benefits

or a defined Company contribution toward the cost of

such benefits.

Information regarding the Company’s principal other

postretirement benefit plans is presented in the following

tables:



The healthcare trend rate assumptions have a signi-

ficant effect on the amounts reported. A one-percentage-

point change in the healthcare trend rates would have the

following effects on the accumulated postretirement

benefit obligation and service and interest cost as of and

for the year ended September 30, 2002:
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(in millions of €, except where otherwise stated and per share amounts)

The weighted-average assumptions used in calculating

the actuarial values for the postretirement healthcare

and life insurance benefits in the U.S. were as follows:

Year ended
September 30,

2002 2001

Discount rate 7.25% 7.5%

Medical trend rates 
(initial/ultimate/year):

Medicare ineligible pre 65 9.17%/5%/ 10%/5%/
2007 2007

Medicare eligible post 65 9.17%/5%/ 10%/5%/
2007 2007

Fixed dollar benefit 6% 5.8%

Dental trend rates 6%/5%/ 6%/5%/
(initial/ultimate/year) 2021 2021

September 30,
2002 2001

Remediation and environmental 
accruals 705 728

Deferred income 281 254

Other long-term accruals 2,415 1,975

3,401 2,957

September 30, 2002
One-percentage-point
increase decrease

Effect on accumulated postretirement 
benefit obligation 44 (29)

Effect on total of service and interest 
cost components 7 (5)

20 Other accruals and provisions

Remediation and environmental protection liabilities

have been accrued primarily to account for the decommis-

sioning of the facilities for the production of uranium and

mixed-oxide fuel elements in Hanau, Germany (“Hanau

facilities”) as well as the facilities in Karlstein, Germany

(Karlstein facilities). According to the German Atomic

Energy Act, when such a facility is closed, the resulting

radioactive waste must be collected and delivered to a gov-

ernment-developed final storage facility. In this regard,

the Company has developed a plan to decommission the

Hanau and Karlstein facilities in the following steps:

clean-out, decontamination and disassembly of equip-

ment and installations, decontamination of the facilities

and buildings, sorting of radioactive materials, and inter-

mediate and final storage of the radioactive waste. This

process will be supported by continuing engineering

studies and radioactive sampling under the supervision of

German federal and state authorities. The decontamina-

tion, disassembly and sorting activities are planned to

continue until 2006; thereafter, the Company is responsi-

ble for intermediate storage of the radioactive materials

until a final storage facility is available. The final location

is not expected to be available before approximately 2030.

The ultimate costs of the remediation are contingent on

the decision of the federal government on the location of

the final storage facility and the date of its availability.

Consequently, the accrual is based on a number of signifi-

cant estimates and assumptions. The Company does not

expect any recoveries from third parties and did not

reduce the accruals for such recoveries. The Company

The components of the net periodic benefit cost for the

principal other postretirement benefit plans for the years

ended September 30, 2002 and 2001 are presented in the

following table.

Year ended September 30, 
2002 2001
Do- Do-

Total mestic Foreign Total mestic Foreign

Service cost 52 21 31 47 23 24

Interest cost 80 33 47 79 40 39

Expected return 
on plan assets – – – (2) (2) –

Amortization of :

Unrecognized 
prior service cost – – – (1) – (1)

Unrecognized 
net gains (9) – (9) (20) – (20)

Net periodic 
benefit cost 123 54 69 103 61 42



believes that it has adequately provided for this exposure.

As of September 30, 2002 and 2001, the accrual totals €641

and €676, respectively, and is recorded net of a present

value discount of €1,429 and €1,460, respectively, calculat-

ed using a range of rates from approximately 4% to 5%.

The rates are determined based on the differing durations

of the steps of decommissioning. The total expected pay-

ments for each of the next five fiscal years and the total

thereafter are €70, €75, €79, €3, €3 and €1,840 (includes

€1,663 for the costs associated with final storage in 2033).

The Company recognizes the accretion of the liability

for the Hanau facility using the interest method. During

the years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001, €32 and

€33, respectively, was recognized as interest expense

related to such accretion.

21 Shareholders’ equity

Capital Stock and Additional Paid-in Capital

As of September 30, 2002, the Company’s capital stock

totaled €2,671 divided into 890,374,001 shares without par

value with a notional value of €3.00 per share. Each share

of common stock is entitled to one vote.

As of September 30, 2001, the Company’s capital stock

totaled €2,665 divided into 888,230,245 shares without par

value with a notional value of €3.00 per share.

The following table provides a summary of outstand-

ing capital and the changes in authorized and conditional

capital for fiscal years 2002 and 2001:

Capital increases

In January 2002, €6 or 2,000,000 shares from Authorized

Capital 2001/II were issued to an underwriter and subse-

quently offered for sale to employees with respect to our

employee share program (see also Treasury stock below).

On February 22, 2001, the Company’s shareholders

approved a capital increase of €262 through the increase

in the notional value per share to a round amount from

approximately €2.56 per share to €3.00 per share.

In addition, the Company’s shareholders approved a

capital increase of €888 effected in the form of a 3-for-2

stock split through increasing the number of shares out-

standing by 295,812,450. The stock split was effective for

trading purposes on April 30, 2001. All share and per

share data for periods prior to April 30, 2001 have been

restated to give effect to the 3-for-2 stock split.

The foregoing capital increases, approved on February

22, 2001, had the effect of decreasing additional paid-in

capital and increasing common stock by €1,150. 

In December 2000, €8 or 3,000,000 shares (4,500,000

after stock split) from Authorized Capital 1996/II were

issued to an underwriter, repurchased and subsequently

offered for sale to employees in Germany principally with

respect to a special employee share program.
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(in millions of €, except where otherwise stated and per share amounts)

Capital stock Authorized capital Conditional capital
(authorized and issued) (not issued) (not issued)

in in in in in in
thousands thousand thousands thousand thousands thousand

of € shares* of € shares* of € shares*

As of October 1, 2000 1,504,784 588,621 499,021 195,200 27,015 10,567

Settlement to former SNI shareholders 20 7 – – (20) (7)

Capital increases 10,039 3,790 (10,039) (3,790) – –

Capital increases for stock split
and notional value 1,149,847 295,812 44,354 – 1,094 282

New approved capital – – 475,000 158,333 166,436 54,000

Expired capital – – (235,706) (92,200) – –

As of September 30, 2001 2,664,690 888,230 772,630 257,543 194,525 64,842

Stock options 413 138 – – (413) (138)

Settlement to former SNI shareholders 19 6 – – (19) (6)

Capital increases 6,000 2,000 (6,000) (2,000) – –

As of September 30, 2002 2,671,122 890,374 766,630 255,543 194,093 64,698

* Share amounts prior to stock split have not been restated. The total increase of shares with respect to the stock split is shown in “Capital increases 
for stock split and notional values.” As of October 1, 2000, shares of capital stock after stock split totaled 882,931.



In June 2001, €2 or 790,000 shares from Authorized

Capital 2001/II were issued to an underwriter, repurchased

and subsequently offered for sale to employees in the U.S.

with respect to a special employee share program.

In fiscal 2002, capital stock increased by €413 thousand

through the issuance of 137,576 shares, from the condi-

tional capital to service the 1999 Siemens Stock Option

Plan and the 2001 Siemens Stock Option Plan (Conditional

Capital 1999).

In fiscal 2002 and 2001, capital stock increased by €19

thousand and €20 thousand, respectively, through the

issuance of 6,180 shares and 9,345 shares, respectively,

from the conditional capital as settlement to former share-

holders of SNI AG who had not tendered their SNI share

certificates by September 30, 2001 and 2000.

Authorized and Conditional Capital

On September 30, 2002 and 2001, the authorized but unis-

sued capital of the Company totaled €767 or 255,543,334

and €773 or 257,543,334 common shares, respectively.

Authorized Capital 1996/II, which was used for the

above-mentioned capital increase during fiscal 2001 of

3,000,000 shares, expired on February 1, 2001.

On February 22, 2001, the Company’s shareholders

authorized the Managing Board with the approval of the

Supervisory Board to increase the capital stock by up to

€400 through the issuance of up to 133,333,334 shares for

offer to existing shareholders until February 1, 2006

(Authorized Capital 2001/I). The Managing Board, with the

approval of the Supervisory Board, is authorized to

increase the capital stock by up to €75 through the

issuance of up to 25,000,000 shares until February 1,

2006. The shareholders’ preemptive rights are excluded

since these shares will be offered for sale to employees

(Authorized Capital 2001/II). As mentioned above, 790,000

shares from this authorized capital were issued during fis-

cal 2001.

The authorization to issue €300 or 100,000,000 in new

common shares for which the shareholders’ preemptive

rights are excluded because these shares will be issued

against contribution in kind will expire on February 1,

2003 for the first tranche of €90 (Authorized Capital 1998)

and on February 1, 2004 for the second tranche of €210

(Authorized Capital 1999).

By resolution of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on

February 22, 2001, conditional share capital of €147 was

approved to service the 2001 Siemens Stock Option Plan

(Conditional Capital 2001). In addition, conditional capital

of €45 was approved by the Company’s shareholders to

service the 1999 Siemens Stock Option Plan and the 2001

Siemens Stock Option Plan (Conditional Capital 1999).

Conditional capital of €2.5 provides for the settlement

offered to former shareholders of SNI AG who had not ten-

dered their SNI share certificates by September 30, 2001.

Treasury stock

On January 17, 2002, the Company’s shareholders author-

ized the Company to repurchase up to 10% of the €2,665

capital stock.

In fiscal 2002, Siemens repurchased 2,297,574 shares,

including the 2,000,000 shares relating to the capital

increase from Authorized Capital 2001/II and (represent-

ing €7 or 0.3% of capital stock), at an average price of

€72.86 per share in addition to the 1,116 shares of treasury

stock held at the beginning of the fiscal year. Of these

shares 2,248,826 were sold to employees, a majority of

which was offered for sale to employees at a preferential

price of €40.39 per share. As of September 30, 2002,

49,864 shares of stock remained in treasury with a carry-

ing amount of €4.

In fiscal 2001, Siemens repurchased 6,063,920 shares,

including the 4,500,000 (after stock split) from the Autho-

rized Capital 1996/II and (representing €18 or 1.2% of cap-

ital stock), at an average price of €84.76 per share in addi-

tion to the 23,100 shares of treasury stock held at the

beginning of the fiscal year. Of these shares 6,085,904

were sold to employees, a majority of which was related to

a special employee share program. The remainder of the

shares were offered for sale to employees at a preferential

price of €58.77. As of September 30, 2001, 1,116 shares of

stock remained in treasury with a carrying amount of

€111 thousand.

During the years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001,

the Company incurred compensation expense of €73 and

€65, respectively, related to the sale of repurchased shares

to employees.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The changes in the components of other comprehensive

income are as follows:
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Miscellaneous

Under the German Stock Corporation Act, the amount of

dividends available for distribution to shareholders is

based upon the earnings of Siemens AG as reported in its

statutory financial statements determined in accordance

with the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch).

During the year ended September 30, 2002, Siemens AG

management distributed an ordinary dividend of €888

(€1.00 per share) of the 2001 earnings of Siemens AG as a

dividend to the shareholders. During the year ended Sep-

tember 30, 2001, Siemens AG management distributed

€1,412 (€1.60 per share) of the 2000 earnings of Siemens

AG as a dividend to the shareholders.

In August 2001, Infineon entered into an agreement to sell

its 49% share in the OSRAM Opto Seminconductors GmbH

& Co. OHG joint venture for approximately €565 to Osram.

The purchase price in excess of historic cost, net of tax, of

€392 was reflected as a capital transaction in the separate

financial statements of Infineon and Osram. Accordingly,

in its consolidated financial statements as of and for the

fiscal year 2001, the Company recorded a decrease of €194

in its retained earnings to reflect the minority interest

holding of Infineon.
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(in millions of €, except where otherwise stated and per share amounts)

Year ended September 30, 
2002 2001

Tax Tax
Pre-tax effect Net Pre-tax effect Net

Changes in unrealized gains (losses) on securities:

Unrealized holding gains (losses) for the period (360) 122 (238) (2,239) 918 (1,321)

Reclassification adjustments for gains (losses)
included in net income (4) 3 (1) 209 (87) 122

Net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale
securities (364) 125 (239) (2,030) 831 (1,199)

Changes in unrealized gains (losses) on derivative financial
instruments:

Unrealized gains (losses) on derivative 
financial instruments 110 (43) 67 87 (41) 46

Reclassification adjustments for (gains) losses included
in net income (51) 20 (31) 12 (5) 7

Net unrealized gains (losses) on derivative financial
instruments 59 (23) 36 99 (46) 53

Minimum pension liability (2,324) 906 (1,418) (6,529) 2,541 (3,988)

Foreign-currency translation adjustment (533) – (533) (532) – (532)

(3,162) 1,008 (2,154) (8,992) 3,326 (5,666)



22 Commitments and contingencies

Guarantees and other commitments

The Company is a party to various lawsuits and arbi-

tration proceedings arising in the ordinary course of its

business, including matters involving allegations of

improper shipments and services, product liability, patent

infringement and claims for damages. Liabilities for liti-

gation risks have been accrued, which the Company

believes represent reasonable estimates of the probable

liabilities associated with the cost of related litigation and

the estimated cost of an unfavorable outcome of the dis-

putes. Although the final resolution of any such matters

could have a material effect on Siemens’ consolidated

operating results for the particular reporting period in

which an adjustment of the estimated reserve is recorded,

Siemens believes that any resulting adjustment should

not materially affect its consolidated financial position.

23 Derivative instruments and hedging activities

As part of the Company’s risk management program, a

variety of derivative financial instruments are used to

reduce risks resulting primarily from fluctuations in for-

eign-currency exchange rates and interest rates as well as

to reduce credit risks. The following is a summary of

Siemens’ risk management strategies and the effect of

these strategies on the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign currency exchange risk management

Siemens’ significant international operations expose the

Company to significant foreign-currency exchange risks

in the ordinary course of business. The Company employs

various strategies discussed below involving the use of

derivative financial instruments to mitigate or eliminate

certain of those exposures.

Derivative financial instruments not designated

as hedges

The Company manages its risks associated with fluctua-

tions in foreign-currency-denominated receivables,

payables, debt, firm commitments and anticipated trans-

actions primarily through a Company-wide portfolio

approach. This approach concentrates the associated

Company-wide risks centrally, and various derivative

financial instruments, primarily foreign exchange con-

tracts and, to a lesser extent, interest rate and cross-cur-

rency interest rate swaps and options, are utilized to mini-

mize such risks. Such a strategy does not qualify for hedge

accounting treatment under SFAS 133 and also did not

qualify for hedge accounting prior to SFAS 133. According-

ly, all such derivative financial instruments are recorded

at fair value on the balance sheet as either an other cur-

rent asset or other current liability and changes in fair val-

ues are charged to earnings.
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(in millions of €, except where otherwise stated and per share amounts)

September 30,
2002 2001

Discounted bills of exchange 51 121

Guarantees 3,138 4,595

therein credit guarantees [659] [668]

therein performance bonds [1,328] [2,065]

therein guarantees of advanced 
payments [135] [251]

Collateral for third party liabilities 17 3

2003 400

2004 413

2005 340

2006 280

2007 237

Thereafter 826

“Guarantees” are principally represented by perform-

ance bonds, guarantees of advances received related to

long-term contracts and those issued in connection with

long-term vendor financing arrangements. In its project

businesses, Siemens will also selectively provide credit or

performance guarantees related to projects involving

third party participants. The €3,138 total in the table

above includes €455 in customer financing guarantees

and €137 in guarantees related to the Company’s SieFunds

program. In the event that it becomes probable that

Siemens will be required to satisfy these guarantees, pro-

visions are established. Most of the guarantees have fixed

or scheduled expiration dates, and in actual practice such

guarantees are rarely drawn. Guarantees also include an

amount of €767 at September 30, 2002, related to the sale

of Siemens’ defense electronics business in 1998, reduced

from €1.5 billion at September 30, 2001.

As of September 30, 2002, future payment obligations

under noncancellable operating leases are as follows:

The total operating rental expense for the years ended

September 30, 2002 and 2001 was €328 and €279, respec-

tively.

As of September 30, 2002, the Company has commit-

ments to make capital contributions of €363 to other com-

panies.

The Company is jointly and severally liable and has

capital contribution obligations as a partner in companies

formed under the German Civil Code (BGB), through

which it has executed profit-and-loss transfer agreements

with other companies as a partner in commercial partner-

ships and in a European Economic Interest Grouping

(EEIG) and as a participant in various consortiums.



The Company also has foreign-currency derivative

instruments, which are embedded in certain sale and pur-

chase contracts denominated in a currency other than the

functional currency of the significant parties to the con-

tract, principally the U.S. dollar. Gains or losses relating to

such embedded foreign-currency derivatives are reported

in cost of sales in the statements of income.

Hedging activities

During the years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001, the

Company’s operating units applied hedge accounting for

certain significant anticipated transactions and firm com-

mitments denominated in foreign currencies. Specifically,

the Company has entered into foreign exchange contracts

to reduce the risk of variability of future cash flows result-

ing from forecasted sales and purchases and firm com-

mitments resulting from its business units entering into

long-term contracts (project business) which are denomi-

nated primarily in U.S. dollars.

Cash flow hedges – Changes in fair value of forward

exchange contracts that were designated as foreign-cur-

rency cash flow hedges are recorded in accumulated other

comprehensive income as a separate component of share-

holders’ equity. During the year ended September 30,

2001, a net loss of €1 was reclassified from accumulated

other comprehensive income into cost of sales because the

occurrence of the related hedged forecasted transaction

was no longer probable. During the year ended September

30, 2002, a net loss of €3 (2001: €2) on the derivative con-

tracts was recognized in cost of sales representing hedge

ineffectiveness.

It is expected that €62 of net deferred gains in accumu-

lated other comprehensive income will be reclassified into

earnings during the year ended September 30, 2003 when

the hedged forecasted foreign-currency denominated

sales and purchases occur.

As of September 30, 2002, the maximum length of time

over which the Company is hedging its future cash flows

associated with foreign-currency forecasted transactions

is 60 months.

Fair value hedges – As of September 30, 2002, the

Company hedged firm commitments using forward

exchange contracts that were designated as foreign-cur-

rency fair value hedges of future sales related primarily to

the Company’s project business and, to a lesser extent,

purchases. The hedging transactions resulted in the

recognition of an other current asset of €13 (2001: €6) and

other current liability of €6 (2001: €6) for the hedged firm

commitments, whose changes in fair value were charged

to cost of sales. Changes in fair value of the derivative con-

tracts were also recorded in cost of sales. During the years

ended September 30, 2002 and 2001, there was no hedge

ineffectiveness.

Interest rate risk management

Interest rate risk arises from the sensitivity of financial

assets and liabilities to changes in market rates of inter-

est. The Company seeks to mitigate such risk by entering

into interest rate derivative financial instruments such as

interest rate swaps and, to a lesser extent, cross-currency

interest rate swaps and interest rate futures.

Interest rate swap agreements are used to adjust the

proportion of total debt, and to a lesser extent interest-

bearing investments, that are subject to variable and fixed

interest rates. Under an interest rate swap agreement, the

Company either agrees to pay an amount equal to a speci-

fied variable rate of interest times a notional principal

amount, and to receive in return an amount equal to a

specified fixed rate of interest times the same notional

principal amount or, vice-versa, to receive a variable-rate

amount and to pay a fixed-rate amount. The notional

amounts of the contracts are not exchanged. No other

cash payments are made unless the agreement is termi-

nated prior to maturity, in which case the amount paid or

received in settlement is established by agreement at the

time of termination, and usually represents the net pres-

ent value, at current rates of interest, of the remaining

obligations to exchange payments under the terms of the

contract.

Derivative financial instruments not designated

as hedges

The Company uses a portfolio-based approach to manage

its interest rate risk associated with certain interest-bear-

ing assets and liabilities, primarily interest-bearing

investments and debt obligations. This approach focuses

on mismatches in the structure of the interest terms of

these assets and liabilities without referring to specific

assets or liabilities. Such a strategy does not qualify for

hedge accounting treatment under SFAS 133. Accordingly,

all interest rate derivative instruments used in this strate-

gy are recorded at fair value as either an other current

asset or other current liability and changes in the fair val-

ues are charged to earnings.
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Fair value hedges of fixed-rate debt obligations

Under the interest rate swap agreements outstanding dur-

ing the years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001, the

Company agrees to pay a variable rate of interest multi-

plied by a notional principle amount, and receive in

return an amount equal to a specified fixed rate of interest

multiplied by the same notional principal amount. These

interest rate swap agreements offset an impact of future

changes in interest rates on the fair value of the underly-

ing fixed-rate debt obligations. The interest rate swap con-

tracts are reflected at fair value in the Company’s consoli-

dated balance sheet and the related portion of fixed-rate

debt being hedged is reflected at an amount equal to the

sum of its carrying value plus an adjustment representing

the change in fair value of the debt obligations attributa-

ble to the interest rate risk being hedged. Changes in the

fair value of interest rates swap contracts, and the offset-

ting changes in the adjusted carrying value of the related

portion of fixed-rate debt being hedged, are recognized as

adjustments to the line item “Income from financial assets

and marketable securities, net” in the consolidated state-

ments of income. Net cash receipts and payments relating

to such interest rate swap agreements are recorded to

interest expense.

The Company had interest rate swap contracts to pay

variable rates of interest (average rate of 3.3% and 3.9% as

of September 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively) and receive

fixed rates of interest (average rate of 5.1% and 5.3% as of

September 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively). The notional

amount of indebtedness hedged as of September 30, 2002

and 2001 was €6,146 and €5,212, respectively. This result-

ed in 66% and 53% of the Company’s underlying notes

and bonds being subject to variable interest rates as of

September 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The notional

amounts of these contracts mature at varying dates based

on the maturity of the underlying hedged items. The net

fair value of interest rate swap contracts used to hedge

indebtedness as of September 30, 2002 and 2001 was €305

and €103, respectively. During the year ended September

30, 2002, a net gain of €2 (2001: € – ) on the interest rate

swaps was recognized in income from financial assets and

marketable securities representing hedge ineffectiveness.

Credit risk management

Siemens Financial Services uses credit default swaps to

protect from credit risks stemming from its receivables

purchase business. The credit default swaps are classified

as guarantees or as derivatives under SFAS 133.

24 Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of a financial instrument represents the

amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a

current transaction between willing parties, other than in

a forced sale or liquidation. In determining the fair values

of the derivative financial instruments, certain compen-

sating effects from underlying transactions (e.g. firm

commitments and anticipated transactions) are not taken

into consideration.

Derivative financial instruments

The Company enters into derivative financial instruments

with various counterparties, principally financial institu-

tions with investment grade credit ratings.

Derivative interest rate contracts – The fair values of

derivative interest rate contracts (e.g. interest rate swap

agreements) are estimated by discounting expected

future cash flows using current market interest rates and

yield curve over the remaining term of the instrument.

Interest rate options are valued on the basis of quoted

market prices or on estimates based on option pricing

models.

Derivative currency contracts – The fair value of for-

ward foreign exchange contracts is based on forward

exchange rates. Currency options are valued on the basis

of quoted market prices or on estimates based on option

pricing models.

Credit default swaps – The fair value of credit default

swaps is calculated by comparing discounted expected

future cash flows using current bank conditions with dis-

counted expected future cash flows using contracted con-

ditions.

As of September 30, 2002, the Company’s derivative

financial instruments had a net fair value of €398 (2001:

€263) and were recorded on the consolidated balance

sheets as other current assets of €623 (2001: €463) and

other current liabilities of €225 (2001: €200).
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Non-derivative financial instruments

The fair values for non-derivative financial instruments

are determined as follows:

Fair value of cash and cash equivalents, short-term

receivables, accounts payable, additional liabilities and

commercial paper and borrowings under revolving credit

facilities approximate their carrying value due to the

short-term maturities of these instruments.

Financial assets and securities

Marketable securities are carried at fair value, which is

based on quoted market prices. It is not practicable to esti-

mate the fair value of the Company’s other equity invest-

ments in associated and related companies, as these

investments are not publicly traded, with the exception of

Infineon. The net investment in Infineon is accounted for

under the equity method. As of September 30, 2002, its

carrying value is €2,441 and its fair value is €1,606. Com-

parative amounts of September 30, 2001 are not provided

as Infineon was consolidated at that time.

Financing receivables

Long-term fixed-rate and variable-rate receivables are

evaluated by the Company based on parameters such as

interest rates, specific country risk factors, individual

creditworthiness of the customer and the risk characteris-

tics of the financed project. Based on this evaluation,

allowances are taken to account for the expected losses of

these receivables. As such, as of September 30, 2002 and

2001, the carrying amounts of such receivables, net of

allowances, approximates their fair value.

Debt

The fair value of debt is estimated by discounting future

cash flows using rates currently available for debt of simi-

lar terms and remaining maturities. As of September 30,

2002 and 2001, the fair value and carrying value of debt is

as follows:

25 Stock-based compensation

Pursuant to SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Com-

pensation,” the Company has elected to apply Accounting

Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for

Stock Issued to Employees” and related Interpretations in

accounting for its stock-based compensation plan.

Description of plans – 1999 Siemens Stock Option Plan

As part of a stock option plan for members of the Manag-

ing Board, executive officers and other eligible employees,

the Company’s shareholders authorized the Managing

Board on February 18, 1999 to distribute non-transferable

options exercisable for up to an aggregate of 10 million

common shares. The authority to distribute options under

this plan would have originally expired on February 18,

2004. With the ratification by Siemens shareholders of the

2001 Siemens Stock Option Plan (further details see

below), the 1999 Siemens Stock Option Plan (the 1999

Plan) has been terminated and further options have not

been granted. In connection with the 1999 Plan, the share-

holders originally approved an increase in conditional

capital in an amount not to exceed €26, which has been

increased to up to €45 in fiscal 2001 (see footnote 21).

Under the 1999 Plan, the Supervisory Board decided

annually after the end of each fiscal year how many

options to grant to the Managing Board, and the Manag-

ing Board decided annually how many options to grant to

executive officers and other eligible employees. The exer-

cise price is equal to the average market price of Siemens’

stock during the five days preceding the date the options

were granted. The options are exercisable within the five

years following a holding period of two years if Siemens

AG stock price outperforms the Dow Jones Stoxx-Index by

at least two percentage points on five consecutive days.

This percentage applies to the first year of the five-year

option exercise period, and increases by 0.5 percentage

points in each subsequent year.

As a result of such performance requirements, the plan

has been accounted for as a variable plan under APB Opin-

ion No. 25.

The options may be settled either in newly issued

shares of common stock of Siemens AG from the Condi-

tional Capital reserved for this purpose, treasury stock or

cash. The alternatives offered to optionees are determined

by the Managing Board in each case as approved by the

Supervisory Board. Compensation in cash shall be equal

to the difference between the exercise price and the aver-

age market price of the Company’s stock on the five trad-

ing days preceding the exercise of the stock options.
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September 30,
2002 2001

Fair value 12,284 12,333

Carrying value 12,346 12,610



Description of plans – 2001 Siemens Stock Option Plan

At the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on February 22,

2001, shareholders authorized Siemens AG to establish

the 2001 Siemens Stock Option Plan, making available up

to 55 million options. Compared to the 1999 Plan, the

number of eligible recipients is significantly larger. The

option grants are subject to a two-year vesting period,

after which they may be exercised for a period of up to

three years. The exercise price is equal to 120% of the ref-

erence price, which corresponds to the average opening

market price of Siemens AG during the five trading days

preceding the date of the stock option grant. However, an

option may only be exercised if the trading price of the

Company’s shares reaches a performance target which is

equal to the exercise price at least once during the life of

the option. The terms of the plan allow the Company, at its

discretion upon exercise of the option, to offer optionees

settlement of the options in either newly issued shares of

common stock of Siemens AG from the Conditional Capi-

tal reserved for this purpose, treasury stock or cash. The

alternatives offered to optionees are determined by the

Managing Board in each case as approved by the Supervi-

sory Board. Compensation in cash shall be equal to the

difference between the exercise price and the opening

market price of the Company’s stock on the day of exercis-

ing the stock options. As a result of its design, the new

plan will have no income effect in the case of settlement in

shares due to the fact that the exercise price is also the

performance target. Any settlements in cash would be

recorded as compensation expense. In connection with

the 2001 Siemens Stock Option Plan, the shareholders

approved an increase in conditional capital in an amount

not to exceed €147 (see footnote 21).

Stock options may be granted within a period of 30

days after publication of the results for the fiscal year or

quarter then ended. The Supervisory Board decides how

many options to grant to the Managing Board, and the

Managing Board decides how many options to grant to

executive officers and other eligible employees. Option

grants to members of the Managing Board may only be

made once annually after the close of the fiscal year.

Details on option activity and weighted average exer-

cise prices are as follows. On November 24, 2000, the

Supervisory Board and the Managing Board granted

options exercisable to 1,513 key executives under the 1999

Plan for approximately 2,173,594 (3,260,391 after stock

split) shares with an exercise price of €129.35 (€86.23

after stock split) of which options exercisable for 107,000

(160,500 after stock split) shares were granted to the Man-

aging Board. On December 13, 2001, the Supervisory

Board and the Managing Board granted options exercis-

able to 5,413 key executives under the 2001 Siemens Stock

Option Plan for approximately 7,357,139 shares with an

exercise price of €87.19 of which options exercisable for

151,000 shares were granted to the Managing Board.

The options and exercise prices below have been

restated to reflect the stock split (see tables).
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Year ended September 30, 2002
Exercise

Options price

Outstanding, 
beginning of period 4,963,672 €76.01

Granted 7,357,139 €87.19

Options exercised (139,826) €57.73

Options forfeited (532,218) €85.77

Outstanding, end of period 11,648,767 €82.85

Exercisable, end of period 1,617,899 €57.73

Year ended September 30, 2001
Exercise

Options price

Outstanding, 
beginning of period 1,826,276 €57.73

Granted 3,260,391 €86.23

Options exercised – –

Options forfeited (122,995) €76.01

Outstanding, end of period 4,963,672 €76.01

Exercisable, end of period – –



Fair value information

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model

to determine the fair value of grants. The fair value prior

to the stock split for the second tranche of the 1999 Plan in

November 2000 was €38.11. The fair value of grants made

during the years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001,

restated for the stock split are as follows:

26 Personnel costs
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Assumptions at grant date
2002 2001

Risk-free interest rate 4.12% 5.0%

Expected dividend yield 1.41% 2.59%

Expected volatility 62.55% 50.00%

Expected option life 4 yrs. 4 yrs.

Estimated weighted average 
fair value per option €23.36 €25.41

Fair value of total options
granted during fiscal year €172 €83

Year ended
September 30,

2002 2001

Net income

As reported 2,597 2,088

Pro forma 2,499 2,034

Basic earnings per share

As reported 2.92 2.36

Pro forma 2.81 2.30

Diluted earnings per share

As reported 2.92 2.36

Pro forma 2.81 2.30

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was devel-

oped for use in estimating the fair values of options that

have no vesting restrictions. Option valuation models

require the input of highly subjective assumptions includ-

ing the expected stock price volatility. Because the Compa-

ny’s stock options may have characteristics that vary sig-

nificantly from traded options and because changes in

subjective assumptions can materially affect the fair value

of the option, it is management’s opinion that existing

models do not necessarily provide a single reliable meas-

ure of fair value.

Year ended
September 30,

2002 2001

Wages and salaries 22,639 23,028

Statutory social welfare contributions 
and expenses for optional
support payments 3,592 3,673

Expenses relating to pension plans 
and employee benefits 964 401

27,195 27,102

September 30,
2002 2001

Manufacturing 183,400 214,900

Sales and marketing 146,700 142,000

Research and development 55,700 60,200

Administration and general services 59,300 60,000

445,100 477,100

The average number of employees in fiscal year 2002

and 2001 was 445,100 and 477,100, respectively. Part-time

employees are included on a proportionate basis rather

than being counted as full units. The employees were

engaged in the following activities:

Pro forma information

If the Company had adopted the fair value based account-

ing method prescribed by SFAS 123, the net income and

earnings per share would have been changed to the pro

forma amounts indicated below:

The following tables summarize information on stock

options outstanding and exercisable at September 30,

2002:

Options exercisable

Exercise Number Weighted average 
prices exercisable exercise price

€57.73 1,617,899 €57.73

€86.23 – –

€87.19 – –

Options outstanding

Weighted Weighted
average average

Exercise Options remaining exercise
prices outstanding life (years) price

€57.73 1,617,899 4 €57.73

€86.23 3,072,297 5 €86.23

€87.19 6,958,571 4 €87.19



27 Additional information relating to Board members

Supervisory Board

The remuneration of the members of the Supervisory

Board amounts to €1.3 and €1.3 for the years ended Sep-

tember 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively. In addition, the

members of the Supervisory Board are entitled to receive

reimbursement of their actual out-of-pocket expenses.

€0.1 and €0.1, respectively, of the remuneration relate to

fixed compensation, and €1.2 and €1.2, respectively, to

variable compensation relating to a dividend per share of

€1.00. The remuneration of the members of the Supervi-

sory Board is set forth in the Articles of Association of

Siemens AG. The fixed compensation of each Supervisory

Board member is €6.0 thousand. As variable compensa-

tion, each member of the Supervisory Board receives €3.5

thousand for each €0.05 dividend per share in excess of

€0.20, if such dividend is approved at the annual share-

holders’ meeting. Accordingly, the remuneration amounts

to €62 thousand for each member of the Supervisory

Board. The chairman receives twice and each vice chair-

man receives 1.5 times the annual compensation rates

mentioned above. Members which join or leave the Super-

visory Board during the fiscal year receive a pro rata pay-

ment for the term served on the Board. The members of

the audit committee of the Supervisory Board, which was

established in April 2002, will receive a compensation of

1.5 times the annual compensation rate of a Supervisory

Board member for their service in a committee not

required to be established by law.

In addition, under the Articles of Association, each

member of the Supervisory Board received 1,500 stock

appreciation rights granted under the same conditions

as under the 1999 and 2001 Siemens Stock Option Plans,

which had a fair value as of the grant dates in fiscal 2002

and 2001 of €0.7 and €0.8, respectively. For each member

of the Supervisory Board the fair value of these stock

appreciation rights was €35 thousand and €38 thousand,

respectively (see footnote 25).

Remuneration of the members of the Supervisory

Board including stock appreciation rights at fair value as

of the grant date amounts to €2.0 and 2.1 for the years

ended September 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

During the last two fiscal years there have been no

loans outstanding to members of the Supervisory Board.

Due to the fact that Mr. Peter von Siemens as a repre-

sentative of the founder’s family is not only a member of

the Supervisory Board of Siemens AG but also represents

the Company at home as well as abroad and in various

associations, the Company concluded a representation

contract which grants him a reimbursement of his

expenses. In addition, Mr. Peter von Siemens is entitled to

a company car, an office and secretarial services. The term

of the contract ends at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting

2003.

Managing Board

The remuneration of the members of the Managing Board

was €18.5 and €12.9 for the years ended September 30,

2002 and 2001, respectively, of which €5.6 and €5.7,

respectively, relate to a fixed salary including non-cash

benefits for company cars, social welfare contributions

subsidies and remunerations for memberships in Super-

visory Boards of affiliated companies. The variable com-

pensation consists of an annual bonus of €9.8 and €2.9,

respectively, and a long-term bonus of €3.0 and €2.8,

respectively. The amount of the bonuses is primarily

dependend on the development of the economic value

added during the fiscal year for the annual bonus and a

three-year period for the long-term bonus. In addition,

the Managing Board received €0.1 and €1.5 in fiscal 2002

and 2001, respectively, for the immediate acquisition of a

total of 775 shares and 15,375 shares (after stock split),

respectively, under the condition that each board member,

within a period of 18 months, buys the same number of

shares on his own account, and that each board member

pays any taxes and other levies associated with the initial

payment. These shares are subject to a holding period of

three years from the date of the award or until the holder

leaves the Managing Board, whichever is longer. 
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Related party transactions

Some of the board members of Siemens AG hold or in the

last year have held positions of significant responsibility

with other entities. The Company has relationships with

almost all of these entities in the ordinary course of busi-

ness, whereby it buys and sells a wide variety of products

and services at arm’s length. Significant are the relation-

ships with Deutsche Bank AG, Bayerische Hypo- und Ver-

einsbank AG and Allianz AG. Dr. Rolf-E. Breuer had been

the Spokesman of the Managing Board of Deutsche Bank

AG until May 22, 2002 and is now the Chairman of the

Supervisory Board of Deutsche Bank AG. Dr. Albrecht

Schmidt is the Spokesman of the Managing Board of

Bayerische Hypo- und Vereinsbank AG. The Company’s

ongoing banking relations with these institutions include

securities underwritings, other investment banking serv-

ices, and credit, money market and foreign-exchange

business. Dr. Henning Schulte-Noelle is Chairman of the

Managing Board of Allianz AG, which directly and indi-

rectly provides the Company insurance coverage, as well

as banking services through its majority-owned sub-

sidiary, Dresdner Bank AG, in the ordinary course of busi-

ness.

The members of the Managing Board of Siemens AG

are listed on page 142 of this Annual Report, and the

Supervisory Board members are named on page 140.

28 Earnings per share
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Year ended
September 30,

(shares in thousands) 2002 2001

Net income 2,597 2,088

Weighted average shares 
outstanding – basic 889,539 885,658

Effect of dilutive stock options 92 270

Weighted average shares 
outstanding – diluted 889,631 885,928

Basic earnings per share 2.92 2.36

Diluted earnings per share 2.92 2.36

Also, in fiscal 2002 and 2001, the members of the Man-

aging Board received 151,000 and 160,500, respectively, of

stock options under the 1999 and 2001 Siemens Stock

Option Plans. The fair value of these options at grant date

was €3.5 and €4.1, respectively (see footnote 25).

Remuneration of the members of the Managing Board

including stock options at fair value as of the grant dates

amounts to €22.0 and €17.0 for the years ended Septem-

ber 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Former members of the Managing Board and their

surviving dependents received pensions and transitional

payments of €11.2 and €13.2 for the years ended Septem-

ber 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Pension commitments to current members of the Man-

aging Board and former members and their surviving

dependents are covered by Siemens AG. Accruals have

been recorded as of September 30, 2002 and 2001, for cur-

rent members of the Managing Board of €37.0 and €33.4,

respectively, and for former members and their surviving

dependents of €106.2 and €95.8, respectively. Such

amounts are included in the amounts disclosed in foot-

note 19.

During the last two fiscal years there have been no

loans outstanding to members of the Managing Board.

Share ownership

The Supervisory Board members and the Managing Board

members of Siemens AG hold shares and options repre-

senting less than 1% of Siemens’ total shares outstanding.

As of October 31, 2002, the members of the Managing

Board and the Supervisory Board held shares and options

representing 0.051% and 0.001%, respectively, of the total

shares outstanding. For this calculation, Siemens has not

included the aggregate of 2.0% of outstanding share capi-

tal that is held by the von Siemens-Vermögensverwaltung

GmbH, a German limited liability entity that functions

much like a trust (vSV), or the 4.5% as to which the vSV has

voting power under a power of attorney. Mr. Peter von

Siemens as a representative of the founder’s family has

voting control over these shares.



In fiscal 2002, all pension related costs excluding serv-

ice costs of foreign pension plans are included in the line

item “Corporate, eliminations.” Until March 31, 2001, the

service cost component of domestic net periodic pension

cost was included in the measure of segment profitability.

Beginning April 2001, management decided to discontin-

ue the allocation of the service cost component of domes-

tic pension costs to the Operations segments. Beginning

fiscal year 2002, interest costs, expected return on plan

assets and amortization of unrecognized gains and losses

of foreign funded pension plans are no longer included in

the measure of segment profitability. EBIT of the Opera-

tions segments for fiscal year 2002 would have been €78

lower if net periodic pension costs were allocated in the

same manner as in fiscal 2001. Interest related to accounts

receivable to customers, cash allocated to the segments,

and accounts payable to suppliers are part of EBIT.

Earnings (losses) from equity investees included in

EBIT for the years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001 of

Operations segments were €(20) and €6, respectively, at

ICM; €37 and €1, respectively, at ICN; €44 and €33, respec-

tively, at PG; and €29 and €28, respectively, in the other

Operations segments.

Net capital employed is the asset measure used to

assess the performance for the Operations segments. It

represents total assets less tax related assets, less accruals

and less non-interest bearing liabilities other than tax

related liabilities. Due to the adoption of SFAS 142 and the

related changes in the definition of segment profitability

discussed above, Net capital employed (referred to as EBI-

TA assets in prior years) is no longer reduced for amorti-

zation of goodwill. EBITA assets amounts for the Opera-

tions segments as of September 30, 2001, have been

restated to reflect these changes.
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29 Segment information

The Company’s segments are organized based on the

nature of products and services provided.

The segment information is subdivided on a primary

level into three components: Operations, Financing and

Real Estate, and Eliminations, reclassifications and Corpo-

rate Treasury. As Siemens deconsolidated Infineon as of

December 5, 2001, only prior year figures for Infineon are

shown. The results of operations from Infineon for the

first two months of fiscal year 2002 are included in Elimi-

nations, reclassifications and Corporate Treasury. The

accounting policies of the components (and the segments

included) are generally the same as those used for

Siemens worldwide and described in the summary of sig-

nificant accounting policies (footnote 2). Corporate over-

head is generally not allocated to segments. Intersegment

transactions are generally based on market prices.

New orders are determined principally as the estimat-

ed sales value of accepted purchase orders and order value

changes and adjustments, excluding letters of intent.

Operations

The Managing Board is responsible for assessing the per-

formance of the Operations segments. In fiscal 2001, the

Company changed the profitability measure for its Opera-

tions segments to earnings before financing interest, cer-

tain pension costs, income taxes, and amortization of

goodwill and purchased in-process R&D (IPR&D) and cer-

tain one-time items (EBITA). Beginning October 1, 2001,

Siemens adopted the provisions of SFAS 142, “Goodwill

and Other Intangible Assets,” and no longer amortizes

goodwill. Consistent with this change, EBITA is now

referred to as EBIT. As IPR&D expenses now are included

in EBIT, the Operations’ profitability measure is earnings

before financing interest, certain pension costs, income

taxes and certain one-time items (discussed below). In fis-

cal year 2001, goodwill amortization of €539, and IPR&D

of €126 was excluded from EBITA. In fiscal 2002, the Com-

pany did not incur IPR&D expenses. Relating to IPR&D, the

prior-period segment information has not been restated.



Corporate, eliminations and Reconciliation 

to financial statements

“Corporate, eliminations” within Operations and “Recon-

ciliation to financial statements” include various cate-

gories of items which are not allocated to the segments

since the Managing Board has determined that such items

are not indicative of the segments’ performance. These

include nonrecurring, one-time charges or gains and the

results of centrally managed projects. In addition, “Corpo-

rate, eliminations” includes corporate charges such as

personnel costs, including certain pension costs, certain

corporate related derivative activities, centrally held equi-

ty investments, business units and corporate projects, liq-

uid assets unallocated to segments and corporate items

relating to foreign subsidiaries. “Reconciliation to finan-

cial statements” consists of various items excluded by def-

inition from EBIT. Operations segments EBIT is the basis

for calculating Economic Value Added (EVA) for Opera-

tions, which in turn is part of the determination of bonus

payments in accordance with Siemens’ management

incentive program.

Corporate, eliminations

“Corporate, eliminations” in the column EBIT consists of:

“Non-allocated pension related (expense) income” for

fiscal 2002 was negatively affected by changes in pension

trust net asset values and lower return assumptions as

well as the change in the allocation methodology dis-

cussed above.

“Eliminations, other” for the fiscal year ended Septem-

ber 30, 2002, includes charges of €146 related to the sale

of a portfolio of businesses to KKR (see footnote 3). The

transaction in the fourth quarter of 2002 was effected as a

sale of a portfolio of businesses that resulted in a net gain

of €21. However, separate results were allocated to the

operating segments where the sold businesses had previ-

ously resided. As a result, ICN and PG were allocated gains

of €153 and €68, respectively, while PTD was allocated a

loss of €54. The allocated values are based on amounts

stated in the sales contracts and are not necessarily

indicative of their actual fair values. In addition, “Elimina-

tions, other“ includes charges of €70 relating to the write-

off of centrally held investments. For the year ended Sep-

tember 30, 2001, “Eliminations, other” includes €78 in

expenses related to centrally managed litigation issues,

€74 in corporate interest expense in part related to the

Atecs acquisition, and €63 in severance charges. Fiscal

2001 also included a gain of €114 related to currency

effects and the treatment of derivative contracts not quali-

fying for hedge accounting, and positive resolution of cer-

tain asset disposal contingencies of €162.
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Year ended
September 30,

2002 2001

Corporate items (671) (838)

Investment (losses) earnings (16) 253

Non-allocated pension related 
(expense) income (250) 279

Eliminations, other (246) (14)

(1,183) (320)

In fiscal 2002, “Investment (losses) earnings” include

€338, representing Siemens’ at-equity share in the net

loss incurred by Infineon since the deconsolidation of

Infineon in December 2001 which offsets the earnings

from other centrally held equity investees, and the gain

on the sale of two centrally held investments totaling

€133. Fiscal 2001 includes the loss on the sale of a domes-

tic equity and debt security fund of €209, which was more

than offset by gains on sales of available-for-sale securi-

ties of €227.



Reconciliation to financial statements

“Other interest expense” of Operations relates primarily

to interest paid on debt and corporate financing transac-

tions through Corporate Treasury.

Under “Goodwill amortization and purchased in-

process R&D expenses” amounts are shown which were

not included in EBIT by prior years definition (see above).

“Gains on sales and dispositions of significant busi-

ness interests” are shown under Reconciliation to finan-

cial statements. For fiscal 2002 this amount include gains

of €936 from the sales of approximately 63.1 million Infi-

neon shares in open market transactions. For fiscal year

2001, such amount includes a gain of €3,459 from the

irrevocable transfer of approximately 93.8 million Infi-

neon shares into Siemens’ domestic pension trust as well

as a €484 gain from a follow-on offering by Infineon of

approximately 60 million of its shares in the fourth quar-

ter. In addition, Infineon increased its capital in connec-

tion with two acquisitions, which resulted in an aggregate

gain of €122. Siemens did not participate in these capital

increases.

For fiscal 2001, “Other special items” include goodwill

impairments, primarily related to acquisitions made by

ICN and A&D of Efficient and Milltronics totaling €927,

and the write-down of inventories and assets associated

with the contract cancellation of a centrally managed con-

tract by the Argentine government of €258. This contract

was originally entered into by SBS.

The following table reconciles total assets of the Opera-

tions component to Net capital employed as disclosed in

Segment information according to the above definition:

Infineon

Earnings (losses) from equity investees included in EBIT

at Infineon were €32 for the year ended September 30,

2001.

Financing and Real Estate

The Company’s performance measurement for its Financ-

ing and Real Estate segments is income before income

taxes. In contrast to the performance measurement used

for the Operations segments, interest expense and income

is an important source of revenue and expense for

Financing and Real Estate.

For the years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001, in-

come before income taxes at SFS includes interest revenue

of €510 and €603, respectively, and interest expense of

€310 and €404, respectively. In addition, income before

income taxes includes earnings from equity investees for

the years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001 of €41 and

€5, respectively.

For the years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001,

income before income taxes at SRE includes interest rev-

enue of €13 and €19, respectively, and interest expense

of €132 and €150, respectively.

Eliminations, reclassifications and Corporate

Treasury

Income before income taxes consists primarily of interest

income due to cash management activities, corporate

finance, and certain currency and interest rate derivative

instruments. For the the fiscal year ended September 30,

2002, the results of operations from Infineon for the first

two months of the fiscal year 2002 are included.
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September 30,
2002 2001

Total assets 67,699 69,200

Intracompany financing receivables 
and investments (14,127) (8,305)

Tax related assets (4,350) (4,335)

Pension plans and similar 
commitments (5,299) (4,653)

Accruals (6,690) (6,977)

Liabilities to third parties (21,478) (26,317)

Total reconciliation (51,944) (50,587)

Net capital employed 15,755 18,613



Description of business segments

The Operations segments are comprised of the follow-

ing businesses:

Information and Communication Networks (ICN) –

ICN develops, manufactures and sells public communica-

tion systems, private business communication systems

and related software, and provides a wide variety of con-

sulting, maintenance and other services. This includes

circuit switching and communication access equipment,

private branch exchange systems, voice and data public

telecommunication elements, and broadband network

products for carrying data over the Internet. It also pro-

vides Internet core network switches, routers and related

services.

Information and Communication Mobile (ICM) –

ICM designs, manufactures and sells a broad range of

communication devices, applications and interfaces, and

mobile network products and systems including mobile,

cordless and corded fixed-line telephones and radio base

stations, base station controllers and switches for mobile

communications networks as well as mobile and intelli-

gent network systems.

Siemens Business Services (SBS) – SBS provides

information and communications services to customers

in industry, in the public sector, and in the telecommuni-

cations, transport, utilities and finance industries. SBS

designs, builds and operates both discrete and large-scale

information and communications systems, and provides

related maintenance and support services.

Automation and Drives (A&D) – A&D produces and

installs manufacturing automation systems, drives sys-

tems, low voltage controllers and distributors, and

process automation products and instrument systems.

Industrial Solutions and Services (I&S) – I&S pro-

vides a range of facilities systems and services, including

general contracting, to raw materials processing compa-

nies and infrastructure customers.

Siemens Dematic (SD) – SD designs, engineers, man-

ufactures and sells equipment, systems and solutions for

factory automation and logistics automation systems for

postal automation, electronics assembly systems; and

internal transport systems for on-site use. SD was formed

by the merger in April 2001 of the former Siemens Pro-

duction and Logistics Systems with Atecs Mannesmann

Dematic Systems group.

Siemens Building Technologies (SBT) – SBT provides

products, systems and services for monitoring and regu-

lating the temperature, safety, electricity, lighting and

security of commercial and industrial property. It also

provides planning, management and technology-related

electrical contracting services in connection with building

projects. In addition, it operates and maintains entire

building sites as an outsource provider of technical facili-

ty management services.

Power Generation (PG) – PG provides customers

worldwide with a full range of equipment necessary for

the efficient conversion of energy into electricity and heat.

It offers a broad range of power plant technology, with

activities that include: development and manufacture of

key components, equipment, and systems; planning,

engineering and construction of new power plants; and

comprehensive servicing, retrofitting and modernizing of

existing facilities.

Power Transmission and Distribution (PTD) – PTD

supplies energy utilities and large industrial power users

with equipment, systems and services used to process and

transmit electrical power to various points along the pow-

er transmission network, including end users.

Transportation Systems (TS) – TS provides products

and services for the rail industry, including signaling and

control systems, railway electrification systems, complete

heavy rail systems including rapid transit systems and

locomotives, light rail systems and other rail vehicles.
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Siemens VDO Automotive (SV) – SV designs, manu-

factures and sells integrated electrical, electronic and

electromechanical systems and modules and individual

components used in automotive applications. Its product

range includes components and systems used in automo-

bile powertrains, body electronic systems, safety and

chassis systems, electric motor drives, information and

cockpit systems, and driver information, communication

and multimedia systems. SV is the result of the merger in

April 2001 of the former Siemens Automotive group with

Mannesmann VDO.

Medical Solutions (Med) – Med develops, manufac-

tures and markets diagnostic and therapeutic systems

and devices such as CAT scanners, magnetic resonance

imagers, ultrasound and radiology devices, and hearing

instruments as well as information technology systems

for clinical and administrative purposes. It provides tech-

nical maintenance, professional and consulting services.

Osram – Osram designs, manufactures and sells a full

spectrum of lighting products for a variety of applications

such as general lighting and automotive, photo-optic and

opto-semiconductor lighting .

Infineon Technologies (Infineon) – Infineon’s prod-

ucts include discrete and integrated semiconductor circuit

and systems for wireless communications, computer net-

works and for use in automotive and industrial applica-

tions. Effective December 2001, Infineon is no longer con-

solidated but instead accounted for as an investment

using the equity method.

The Financing and Real Estate Segments are com-

prised of the following two businesses:

Siemens Financial Services (SFS) – SFS, the Compa-

ny’s international financial services segment, provides a

variety of customized financial solutions both to third

parties and to other Siemens business groups and their

customers.

Siemens Real Estate (SRE) – SRE owns and manages a

substantial part of Siemens’ real estate portfolio and

offers service portfolio specializing in real estate develop-

ment projects, real estate disposals, asset management,

and lease and service management.

30 Geographic information

The following tables present data by geographic region as

of and for the years ended September 30, 2002 and 2001.
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Sales by location
of companies

2002 2001

Germany 28,845 30,547

Europe (other than Germany) 23,326 23,024

U.S. 21,078 21,102

Americas other than U.S. 3,229 3,928

Asia-Pacific 6,153 7,228

Other countries 1,385 1,171

Siemens worldwide 84,016 87,000

Sales by location
of customer

2002 2001

Germany 18,102 19,144

Europe (other than Germany) 26,597 26,196

U.S. 20,288 21,103

Americas other than U.S. 4,389 4,893

Asia-Pacific 9,668 11,081

Other countries 4,972 4,583

Siemens worldwide 84,016 87,000

Long-lived assets
2002 2001

Germany 4,447 7,368

Europe (other than Germany) 3,198 3,991

U.S. 2,735 4,486

Americas other than U.S. 477 633

Asia-Pacific 842 1,197

Other countries 43 128

Siemens worldwide 11,742 17,803

Long-lived assets consist of property, plant and equip-

ment and equipment leased to others.



    

138 f i v e - y e a r  s u m m a r y

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Sales and earnings (in millions of euros)

Net sales 84,016 87,000 77,484 68,069 –

Gross profit on sales 23,206 23,105 21,535 17,909 –

Research and development expenses 5,819 6,782 5,848 5,260 –

as a percentage of sales 6.9 7.8 7.5 7.7 –

Net income 2,597 2,088 8,860 1,209 –

Employees

Employees(2) (in thousands) 426 484 448 437 –

Employee costs (in millions of euros) 27,195 27,102 26,601 23,126 –

Cash flows (in millions of euros)

Net cash provided by operating activities 5,564 7,016 6,154 3,640 –

Amortization, depreciation and impairments 4,126 6,264 4,652 3,594 –

Net cash used in investing activities (810) (5,886) (435) (2,876) –

Additions to intangible assets, property, plant and equipment (3,894) (7,048) (5,544) (3,998) –

Net cash used in financing activities (859) (95) (1,174) (1,111) –

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,394 940 4,725 (292) –

Assets, liabilities and shareholders’ equity (in millions of euros)

Current assets 44,062 51,013 49,091 44,850 –

Current liabilities 34,712 44,524 36,855 31,049 –

Debt 12,346 12,610 9,338 7,492 –

Long-term debt 10,243 9,973 6,734 4,753 –

Pension plans and similar commitments 5,326 4,721 2,473 11,540 –

Shareholders’ equity 23,521 23,812 28,480 19,138 –

as a percentage of total assets 30 26 35 27 –

Total assets 77,939 90,118 81,654 71,720 –

(1) Due to the adoption of U.S. GAAP comparable financial data is not available
for the fiscal year 1998.

(2) Without temporary student workers and trainees.
(3) Data reflect stock split (one additional share for two existing shares)

effective April 30, 2001.
(4) To be proposed at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting.
(5) xetra closing prices, Frankfurt.

(1)
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Quarterly data (in millions of euros) 2002 4th Quarter 3rd Quarter 2nd Quarter 1st Quarter

Net sales 84,016 21,290 20,482 21,258 20,986 

Net income 2,597 53 725 1,281 538

Quarterly data (in millions of euros) 2001 4th Quarter 3rd Quarter 2nd Quarter 1st Quarter

Net sales 87,000 24,540 21,360 20,629 20,471 

Net income 2,088 (1,098) 1,608 578 1,000

Siemens AG – Statement of income and balance sheet*
(condensed version) (in billions of euros)

Years ended September 30 2002 2001

Net sales 27.7 29.7

Cost of sales (21.1) (22.8)

Gross profit on sales 6.6 6.9

Other functional costs (9.0) (9.3)

Other income and expense, net 3.1 3.7

Income before income taxes 0.7 1.3

Income taxes 0.3 (0.4)

Net income 1.0 0.9

Profit available for distribution 0.9 0.9

As of September 30 2002 2001

Property, plant equipment 1.7 1.6

Investments 26.4 24.8

Noncurrent 28.1 26.4

Inventories – 1.0

Accounts receivable 19.2 23.7

Marketable securities, liquid assets 10.6 5.9

Total assets 57.9 57.0

Shareholders’ equity 14.1 13.8

Accrued liabilities and special reserves 17.4 17.8

Debt 0.3 0.2

Other liabilities 26.1 25.2

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 57.9 57.0 

Key capital market data(3) (in euros, unless otherwise indicated) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

EVA (in millions of euros) 617 (743) 7,095 – –

Earnings per share 2.92 2.36 9.97 1.36 –

Diluted earnings per share 2.92 2.36 9.96 1.36 –

Dividend per share 1.00(4) 1.00 1.60 0.67 0.51 

Siemens stock price(5)

High 78.52 105.77 127.67 57.53 47.25 

Low 34.00 37.50 50.65 26.93 30.78 

Year-end (September 30) 34.00 41.89 97.33 51.60 31.46 

Siemens stock performance over prior year (in percentage points)

Compared to dax® index + 18.25 – 19.84 + 57.88 + 63.23 – 30.00 

Compared to Dow Jones stoxx™ index + 7.87 – 28.30 + 63.95 + 47.85 – 26.13 

Number of shares (in millions) 890 888 883 892 892 

Market capitalization (in millions of euros) 30,273 37,208 85,939 46,037 28,068 

Credit rating of long-term debt

Standard & Poor’s AA– AA AA AA AA 

Moody’s Aa3 Aa3 Aa3 Aa3 Aa1

* Prepared in accordance with the German Commercial Code (HGB).
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German Supervisory Board
positions:
Münchener Tierpark 
Hellabrunn AG, Munich

Daniel L. Vasella, Dr.med. 

President and Delegate of the
Board of Administration, 
Novartis AG
Date of birth: 8/15/53
First elected: 2/19/98
Term expires: 1/23/03

Additional positions
Comparable positions
outside Germany:
Credit Suisse Group, Switzerland
PepsiCo, Inc., USA

Klaus Wigand 

Industrial clerk 
Date of birth: 11/19/45
First elected: 2/19/98
Term expires: 1/23/03

Erwin Zahl

Telecommunications installer
Date of birth: 11/18/39
First elected: 10/1/94
Term expires: 1/23/03

Supervisory Board

as of September 30, 2002
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Supervisory Board committees

The Supervisory Board of Siemens AG has established four

permanent committees. Information on their activities in

fiscal 2002 is provided on pages 43-44 of this Report.

Committee

Executive Committee
of the 
Supervisory Board

Meetings 
in FY 2002

6 
plus
5 resolutions
by notational
voting using
written circu-
lations

Duties and responsibilities

The Executive Committee of the Supervisory Board is
responsible for reviewing basic issues of business policy
and management, especially in matters concerning the
Managing Board. The Committee makes recommenda-
tions to the Supervisory Board on the appointment and
revocation of Managing Board members and determines
the Managing Board’s employment and remuneration
framework. The Committee executes the contracts of
employment with Managing Board members and estab-
lishes the annual amounts of their variable and stock-
based compensation. The Committee makes recommen-
dations to the Supervisory Board on the composition
of Supervisory Board committees and – through repre-
sentatives of the shareholders – proposes shareholder
candidates for appointment to the Supervisory Board.
The Committee decides whether to approve business
transactions with Managing Board members and related
parties. The Committee’s duties include a regular review
of the Company’s corporate governance guidelines and
formulating proposals to improve the Company’s
approach to corporate governance issues.

Members
as of Sept. 30, 2002

Dr. Karl-Hermann Baumann

Ralf Heckmann

Dr. Rolf-E. Breuer

Mediation Committee, 
§ 31 (3), (5) of the
German Codetermina-
tion Act

0 The Mediation Committee, as prescribed under German
law, recommends candidates to the Supervisory Board
for the appointment or revocation of appointment of
Managing Board members, if the required two-thirds
majority of the Supervisory Board member votes is not
obtained on the first ballot.

Dr. Karl-Hermann Baumann

Ralf Heckmann

Dr. Rolf-E. Breuer

Heinz Hawreliuk

Investment Committee,
§ 32 of the German
Codetermination Act

0
9 resolutions
by notational
voting using
written circu-
lations

The Committee is responsible for decisions relating to
the exercise of ownership rights resulting from interests
in other companies.

Dr. Karl-Hermann Baumann

Dr. Rolf-E. Breuer

Dr. Albrecht Schmidt

Audit Committee 2 The Audit Committee’s duties include preparing Super-
visory Board reviews of the financial statements of the
parent company Siemens AG and of the consolidated
financial statements of Siemens worldwide. The Commit-
tee also reviews the quarterly reports and liaises with the
independent auditors (particularly with regard to award-
ing the audit contract, defining the focal points of the
audit, determining the fee to be paid to the auditors, and
monitoring the auditors’ independence) and with the
internal Financial Audit department.

Dr. Karl-Hermann Baumann

Ralf Heckmann

Dr. Rolf-E. Breuer

Heinz Hawreliuk

Dr. Henning Schulte-Noelle

Further information on Siemens corporate governance 
is available at:
www.siemens.com/corporate_governance
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Heinrich v. Pierer, 
Dr. jur. Dr.-Ing. E.h. 

President and 
Chief Executive Officer, 
Siemens AG
Date of birth: 1/26/41
First appointed: 10/1/89
Term expires: 9/30/04

Outside positions
German Supervisory Board
positions:
Bayer AG, Leverkusen
Hochtief AG, Essen
Münchener Rückversicherungs-
Gesellschaft AG, Munich
Volkswagen AG, Wolfsburg

Company positions
Comparable positions
outside Germany:
Siemens Aktiengesellschaft 
Österreich, Austria
(Chairman)

Volker Jung, Dr.Eng.h.c. 

Date of birth: 8/28/39
First appointed: 7/2/91
Term expires: 9/30/03

Outside positions
German Supervisory Board
positions:
DAB bank AG, Munich
MAN AG, Munich
(Chairman)

Company positions
Comparable positions
outside Germany:
Siemens A.E., Greece
(Chairman)
Siemens Ltd., South Africa
(Chairman)

Edward G. Krubasik, 
Prof. Dr. rer.nat. 

Date of birth: 1/19/44
First appointed: 1/1/97
Term expires: 9/30/06

Outside positions
German Supervisory Board
positions:
Dresdner Bank AG,
Frankfurt/Main
STINNES AG, Mülheim/Ruhr

Comparable positions
outside Germany:
Covisint LLC, USA

Company positions
German Supervisory Board
positions:
BSH Bosch und Siemens 
Hausgeräte GmbH, Munich
Mannesmann Plastics 
Machinery AG, Munich 
(Chairman)
Siemens Dematic AG, Munich
(Chairman)
Siemens VDO Automotive AG,
Frankfurt/Main (Chairman)

Comparable positions
outside Germany:
Siemens A/S, Norway
Siemens Building Technologies
AG, Switzerland (Chairman)
Siemens France S.A., France

Rudi Lamprecht

Date of birth: 10/12/48
First appointed: 4/26/00
Term expires: 9/30/04

Company positions
Comparable positions
outside Germany: 
Fujitsu Siemens Computers B.V., 
The Netherlands 
(Deputy Chairman)
Siemens Information and
Communication Mobile LLC, USA
Siemens France S.A., France
Siemens S.A., Belgium

Heinz-Joachim Neubürger

Date of birth: 1/11/53
First appointed: 11/5/97
Term expires: 9/30/07

Outside positions
German Supervisory Board
positions:
Allianz Versicherungs-AG,
Munich
Bayerische Börse AG, Munich
HVB Real Estate Bank AG,
Munich

Comparable positions
outside Germany:
Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc., USA

Company positions
Comparable positions
outside Germany:
Siemens Corp., USA
(Deputy Chairman)

Peter Pribilla, Prof. 

Date of birth: 6/11/41
First appointed: 4/1/94
Term expires: 9/30/03

Outside positions
German Supervisory Board
positions:
Deutsche Krankenversicherung 
AG, Cologne

Jürgen Radomski

Date of birth: 10/26/41
First appointed: 6/29/94
Term expires: 9/30/03

Company positions
German Supervisory Board
positions:
BSH Bosch und Siemens 
Hausgeräte GmbH, Munich
(Chairman)
Osram GmbH, Munich
(Chairman)

Comparable positions 
outside Germany:
Siemens Aktiengesellschaft 
Österreich, Austria
Siemens Osakeyhtiö, Finland
Siemens A/S, Denmark
Siemens AB, Sweden
Siemens Holdings plc, UK
Siemens Nederland N.V., 
The Netherlands
Siemens Rt., Hungary
(Chairman)
Siemens S.A., Spain
(Deputy Chairman)
Siemens Schweiz AG, 
Switzerland
(Chairman)
Siemens S.p.A., Italy
(Deputy Chairman)
Siemens A.Ş., Turkey

Erich R. Reinhardt,
Prof. Dr.

Date of birth: 10/3/46
First appointed: 12/1/01
Term expires: 9/30/06

Outside positions
German Supervisory Board
positions:
Bio M AG, Munich

Comparable positions 
outside Germany:
Acuson Corp., USA*
(Chairman)
Siemens AB, Sweden
Siemens Medical Solutions, USA*
(Chairman)
Shared Medical Systems, USA*
(Chairman)

* merged into Siemens Medical
Solutions USA, Inc., on October 1,
2002 

Uriel J. Sharef, Dr. rer.pol. 

Date of birth: 8/19/44
First appointed: 7/26/00
Term expires: 9/30/04

Company positions
Comparable positions
outside Germany:
Siemens Corp., USA
(Chairman)
Siemens Canada Ltd., Canada
Siemens Ltda., Brazil
Grupo Siemens S.A. de C.V., 
Mexico
Siemens Power Transmission 
& Distribution, Inc., USA
Siemens Israel Ltd., Israel
(Chairman)
Siemens S.A., Argentina
(Chairman)

Claus Weyrich, 
Prof. Dr.phil. Dr.-Ing.E.h. 

Date of birth: 1/6/44
First appointed: 10/1/96
Term expires: 9/30/06

Outside positions
German Supervisory Board
positions:
HERAEUS Holding GmbH, Hanau

Company positions
Comparable positions 
outside Germany:
Siemens Corporate Research, 
Inc., USA
(Chairman)

Klaus Wucherer, Prof. Dr.-Ing. 

Date of birth: 7/9/44
First appointed: 8/1/99
Term expires: 9/30/03

Outside positions
German Supervisory Board
positions:
Deutsche Messe AG, Hanover
Infineon Technologies AG, 
Munich

Company positions
Comparable positions in Germany:
BSH Bosch und Siemens 
Hausgeräte GmbH, Munich

Comparable positions
outside Germany:
Eviop-Tempo A.E., Greece
Siemens Energy & Automation, 
Inc., USA
(Chairman)
Siemens K.K., Japan
(Chairman)
Siemens Ltd., India
Siemens Building Technologies
AG, Switzerland

Managing Board

as of September 30, 2002

The Siemens corporate structure is
shown on the foldout inside the back
cover.
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Managing Board committees

Committee Respon-
sible for the Issuance
of Employee Stock

1 The Committee oversees the utilization of authorized
capital in connection with the issuance of employee
stock.

Dr. Heinrich v. Pierer

Heinz-Joachim Neubürger

Prof. Peter Pribilla

Equity Committee 3 The Equity Committee is responsible for implementing
various capital measures.

Dr. Heinrich v. Pierer

Heinz-Joachim Neubürger

Jürgen Radomski

Corporate Executive
Committee

52 The Corporate Executive Committee currently comprises
the Chairman of the Managing Board, the heads of Cor-
porate Finance and Corporate Personnel, and five other
Managing Board members elected by the Managing
Board. The Corporate Executive Committee has full
authority to act for and on behalf of the Managing Board
between meetings of the Managing Board.

Dr. Heinrich v. Pierer

Dr. Volker Jung

Prof. Dr. Edward G. Krubasik

Heinz-Joachim Neubürger

Prof. Peter Pribilla

Jürgen Radomski

Dr. Uriel J. Sharef

Dr. Klaus Wucherer

Committee Meetings
in FY 2002

Duties and responsibilities Members
as of Sept. 30, 2002

Further information on Siemens corporate governance 
is available at:
www.siemens.com/corporate_governance
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Glossary

Acquisition The act of taking over one company by another; usually accomplished by the purchase of a controlling portion of the
acquired company’s stock.

Asset management The process of managing corporate assets in order to enhance operational efficiency while minimizing costs and
associated risks.

Backstop facilities Bank line of credit to provide liquidity support to an organization in the event of unfavorable capital markets.

Benchmarking A technique used to compare the products, services, processes and financials within an organization, in relation to
“best of practice” in other similar organizations.

Business portfolio The aggregate total of business areas in which Siemens is active.

Captive finance unit A financial services unit organized as a business within an industrial enterprise that offers financial solutions primarily to
customers of the operating groups of that enterprise.

Cash flow The net cash inflow or outflow for a specific time period.

Cash management The management of cash and cash equivalents within an organization to optimize financial activities.

Consolidated Financial statements that bring together all assets, liabilities, net worth, and operating figures of two or more affiliated 
financial statements companies, as though the business were in fact a single economic entity. Duplications in items are eliminated so that the

combined figures do not show more assets and equities than actually exist.

Corporate A corporate function responsible for ensuring the availability of company-wide financing and cash management, including 
Treasury consulting services involving issues of corporate finance, interest rates and currencies, liquidity management and all other

questions related to the financial management of operations.

Cost of capital The rate that a company must pay for its capital.

Debt-to-equity ratio Total long-term debt divided by total shareholders’ equity. This is a measure of leverage – the use of borrowed money
to enhance the return on shareholders’ equity. The higher the ratio, the greater the leverage.

Deferred taxes Assets and liabilities in the balance sheet arising from the different treatment of transactions for financial and tax 
reporting purposes.

Derivative A financial instrument that derives its value from the price or expected price of an underlying asset (e.g. a security,
currency or bond).

EBIT Short for “earnings before interest and taxes.” Net income before interest cost and income tax expense.

E-business Also “e-biz,” short for “electronic business.” The aggregate total of information flows and transactions with products and
services through electronic networks, including the Internet and related technologies and concepts.

Emerging markets Markets of newly industrialized countries (NICs), such as in Latin America, Southeast Asia and Eastern Europe.

Equity method Valuation method used to account for holdings in companies whose business policy can be significantly influenced
(associated companies).

Equity ratio The proportion of shareholders’ equity to total funds employed.

EVA Short for “economic value added.” As a measure, EVA is equal to net operating profit after taxes (NOPAT) less a charge
for the capital employed in the business (cost of capital).

Financing and The worldwide leasing, lending, financing and real estate activities of Siemens Financial Services (SFS), Siemens Real
Real Estate Estate (SRE), and Siemens Corporate Treasury.

Fully diluted Earnings per share are fully diluted when they reflect the effects of exercising stock options or warrants or converting
convertible securities.

Functional costs Functional costs include cost of sales, R&D expenses, marketing and selling expenses, and general administration
expenses.

GASC Short for “German Accounting Standards Committee.” An independent registered association to develop, among other
things, accounting standards for application in the area of consolidated financial reporting.

German GAAP Short for “Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in Germany.” The accounting concepts, measurements, techniques
and standards of presentation used in financial statements in Germany pursuant to the German Commercial Code (HGB).

Goodwill The excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over cost resulting from a business combination accounted for as a
purchase.



Hedging A strategy used to minimize exposure to changes in prices, interest rates or exchange rates by means of derivative
financial instruments (options, swaps, forward contracts, etc.).

Joint venture A form of business partnership between two or more companies to engage in a commercial enterprise with mutual
sharing of profits and losses.

Medium Term Note Flexible financing framework providing for the issuance of notes in rotation in the context of a program unrestricted in  
Program time (constant issue). The notes may be issued in several tranches, with terms and conditions and time of issue being 

determined in accordance with then current goals and prevailing market conditions.

Moody’s Investors Independent rating agency that provides evaluation of securities investment and credit risk.
Service

Net capital employed Consists of long-term assets plus excess of current assets over current non-interest-bearing liabilities. 

NOPAT Short for “net operating profit after tax.” Profit before interest and taxes net of adjustments to eliminate financing and
accounting distortions, minus taxes.

Operations The most important of the three major components of Siemens, comprising all activities of the Siemens organization
worldwide with the exception of Financing and Real Estate and Corporate Treasury.

Pictures of the Future Strategic planning method developed by Siemens. The future is visualized to gain an overview of technologies with
high growth potential and multiple impact in a range of different market sectors, to identify those that will lead to techno-
logical breakthroughs and to discover future customer requirements and new business opportunities.

Purchase method Valuation method used to account for shareholders’ equity of subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial
statements.

R&D Short for “research and development.”

Rating Standardized evaluation of issuers’ credit standing and debt instruments, carried out by specialized agencies 
(such as Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s Investors Service).

Registered shares Shares of stock registered in the name of the owner on the books of the issuer.

Risk management Systematic process of identifying, assessing and monitoring various financial risk factors and of selecting and
implementing measures to handle them.

RORAC Short for “return on risk adjusted capital.” An analysis tool commonly used in the banking industry to estimate 
line-of-business profitability.

SEC Short for “Securities and Exchange Commission.” The primary federal agency in the U.S. responsible for regulating the
financial reporting practices of most publicly owned corporations in connection with the buying and selling of stocks
and bonds.

Shareholder value Concept that focuses strategic and operational decision-making on steadily increasing corporate value, ensuring that
investors receive a reasonable return on their investment.

SKAG Short for “Siemens Kapitalanlagegesellschaft mbH.”

Standard & Poor’s Independent rating agency that provides evaluation of securities investment and credit risk.

Stock options Form of employee incentive and compensation. The employee is given an option to purchase a company’s shares if certain
targets are met under specified conditions.

top+ top+ is our Company-wide program to achieve sustained growth in profitability. To improve the performance of our
businesses, we apply proven methods – e.g. cost reduction, sales stimulation, quality enhancement and asset manage-
ment. The motto of top+ is: Clear goals, concrete measures, rigorous consequences. We continually monitor the effec-
tiveness of our top+ activities.

Turnkey project A project in which a supplier contracts to design, build and deliver a completed facility or package ready for operation.

UMTS Short for “Universal Mobile Telecommunications System.” Third-generation mobile communications standard that will
provide broadband services optimized for high-speed data, mobile Internet and applications based on intranets, extranets
and mobile multimedia.

U.S. GAAP Short for “United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.” The accounting concepts, measurements, techniques
and standards of presentation applicable to financial statements in the U.S.

Volatility The degree of fluctuation for a given price or rate, such as a stock price or currency exchange rate.
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Business excellence

A: Virtual or real? Superalloy turbine blades as seen in the virtual
reality lab at Siemens Corporate Technology.

B: Our Somatom Sensation 16 computed tomography system
features innovative clinical applications such as noninvasive
exams for early detection of intestinal cancer.

C: The round shape of the ceramic burners in Osram’s halogen
vapor lamps enhances light quality.

Global presence

A: In China, the world’s fastest growing market, Siemens hired
more than 600 young engineers in fiscal 2002.

B: The Siemens Foundation partners with Massachusetts Institute
of Technology (MIT) to enhance math and science programs
at selected U.S. high schools.

C: Women account for more than 25% of our new hires with
business and engineering degrees.

Financial integrity

A: Our Financial Audit and Corporate Audit departments supervise
and monitor compliance with the Company’s principles and
regulatory frameworks.

B: The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting is the decision-making body
of our shareholders.

C: Our new Munich headquarters is one of the many locations in
Siemens Real Estate’s extensive portfolio.

Corporate responsibility

A: Our Youthspace project in South Africa is giving street children a
new start in life by providing them with housing and education.

B: Roughly 12,000 young people are currently enrolled in Siemens’
training and work-study programs.

C: The “danke schön” sculpture (© Atelier von Lieshout) was
created for the Art & Economy exhibit, a project sponsored by
the Siemens Arts Program and the Deichtorhallen Hamburg
exhibit center.

A

B

C

A

B C

A
B

C

Interim report October to December Jan. 23, 2003

Annual Shareholders’ Meeting – Olympiahalle, Munich, 10:00 a.m. Jan. 23, 2003

Ex-dividend date Jan. 24, 2003

Semiannual Report and Semiannual Press Conference Apr. 24, 2003

Interim report October to June July 24, 2003

Preliminary figures for fiscal year / Press conference Nov. 13, 2003

Annual Shareholders’ Meeting for fiscal 2003 Jan. 22, 2004

* Provisional. Updates will be posted at: www.siemens.com/financial_calendar

Siemens financial calendar*

Picture captions
Pages 4-11 
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Designations used in this Report may be trademarks, the use of which
by third parties for their own purposes could violate the rights of the
trademark owners.
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Corporate Communications
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Telephone +49 89 636-33032 (Press Office)

+49 89 636-32474 (Investor Relations)

Fax +49 89 636-32825 (Press Office)

+49 89 636-32830 (Investor Relations)

E-mail press@siemens.com

investorrelations@siemens.com

Address

Siemens AG

Wittelsbacherplatz 2

D-80333 Munich

Federal Republic of Germany

Internet www.siemens.com

This Annual Report is also available in French, German 

and Spanish.

An abridged version has been prepared in Japanese.

Additional copies of this Report are available from:

E-mail siemens@bek-gmbh.de

Internet www.siemens.de/geschaeftsbericht_2002/order

Telephone +49 7237-480024

Fax +49 7237-1736

Employees may also obtain additional copies from:

LZF, Fürth-Bislohe

Intranet http://c4bs.spls.de/

Fax +49 911 654-4271

German Order no. A19100-F-V057

English Order no. A19100-F-V057-X-7600

French Order no. A19100-F-V057-X-7700

Spanish Order no. A19100-F-V057-X-7800

Please include postal address and complete company unit 

designation (Org-ID) when ordering.

Also available:

Corporate Responsibility Report 2002

Copies of this Report may be ordered at the above address.

Employees may also place orders at the LZF order center:

German Order no. A19100-F-V092

English Order no. A19100-F-V092-X-7600

In addition to an Annual Report at the end of each fiscal year,

Siemens publishes interim reports with consolidated financial

statements on a quarterly basis. Conference calls with journal-

ists and analysts supplement these reports. Two major press

conferences – one at mid-year and one at year-end – as well

as an annual analyst conference give journalists and analysts

additional opportunities to review developments in our

businesses.

Siemens also submits regular reports to the U.S. Securities

and Exchange Commission (SEC). These reports – an SEC Form

20-F for the full year and an SEC Form 6-K for each of the first

three quarters – are available in English on the Internet at:

www.siemens.com/financial_reports. More compact than

the full-year report, Form 6-K nevertheless comprises manage-

ment’s discussion and analysis as well as the consolidated

financial statements (with notes) for the relevant quarter.

Information resources



     

Corporate structure

The positions held by Managing Board members are listed on page 142.

Operations 

Managing Board

Thomas Ganswindt 

Michael Kutschenreuter 
Andy W. Mattes
Anton Hendrik Schaaf

Information and Communication 
Networks (ICN)

Rudi Lamprecht

Joe Kaeser 
Lothar Pauly

Information and Communication
Mobile (ICM)

Paul A. Stodden

Jürgen Frischmuth 
Bernd Regendantz 

Siemens Business Services 
GmbH & Co. OHG (SBS)

Information and Communications

Helmut Gierse

Anton S. Huber
Alfred Ötsch 

Automation and Drives
(A&D)

Joergen Ole Haslestad 

Bernd Euler 
Joachim Möller 

Industrial Solutions and Services
(I&S)

Dietmar Straub, Dr. rer.nat. 

Peter Drexel, Dr.-Ing.E.h.
Alfred Frank
Pete James Metros

Siemens Dematic AG 
(SD)

Oskar K. Ronner

Hubert Ovenhausen 
Rolf Renz

Siemens Building Technologies AG
(SBT)

Automation and Control

Klaus Voges 

Andreas Kley
Norbert König
Randy H. Zwirn

Power Generation
(PG)

Heinrich Hiesinger, Dr.-Ing.  

Hans-Jürgen Schloß, Dr.-Ing.  

Power Transmission and
Distribution (PTD)

Power

Hans M. Schabert

Hans-Dieter Bott
Friedrich Smaxwil

Transportation Systems
(TS)

Wolfgang Dehen  

Klaus Egger, Dr.-Ing. 
Günter Hauptmann
Johann Löttner

Siemens VDO Automotive AG
(SV)

Transportation

Regional Offices, Regional Companies, Representative Offices, agencies

Regional organization
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Corporate Executive Committee

Heinrich v. Pierer,
Dr. jur. Dr.-Ing.E.h.
President and Chief 
Executive Officer

Head of CD
Special 
responsibilities:
CC, ECR

Volker Jung,
Dr.Eng.h.c. 

Special 
responsibilities:
ICN, ICM, SBS 
Africa, Middle East, 
C.I.S.

Edward G. Krubasik,
Prof. Dr. rer.nat.

Special 
responsibilities:
SD, SBT, TS, SV, CT

Heinz-Joachim 
Neubürger

Head of CF 
Special 
responsibilities: 
SFS, SRE

Peter Pribilla, Prof. 

Head of CP 
Special 
responsibility:
MCP

Jürgen Radomski

Special 
responsibilities:
Med, Osram, CIO, GPL 
Europe

Uriel J. Sharef,
Dr. rer.pol. 

Special 
responsibilities:
PG, PTD 
The Americas



     

Financing and Real Estate Corporate Departments Corporate Centers

Erich R. Reinhardt, Prof. Dr.-Ing.  

Hermann Requardt, Dr.phil.nat. 
Götz Steinhardt

Medical Solutions
(Med)

Medical

Wolf-Dieter Bopst, Dr.oec.publ.  

Jörg Schaefer, Dr.-Ing.  
Thomas Seeberg, Dr. rer.pol.   

Osram GmbH

Lighting

Herbert Lohneiß, Dr. rer.nat. 

Siemens Financial Services GmbH 
(SFS)

Peter Niehaus, Prof. 

Jochen Scharpe, Dr. rer.pol.  

Siemens Real Estate
(SRE)

Heinz-Joachim Neubürger

Charles Herlinger
Karl Heinz Midunsky
Albrecht Schäfer, Dr. jur. 

Corporate Finance (CF)

Peter Pribilla, Prof. 

Günther G. Goth

Corporate Personnel (CP)

Claus Weyrich, 
Prof. Dr.phil. Dr.-Ing.E.h. 

Winfried Büttner, Prof. Dr.-Ing. 

Corporate Technology (CT)

Heinrich v. Pierer, Dr. jur. Dr.-Ing.E.h. 

Johannes Feldmayer 
Pamela Knapp
Volkhart P. Matthäus 

Corporate Development (CD)

Corporate Communications 
(CC)
Eberhard Posner, Dr. rer.oec. 

Corporate Information and
Operations (CIO)
Friedrich Fröschl, Dr. rer.nat.

Global Procurement and 
Logistics (GPL)
Erich Hautz, Dr. rer.comm.

Chief Economist /Corporate
Relations (ECR)
Bernd Stecher, Dr.sc.pol. 

Management Consulting
Personnel (MCP)
Karl-Heinz Sämann, Dr.-Ing. 

as of January 1,2003

Members of the Supervisory Board are

listed on page 140.

Klaus Wucherer, 
Prof. Dr.-Ing.  

Special 
responsibilities:
A&D, I&S 
Asia, Australia

Rudi Lamprecht

Head of ICM

Erich R. Reinhardt,
Prof. Dr.-Ing. 

Head of Med

Thomas Ganswindt

Head of ICN

Klaus Kleinfeld,
Dr. rer.pol. 

Head of 
Siemens Corp., USA

Claus Weyrich, 
Prof. Dr.phil. Dr.-Ing.E.h.

Head of CT



     

“Customer-oriented innovations,
sound financial management and
true global presence – these are the
pillars of our enterprise.”

Siemens Aktiengesellschaft Order no. A19100-F-V057-X-7600


